

# Role of complement in ALS: regulating peripheral immune cells in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse model of ALS

Haitao Wang

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of Queensland in 2015 School of Biomedical Sciences

#### <u>Abstract</u>

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a late-onset neurodegenerative disease. It is characterised by progressive loss of motor neurons and muscle atrophy. Recently, mounting evidence has suggested that complement, part of the innate immune system, is involved in the pathogenesis of ALS in both human patients and in animal models. Activation of complement in the central nervous system (CNS) has been well defined and has been proved to be critical to the death of motor neurons. However, less is known about the roles of complement in the skeletal muscle during the ALS disease progression.

The initial aim of this study was to examine the complement activation in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, a well-characterised ALS animal model. Expressions of major complement factors (C1qB, C3, factor B, C4, C5, C5aR1, and C3aR) and regulators (CD55, CD59) were determined, and shown to be significantly elevated in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> when compared to wide-type (WT) mice as disease progressed, suggesting that complement activation in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice is achieved through classical and possibly other complement cascades. In addition, expression levels of C5aR1 and C3aR, receptors for complement peptides C5a and C3a respectively, were also increased. Immunolocalisation studies shows that C5aR1 and C3aR are expressed on invading immune cells, CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophage and CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells, in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

The second aim of this study was to investigate the physiological roles of complement signalling in regulating immune cell migration in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Massive invasions of macrophage and helper T cell were observed in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice when compared to age-matched wild-type mice. These infiltrations were remarkably attenuated in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking either C5aR1 or C3aR. By contrast, there was significantly less immune cell invasion into soleus muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, but like for the tibialis anterior muscle, this invasion is significantly greater when compared to soleus muscles from age-matched wild-type mice, and attenuated in soleus muscle from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking either C5aR1 or C3aR. The soleus muscle, predominantly a slow-twitch muscle, is less vulnerable to denervation in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Taken together, these results indicate that C5a-C5aR1 and C3a-C3aR signalling regulates the migration of immune cells into the skeletal muscle during ALS disease progression, and the extent of immune cell influx is related to physiological

i

function of skeletal muscle.

In summary, I have shown activation of the complement system in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> ALS mouse model, suggesting a role of complement C5a-C5aR1 and C3a-C3aR signalling in recruiting immune cells into skeletal muscle during disease progression. As skeletal muscle is the prime target for ALS, these findings may promote skeletal muscle as a therapeutic target for effects of complement factors in ALS treatment.

#### **Declaration by author**

This thesis *is composed of my original work, and contains* no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly-authored works that I have included in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, survey design, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my research higher degree candidature and does not include a substantial part of work that has been submitted *to qualify for the award of any* other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that an electronic copy of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library and, subject to the policy and procedures of The University of Queensland, the thesis be made available for research and study in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 unless a period of embargo has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material. Where appropriate I have obtained copyright permission from the copyright holder to reproduce material in this thesis.

#### **Publications during candidature**

#### **Conference abstracts**

- 1. **Wang, H**, Woodruff, TM, and Noakes PG (2012). The role of complement in the progression of naturally occurring motoneuron cell death. *Brisbane Cell and Developmental Biology Meeting, Brisbane, Australia, Oct 2012*
- Wang, H, Lee, JD, Woodruff, TM, and Noakes PG (2014). Absence of C5a-C5aR1 signalling diminishes infiltration of peripheral immune cells in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. 25<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on ALS/MND, Brussels, Belgium, Dec 2014

### Publications included in the thesis

None.

#### Contributions by others to the thesis

I would like to thank Dr John D. Lee for his assistance with animal tissue collection and qPCR, WB and ELISA experiments (Chapter 3, 4, and 5). I would also like to acknowledge Dr Peter G. Noakes and Dr Trent M. Woodruff for their contributions in editing this thesis.

## Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to qualify for the award of another degree

None.

#### **Acknowledgements**

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisors A/Prof. Peter G. Noakes and A/Prof. Trent M. Woodruff for providing me the opportunity to study at the University of Queensland and pursue my dream of becoming a neuroscientist. I would like to thank Peter for the financial support to make this project possible, and his excellent guidance, caring, and patience throughout my training as a PhD student. I would also like to thank my supervisor Trent for his expert advice and encouragement throughout this difficult project.

I wish to express my appreciation to Dr. John D. Lee for his assistant with the project development and instruction on crucial laboratory techniques. I would also like to thank Dr. Shyuan T. Ngo for sharing her experience of becoming a successful neuroscientist with me, and helping me improving my presentation skills.

I would also like to acknowledge my committee members, Dr. Stephen Taylor and Dr. Nicolas Lavidis for their suggestions in general. My gratitude is also extended to all the members of the Noakes and Woodruff group, especially technicians Mary White and Maryam Shayegh, for their technical and moral support.

I would like to acknowledge the University of Queensland for providing me with the financial support (UQ International Scholarship).

Lastly, I would like to express gratitude to my immediate family. I would like to thank my mother and father for all of their love and encouragement through the years of my postgraduate studies overseas.

#### **Keywords**

complement, SOD, C5aR1, C3aR, macrophage, T cell, skeletal muscle, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, motor neuron disease

#### Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)

ANZSRC code: 110905 Peripheral Nervous System, 60% ANZSRC code: 110707 Innate Immunity, 20% ANZSRC code: 110704 Cellular Immunology, 20%

#### Fields of Research (FoR) Classification

FoR code: 1109 Neurosciences, 60% FoR code: 1107 Immunology, 40%

#### Table of contents

Chapter	1 Introduction	1
1.1	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis / Motor neuron disease	1
1.1.1	1 SOD1 mutations	2
1.2	Complement System	5
1.3	Complement activation pathways	6
1.3.	1 Classical pathway	7
1.3.2	2 Lectin pathway	7
1.3.3	3 Alternative pathway	7
1.3.4	4 Extrinsic protease pathway	8
1.5	Key effectors of complement	9
1.5.	1 The initiator of the classical pathway	9
1.5.2	2 The complement peptides1	0
1.5.3	3 The anaphylatoxin receptors1	1
1.6	Regulation of complement activation1	5
1.7	Complement activation within the CNS1	6
1.8	Complement activation in ALS1	7
1.9	Immune cells of peripheral nervous system1	7
1.9.	1 Schwann cell1	8
1.9.2	2 Macrophage1	8
1.9.3	3 T cell lymphocytes1	9
1.10	Immune cells in ALS mouse models2	0
1.11 N	Iuscle denervation in ALS mouse models2	1
Chapter	2 General Methodology2	9
2.1	Mice2	9
2.2	Immunohistochemistry3	0
2.3	Quantification of peripheral immune cells3	1
2.4	Real-time quantitative PCR3	1
2.5	Western blot analysis3	1
2.6	ELISA3	2
2.7	Statistical analysis3	2
Chapter	r 3 Expression of general complement components in the skeletal muscle	
of hSOE	D1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice	6

J. I	Intr	oduction3	6
3.2	Res	sults3	7
3.2	2.1	Up-regulation of major complement components in skeletal muscle of	
hS	SOD1	<sup>G93A</sup> mice3	7
3.2	2.2	Altered expression of complement regulators and receptors	8
3.3	Dis	cussion3	9
Chapt	er 4	Role of C5a-C5aR1 signalling in regulating the infiltration of immune	
cells i	n hS(	DD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice	0
4.1	Intr	oduction5	0
4.2	Res	sults5	1
4.2	2.1	Up-regulation of C5a ligand and its receptor C5aR1 in the skeletal	
m	uscle	of hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice5	1
4.2	2.2	Cellular localisation of C5aR1	2
4.2	2.3	hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 have a reduced number of macrophages	;
an	id he	per T cells when compared to hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease	
pr	ogres	ssion of ALS5	3
_			
4.3 I	Discu	ssion5	4
4.3 [ Chapt	Discu er 5	ssion5 Role of C3aR signalling in regulating the infiltration of immune cells in	4
4.3 [ Chapt hSOD	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup>	ssion5 Role of C3aR signalling in regulating the infiltration of immune cells in mice	4 7
4.3 [ Chapt hSOD 5.1	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr	ssion5 Role of C3aR signalling in regulating the infiltration of immune cells in mice	4 7 7
4.3 [ Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res	ssion	4 7 7 8
4.3 [ Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1	ssion	4 7 7 8 8
4.3 [ Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1 2.2	ssion	4 7 7 8 8
4.3 I Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1 2.2 2.3	ssion	4 7 7 8 8
4.3 I Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 3.2 3.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1 2.2 2.3 id hel	ssion	4 7 7 8 8
4.3 I Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 3.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1 2.2 2.3 id hel ogres	ssion	4 7 7 8 8 8 9
4.3 [ Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 3.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1 2.2 2.3 id hel ogres Dis	ssion	4 7 7 8 8 8 9 0
4.3 I Chapt hSOD 5.1 5.2 5.2 5.2 5.2 3.2 5.3 2.3 5.3 Chapt	Discu er 5 1 <sup>G93A</sup> Intr Res 2.1 2.2 2.3 id hel ogres Dis er 6	ssion	4 7 7 8 8 8 9 0 9

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Time course of clinical and neuropathological events in high copy number
transgenic hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice24
Figure 2. Activation pathways of complement25
Figure 3. Structure of C3a receptor27
Figure 4. Structure of C5a receptor 128
Figure 5. Expression of C1qB in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression44
Figure 6. Expression of factor B in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression45
Figure 7. Expression of C4 in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression46
Figure 8. Expression of C3 in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression47
Figure 9. Expression of CD55 in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression48
Figure 10. Expression of CD59a in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression49
Figure 11. Expression of C5a in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression60
Figure 12. Expression of C5aR1 in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression61
Figure 13. Protein expression of C5aR1 in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice at end-
stage
Figure 14. C5aR1 is not localised at neuromuscular junction or Schwann cells in
hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice63
Figure 15. C5aR1 is localised to macrophages and helper T cells in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice.
64
Figure 16. Quantification of macrophages in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and
hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1 <sup>-/-</sup> mice65
Figure 17. Quantification of helper T cells in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and
hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1 <sup>-/-</sup> mice66

Figure 18. Expression of C3aR in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease
progression74
Figure 19. C3aR is not localised at neuromuscular junction or Schwann cells in
hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> mice75
Figure 20. C3aR is localised to macrophages, but not helper T cells in hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup>
mice76
Figure 21. Quantification of macrophages in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and
hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR <sup>-/-</sup> mice77
Figure 22. Quantification of helper T cells in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> and
hSOD1 <sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR <sup>-/-</sup> mice78

List of Tables

Table 1. Different stages defined in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	34
Table 2. Taqman probes used for quantitative PCR	35

#### List of Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
ALS	amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
APC	antigen-presenting cell
BBB	blood-brain barrier
BNB	blood-nerve barrier
C1q	complement 1 subcomponent q
C1-INH	C1 inhibitor
C4BP	C4b-binding protein
Cdc42	cell division cycle 42
CNS	central nervous system
CR1	complement receptor type 1
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
DAF	decay-accelerating factor
DAG	diacylglycerol
DAPI	4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DC	dendritic cell
ERK	extracellular-signal regulated kinase
fALS	familial ALS
FUS	fused in sarcoma
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GPI	glycosylphosphatidylinositol
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
GRK	G-protein coupled receptor kinase
IGF	insulin-like growth factor
IL	interleukin
INF	interferon
IP3	inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
iTreg	inducible regulatory T cells
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAC	membrane attack complex
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase

MASP	MBL-associated serine protease
MBL	mannose-binding lectin
MCP	membrane cofactor protein
MCT-1	monocarboxylate transporter 1
MEK	MAPK/ERK kinase
MG	myasthenia gravis
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MIP	macrophage inflammatory protein
MND	motor neuron disease
MPS	mononuclear phagocytic system
NK	natural killer
NMJ	neuromuscular junction
nTreg	natural regulatory T cell
PCD	programmed cell death
PKC	phosphokinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
PLD	phospholipase D
PMN	polymorphonuclaer cell
PNS	peripheral nerve system
PTX	pertussis toxin
RAG2	recombination activating gene 2
ROS	reactive oxygen species
sALS	sporadic ALS
SC	Schwann cell
SLE	systemic lupus erythematous
SOD1	superoxide dismutase 1
SOL	soleus
ТА	tibialis anterior
TBST	tris-buffered saline tween
TCR	T cell receptor
TDP-43	TAR DNA-binding protein
TGF	transforming growth factor
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
Treg	regulatory T cell

UBQLN2	ubiquilin2
VCP	valosin-containing protein
WASP	Wiskot-Aldrich syndrome protein
WT	wild-type

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

#### 1.1 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis / Motor neuron disease

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), also known as Motor neuron disease (MND), is an idiopathic, fatal neurodegenerative disease of the human motor system (Kiernan et al., 2011). It was formally defined and identified for the first time by Jean-Martin Charcot in 1869 where degeneration and death of upper and lower motor neurons were observed (Cozzolino et al., 2008).

ALS is characterised by progressive muscular paralysis reflecting degeneration of motor neurones in the primary motor cortex, brainstem and spinal cord (Wijesekera and Leigh, 2009). "Amyotrophic" refers to muscle atrophy, weakness and visible fasciculation that reflect the degeneration of the corresponding lower motor neurons. "Lateral sclerosis" refers to hardening of the anterior and lateral corticospinal tracts where motor neurons are degenerating and replaced by gliosis (Rowland and Shneider, 2001, Wijesekera and Leigh, 2009). The clinical course of ALS is progressive. About 50% of patients die within 30 months and 15-20% survive between 5-10 years of symptom onset (Talbot, 2009). The most common cause of death among ALS patients is respiratory failure that results from progressive weakening of the respiratory muscles (Kiernan et al., 2011).

The incidence of ALS in Europe is estimated to be 2-3 cases per 100,000 person-years, and the overall lifetime risk of ALS is 1:350 for men and 1:400 for woman (Uenal et al., 2014, Johnston et al., 2006). Even though ALS affects people worldwide, an exact incidence of this disease remains unknown. The age of onset for ALS varies between 45-65 years with a median age of onset of 50 years (Cozzolino et al., 2008, Wijesekera and Leigh, 2009). Only 5% of patients have an onset before the age of 30 years, although

cases of juvenile sporadic onset have been increasingly noted (Haverkamp et al., 1995, Gouveia and De Carvalho, 2007).

Several factors contributing to the pathogenesis of the ALS have been proposed, including excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, defective axonal transport, neurofilament aggregation, abnormal protein aggregation, altered neuron hyperexcitability and genetic factors (Shaw and Ince, 1997, Wood et al., 2003, Manfredi and Xu, 2005, Lin and Schlaepfer, 2006, Pieri et al., 2009, Barber and Shaw, 2010, Bilsland et al., 2010, Chen et al., 2013). The vast majority (90-95%) of ALS cases are sporadic (sporadic ALS, sALS), while the remaining ALS cases are inherited (familial ALS, fALS).

To date, more than 20 genes including superoxide dismutase 1 (*SOD1*), TAR DNA-binding protein (*TDP-43*), fused in sarcoma (*FUS*), Ubiquilin2 (*UBQLN2*), *C9ORF72*, and Valosin-contaning protein (*VCP*) are found associated with fALS (Rosen et al., 1993, Sreedharan et al., 2008, Vance et al., 2009, Johnson et al., 2010, DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011, Deng et al., 2011). Among them, mutations in SOD1 account for 20% of familial ALS and 5% of sALS (Rosen et al., 1993). More than 130 different SOD1 mutations have been reported in ALS patients (Andersen, 2006).

#### 1.1.1 SOD1 mutations

The discovery of disease-associated mutations in the SOD1 gene in 1993 was one of the most important breakthroughs in ALS research (Rosen et al., 1993). SOD1 is a homodimer of a ubiquitous 153-amino-acid cytosolic metalloenzyme with a catalytic copper ion and a stabilizing zinc ion in each subunit. It is expressed in all cells and widely distributed in the cytoplasm, nucleus, lysosomes and intermembrane space of mitochondria (Liu et al., 2004, Pasinelli et al., 2004). The SOD1 gene is composed of five exons separated by four introns. The main known function of SOD1 is to provide defence against oxygen toxicity by catalysing the reduction of dangerous superoxide radicals to  $O_2$  and  $H_2O_2$  (Chen et al., 2013).

In the central nervous system (CNS), SOD1 accounts for about 1% of total brain protein. In addition, motor neurons generally possess a much higher content of SOD1 protein compared to other cells in the nervous system (Shaw and Eggett, 2000). The mechanism underlying the nature of the mutation in the SOD1 gene still remains unclear. Increasing

evidence indicates that the motor neuron damaging effects from SOD1 is induced through several pathways, including protein misfolding and aggregation, oxidative stress and cytoskeletal abnormalities. Protein misfolding and aggregation are prominent features of ALS. SOD1 inclusions have been demonstrated in lower motor neurons of fALS patients, mutant SOD1 mouse models, and in cultured COS cells or motor neurons expressing mutant SOD1. Mitochondria abnormalities caused by mutant SOD1 inclusion formation are also an early event pathogenesis in SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice. The abnormal accumulation of intermediate filaments (IF) proteins in the axons of motor neurons is one of the universal pathological features of ALS. In particular, the aggregation of abnormal neurofilaments (NF), the major type of IFs in adult motor neurons, is a common pathological hallmark in fALS patients, due to SOD1 mutations and in mutant SOD1 mouse models, suggesting that NFs may act as toxic intermediates in the disease (Shaw, 2005). Given the complexity of SOD1-related ALS, it is hard to determine the primary or secondary causes, but it is likely that pathogenesis results from a complex interplay between protein misfolding and cellular stress.

Besides motor neurons, expression of mutant SOD1 in non-neuronal cells also contributes ALS disease and motor neuron death. For instance, astrocytes, the major type of glia in the CNS, expressing mutant SOD1 can actively decrease motor neuron survival by secreting neurotoxic factors (Nagai et al., 2007, Ferraiuolo et al., 2011, Haidet-Phillips et al., 2011, Phatnani et al., 2013). Meanwhile, astrocytes lose some of their neuro-supportive functions during the disease progression, and ultimately undergo degeneration themselves (Rossi et al., 2008, Martorana et al., 2012). Expression of mutant SOD1 on microglia, the surveillance immune cells in CNS, also accelerates the disease progression (Boillee et al., 2006). In addition, oligodendroglia, also affects motor neuron survival. Oligodendroglia expresses monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1), which is crucial in providing motor neurons with metabolic support. Reduced expression level of MCT1 was found in mutant SOD1 transgenic mice, suggesting that impaired oligodendroglia metabolic support to neurons contributes to ALS pathogenesis (Lee et al., 2012b, Philips et al., 2013). Taken together, these findings implicate that glial cells carrying mutant SOD1 are involved in the pathogenesis of ALS by triggering motor neuron degeneration.

ALS is classically regarded as a "neurocentric" disease that causes the progressive loss of upper and lower motor neurons followed by axonal degeneration and muscle atrophy

(Strong and Rosenfeld, 2003). In recent years, the "dying-back" hypothesis has drawn much attention in which pathological changes in motor axons and nerve terminals appear to precede motor neuron degeneration and the onset of clinical symptoms (Fischer et al., 2004, Xie et al., 2005, Parkhouse et al., 2008, Sotelo-Silveira et al., 2009, Carrasco et al., 2010). In the SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse, quantitative analysis demonstrated denervation at neuromuscular junction (NMJ) by 47 days of age, followed by severe loss of motor axons from the ventral root between days 47 and 80 days, and loss of motor neuron cell bodies from the lumbar spinal cord after day 80. This pattern suggests that motor neuron disease in the SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse is actually a "dying-back" motor neuropathy where distal axonal degeneration occurs early during the disease, before neuronal degeneration, and onset of symptoms (Fischer et al., 2004). Neuropathological analysis of a 58-year-old patient with sporadic ALS who died unexpectedly also showed a "dying-back" phenomenon where denervation and innervation changes at the muscle were observed while pathological changes in the motor neuron itself were not detected (Fischer et al., 2004). In addition, selective loss of motor units in most forceful fast-twitch muscle fibres was observed prior to the onset of symptoms in the SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse, implicating that motor neurons innervating the slower muscle fibres are more resistant than those innervating the faster ones (Frey et al., 2000, Schaefer et al., 2005, Hegedus et al., 2007, Hegedus et al., 2008). These findings support the idea that neuromuscular denervation and symptom appearance in ALS can occur regardless of motor neuron survival, suggesting that alternations elsewhere, for instance in skeletal muscle, muscle satellite cells or terminal Schwann cells were able to influence the integrity of axons, thus challenging the "neurocentric" view of ALS (Pansarasa et al., 2014).

Many strains of transgenic murine ALS models with human SOD1 mutations have been generated, particularly the SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mutation in which amino acid glycine in position 93 is substituted by alanine, to investigate the disease pathogenesis (Gurney et al., 1994). The SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse model displays an onset of clinical symptoms with the development of tremor and hindlimb weakness detected by locomotor deficits at ~90 days, progressing to paralysis and premature death at ~120-140 days (Gurney et al., 1994).

One of the earliest pathological events is the degeneration of neuromuscular junctions at  $\sim$ 47 days of age. This degeneration appears to be selective for neuromuscular junctions supplied by fast-fatigable motor neurons (Fischer et al., 2004, Pun et al., 2006). These

neurons are large motor neurons, which have a higher metabolic load as they are more excitable (e.g. capable for generating high frequency action potentials), and thus are more vulnerable to cellular stress (e.g. greater levels of reactive oxygen species [ROS]), when compared to smaller motor neurons that are less excitable and which innervate slow-twitch muscle fibres (Frey et al., 2000, Pun et al., 2006, Hegedus et al., 2007). This might explain why denervation of fast-twitch muscles occurs before denervation of slow-twitch muscle fibres. By 80 days postnatal, proximal motor axon loss is prominent, coinciding with motor impairment, and followed by a drastic 50% loss of lower motor neurons at 100 days (Fischer et al., 2004). Pathological features such as vacuolization of mitochondria, fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and astrogliosis and microgliosis in the spinal cord are observed at early postnatal ages. As the transgenic SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice develop a disease strikingly similar to ALS, including selective loss of upper and lower motor neurons, paralysis and significant loss of muscle mass, they are extensively used as models to probe ALS (Mourelatos et al., 1996, Hall et al., 1998, Bendotti et al., 2001, Saxena et al., 2009) (Figure 1).

The standard hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mouse model harbours 25 copies of the mutant human SOD1 gene (Gurney, 1997). The onset of symptoms and survival of SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice are directly related to the copy number of the mutant transgene. Lower copy number of the hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgene results in a prolonged asymptomatic phase and protracted survival in these mice (Henriques et al., 2010, Acevedo-Arozena et al., 2011, Deitch et al., 2014). As the development of disease is delayed, SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> low-copy transgenic mice may more closely mimic human pathophysiology, making it a more appropriate model for studying early-stage pathogenesis of human ALS and benefits the development of early-stage preventive strategies.

#### 1.2 Complement System

The innate immune system, also known as the non-specific immune system, plays a vital role in the inflammatory response to infection through the activity of receptors that are capable of recognizing defined molecular patterns present in a variety of microorganisms. The complement system is an essential part of the innate immune system and is able to discriminate and eliminate invading pathogens (Friec and Kemper, 2009).

The Belgium immunologist Jules Bordet described complement for the first time in the 1890s as a heat-labile substance that 'complements' the heat-stable fraction of normal blood serum to realise the anti-bacterial function of an antibody (Lachmann, 2006). We now know that the complement system consists of more than 40 soluble factors, cellular receptors, and regulatory molecules present in blood plasma and on cell surfaces (Walport, 2001). The main biological function of complement is to recognise and eliminate the 'foreign' microorganisms. Complement proteins collaborate as a cascade to opsonise pathogens and trigger a series of inflammatory responses modulating the activity of T- and B- cells to fight infection and maintain homeostasis (Merle et al., 2015). The complement system also bridges the innate and adaptive immune system, destroys host components such as apoptotic and necrotic cells and disrupts protein assemblies (Morgan et al., 2005). Four distinct pathways, including classical, lectin, alternative and extrinsic, can initiate the complement system, depending on the context. Each of the pathways leads to a common terminal pathway. These pathways are reviewed in the following sections, along with the major complement factors and regulators.

#### 1.3 Complement activation pathways

Activation of complement is known to occur through three pathways – the classical, alternative and lectin pathways. All three pathways result in the cleavage of C3, the most abundant complement protein, followed by generation of complement peptide C3a and C5a, and the C5b-9 membrane-attack complex (MAC), which creates a pore that disrupts cell homeostasis and eventually leads to lysis (Ramaglia and Baas, 2009)(Figure 2). Recently, a new complement pathway – the extrinsic protease pathway was discovered. Unlike the three pathways previously described whose activation relies on the generation of C3, the extrinsic protease pathway generates C5a in the absence of C3 (Huber-Lang et al., 2006)(Figure 2).

Complement factors can opsonise bacteria for enhanced phagocytosis. They can recruit and activate various cells including polymorphonuclear cells (PMNs) and macrophages. Complement is also involved in regulation of antibody responses and it can aid in the clearance of immune complexes and apoptotic cells. Furthermore, complement can have a detrimental effect for the host, it can contribute to inflammation and tissue damage and can trigger anaphylaxis (Walport, 2001).

#### 1.3.1 Classical pathway

The classical pathway, or antibody dependent pathway, was the first complement pathway discovered. It is initiated by binding of the C1 complex (composed of C1q, C1r and C1s) to the complement-fixing antibodies (IgG1 and IgM) attached to the antigen on the target surface. Upon the binding of C1q to antigen-antibody complexes, C1r and C1s are subsequently activated which in turn cleave C4 and C2. C4 is cleaved into two fragments, C4a and C4b. The larger C4b molecule contains an exposed active thioester bond allowing it to attach to a variety of target surfaces and act as an opsonin. Activated C1 cleaves C2 into C2a and C2b, and C2b binds to C4b on the cell surface, leading to the formation of the C3 convertase C4b2b (Ricklin et al., 2010, Wallis et al., 2010)(Figure 2).

The generation of the C3 convertase, which cleaves C3 into the anaphylatoxin C3a and the opsonin C3b, is the crucial point in complement activation where all complement pathways converge. The opsonic C3 fragment, C3b, either binds covalently to pathogenic surfaces, or to C4b in the C4b2b complex producing the C5 convertase (C4b2b3b), which cleaves C5 into C5b and the anaphylatoxin C5a. Once released, C5b interacts with C6, C7, C8 and multiple copies of C9 molecules ranging from 1 to 18 to form the MAC complex, resulting in ion flux and eventually lysis of target cells (Xiong et al., 2003, Carroll and Sim, 2011)(Figure 2).

#### 1.3.2 Lectin pathway

The lectin pathway of complement is initiated by the binding of mannose-binding lectin (MBL) or ficolins to carbohydrate groups on bacterial cells surfaces. MBL belongs to the collectin protein family as it contains a collagen-like domain while ficolins consist of a collagen-like stem structure (Holmskov et al., 2003). Both MBL and ficolins are pathogen-recognizing proteins, which form complexes with the MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs). MASPs are regarded as homologous to C1r and C1s molecules of the classical complement pathway Activated MASP-1 and MASP-2 cleave C4 and C2, leading to the formation of the lectin pathway C3 and C5 convertases, C4b2b and C4b2bC3b, respectively (Thiel et al., 2000).

#### 1.3.3 Alternative pathway

Activation of the alternative pathway can be triggered by almost any foreign substances, including lipopolysaccharide (LPS), yeast, virus, and necrotic cells (Guo and Ward, 2005).

Additionally, in contrast to the classical and lectin pathways, the alternative pathway is capable of auto-activation through the spontaneous conversion of C3 to C3b termed 'tick-over' (Thurman and Holers, 2006). Spontaneous hydrolysis of the unstable thioester bond in C3 continually generates the C3b-like protein C3(H<sub>2</sub>O). This configuration change in C3 allows the binding of factor B to C3(H<sub>2</sub>O), followed by the cleavage of factor B by factor D into Ba and Bb. When the Ba fragment is released, the active serine protease Bb remains associated with the C3(H<sub>2</sub>O) complex, forming the alternative pathway fluid-phase C3 convertase C3(H<sub>2</sub>O)Bb. C3(H<sub>2</sub>O)Bb further cleaves plasma C3 into C3a and C3b (Pangburn and Muller-Eberhard, 1983, Thurman and Holers, 2006, Bexborn et al., 2008).

The initiating component of the alternative pathway is the C3b deposited on cell surfaces. C3b generated from the spontaneous cleavage of C3 randomly binds to protein and carbohydrates expressed on cell surfaces, forming a C3bB complex upon interacting with factor B in an Mg<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner. Factor D then cleaves the bound factor B in the surface-associated C3bB complex, generating the alternative pathway surface-bound C3 convertase C3bBb. C3bBb is an unstable enzyme complex homologous to the classical pathway convertase C4b2b and decays spontaneously. The serum protein properdin, also known as factor P, binds to C3bBb and stabilises it through slowing down the dissociation of Bb from the enzyme complex (Hourcade, 2006, Bexborn et al., 2008).

Formation of C3 convertase allows for the cleavage of more C3, resulting in additional C3b production. In addition, activation of the classical and alternative pathways can provide C3b for the formation of the alterative pathway C3 convertase, which in turn amplifies further cleavage of C3 into C3a and C3b (Thurman and Holers, 2006). Amplification of C3b production results in an additional covalent binding of C3b to C3bBbP, forming the alternative pathway C5 convertase C3bBb3b (Ricklin et al., 2010).

#### **1.3.4 Extrinsic protease pathway**

Aside from the three established pathways, a fourth pathway of complement activation, the extrinsic pathway was identified resulting from the link between complement and coagulation pathways. The extrinsic pathway of coagulation was discovered in the 1980's (Ploplis et al., 1987). Proteolytic enzymes such as thrombin, plasmin, and kallikrein have long been known to be able to cleave and activate complement component C3 (Thoman et al., 1984, Markiewski et al., 2007). Thrombin was able to activate C5 in the C3 knockout

mouse in which C5 convertases cannot be produced (Huber-Lang et al., 2006). This route can bypass the traditional C3-dependent upstream pathways to initiate downstream pathway activation (Woodruff et al., 2010). *In vitro* studies have also shown that individual cells are capable of generating bioactive complement fragments. For instance, cultured cortical neurons can produce their own C5a, which exacerbates neuronal death under metabolic stress, suggesting that similar pathways may be active in dysfunctional motor neurons in ALS (Pavlovski et al., 2012).

In a recent study, Lobsiger et al. claimed that global complement activation does not affect disease progression in SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking in C1q or C3 (Lobsiger et al., 2013). One thing this study overlooked was that the "extrinsic pathway" of complement activation could bypass the traditional C3-dependent pathways and consequently alter the disease progression. In support of this theory, our lab has demonstrated that a selective C5aR1 receptor antagonist extended survival of the SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> rat, and a similar extended survival has been observed in SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 (Woodruff et al., 2008a, Woodruff et al., 2014). These findings suggest that extrinsic pathway, particularly at the downstream step of C5, may contribute to ALS pathogenesis.

#### **1.5** Key effectors of complement

The primary function of complement is to recognize invading microorganisms and promote their elimination through opsonisation of pathogens with C1q and C3b, followed by lysis via the membrane attack complex (MAC), C5b-9, the final product of the five terminal proteins C5, C6, C7, C8 and C9 (Carroll and Sim, 2011).

#### **1.5.1** The initiator of the classical pathway

C1q is the recognition component of the classical pathway, belonging to a family of soluble proteins categorised as defence collagens (Bohlson et al., 2007). It is a 460-kDa glycoprotein composed of six identical peripheral globular regions, each of which contains three distinct polypeptide chains (Reid, 1983). The non-collagen-like domain of C1q mediates the recognition of activators of C1, converting C1r and C1s into active serine proteases which in turn triggers the initiation of classical complement cascade (Tenner, 1998). C1q is synthesised by monocyte/macrophage, microglia and dendritic cells (DCs) (Korotzer et al., 1995, Kaul and Loos, 2001, Cortes-Hernandez et al., 2004, Reis et al., 2007). Deficiency of C1q is associated with excessive inflammation and autoimmunity,

leading to the development of systemic lupus erythematous (SLE) and glomerulonephritis (Botto et al., 1998, Botto and Walport, 2002). There is mounting evidence suggesting that C1q serves as a bridging molecule to facilitate the physiologic clearance of apoptotic cells by phagocytes (Ogden et al., 2001, Vandivier et al., 2002, Fraser et al., 2010). In addition, C1q functions as opsonin to promote the uptake of apoptotoic cells by phagocytes through interacting with complement receptors on the cell surface (Francis et al., 2003). Interestingly, recent studies demonstrate that C1q also plays a role in mediating synaptic pruning in CNS during development. In the developing brain, astrocytes induce the generation of C1q in neurons. Neuron and microglia-derived C1q tags weak or inappropriate synapses for removal via the activation of classical complement-tagged synapses are eliminated through phagocytosis by microglia (Stevens et al., 2007, Schafer and Stevens, 2010).

#### 1.5.2 The complement peptides

As complement activation products opsonise or lyse cells, complement can defend against pathogenic materials but also damage healthy host cells and tissues. The complement exerts its detrimental roles through the formation of anaphylatoxins, especially C3a and C5a (Guo and Ward, 2005).

Complement component C3a is a 77-amino-acid protein. It is cleaved from C3 by C3 convertase upon activation of the complement pathways. C3a mediates assorted immunoregulatory functions, including chemotaxis, smooth muscle contraction and increased vascular permeability (Stimler et al., 1983, Williams, 1983, Daffern et al., 1995, Legler et al., 1996). It performs these functions through binding to its C3aR, a seven transmembrane G protein-coupled receptor (Tornetta et al., 1997).

C5a, a serum protein of 74-amino-acid residues, is regarded as one of the most potent inflammatory peptides known. It carries out a broad spectrum of biological activities on different cells, including phagocytosis, degranulation,  $H_2O_2$  production, granule enzyme release, delay or enhancement of apoptosis, chemokine and cytokine productions and chemotaxis (Guo and Ward, 2005, Lee et al., 2008). The C-terminal arginine on C5a is removed by the plasma enzyme carboxypeptidases, forming C5a-des-Arg that has a 10-1000 times reduced potency compared with C5a (Lee et al., 2008). C5a exerts its effects

through two high affinity receptors, the C5aR1 (also known as CD88) and the C5aR2 (also known as C5L2/GRP77) (Huber-Lang et al., 2002).

C3a and C5a are powerful inflammatory molecules, especially C5a. These two anaphylatoxins are chemically and biologically similar. They share a striking 36% sequence similarity and both possess highly conserved C-terminal pentapeptide sequences that are essential for activation of their receptors (Klos et al., 2009). C3a contains four  $\alpha$ -helical cationic regions stabilised by three disulphide bonds while C5a contains an additional fifth helix at the C terminus (Nettesheim et al., 1988). These structural features make C3a, but not C5a, a highly potent antibacterial peptide as it induces breaks in bacterial membranes (Nordahl et al., 2004).

As potent inflammatory mediators, C3a and C5a can trigger contraction of smooth muscle, increase the permeability of small blood vessels, and induce vasodilation (Julia et al., 1998). C3a and C5a also promote oxidative bursts in macrophages, neutrophils, and eosinophils while inducing histamine release from basophils and mast cells (Kretzschmar et al., 1993, Murakami et al., 1993, el-Lati et al., 1994, Elsner et al., 1994a, Elsner et al., 1994b). In addition, C3a induces serotonin release from platelets and modulate synthesis of IL6 and TNF- $\alpha$  by B cells and monocytes while C5a regulates the production of eosinophil cationic protein and the adhesion to endothelial cells by eosinophils (Fukuoka and Hugli, 1988, Rivier et al., 1994, Fischer and Hugli, 1997, DiScipio et al., 1999, Fischer et al., 1999, Jagels et al., 2000). Both anaphylatoxins are chemoattractive for a wide range of immune cells, and this is particularly for C5a. C5a is a strong chemoattractant for basophils, macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells, and activated B and T cells (Lett-Brown and Leonard, 1977, Aksamit et al., 1981, Ehrengruber et al., 1994, Ottonello et al., 1999, Nataf et al., 1999). C3a on the other hand predominantly chemoattracts mast cells and eosinophils (Hartmann et al., 1997).

#### 1.5.3 The anaphylatoxin receptors

The anaphylatoxin receptors, which belong to the superfamily of G-protein coupled receptors, include the C3a receptor (C3aR) and C5a receptors, C5aR1 as well as C5aR2. Although these receptors share high sequence homology, they differ in ligand specificity, signal transduction capacity and function (Lee et al., 2001).

#### 1.5.3.1 C3aR

The C3aR is a G-protein coupled, seven-transmembrane segment protein. Compared to C5aR, it is unique with a reduced N-terminal domain and a remarkable large second extracellular loop of 172 amino acids between the fourth and fifth transmembrane domains, required for ligand binding (Gao et al., 2003) (Figure 3).

C3aR is found in a wide range of tissues, including lung, liver, kidney, brain, heart, muscle and testis (Hsu et al., 1997). It is predominantly expressed on the surface of myeloid-derived cells, such as neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, dendritic cells, microglia, and monocytes/macrophages (Klos et al., 1992, Daffern et al., 1995, Hartmann et al., 1997, Zwirner et al., 1998a, Gutzmer et al., 2004). In addition, non-myeloid cells including astrocytes, endothelial cells, epithelial cells and smooth muscle cells from asthma patients (Gasque et al., 1998, Ischenko et al., 1998, Monsinjon et al., 2003, Fregonese et al., 2005). C3aR is also expressed on B cells and activated T cells (Martin et al., 1997, Zwirner et al., 1999, Werfel et al., 2000). Moreover, recent studies have demonstrated up-regulated expression of C3aR on murine CD4<sup>+</sup> cells upon dendritic cells stimulation (Strainic et al., 2008).

C3aR mediates chemotaxis of eosinophils, mast cells, dendritic cells and monocytes, but not neutrophils (Daffern et al., 1995, Nilsson et al., 1996, Gutzmer et al., 2004). It also induces an oxidative burst in macrophages, neutrophils and eosinophils (Burg et al., 1996). Besides this, basophils and mast cells undergo degranulation and release histamine upon C3a-C3aR signalling (Bischoff et al., 1990, Venkatesha et al., 2005).

Upon C3a binding to its receptor C3aR, intracellular signal transduction is promoted via heterotrimeric guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding proteins (G proteins). C3aR mediates its effect on immune cells through coupling to the pertussis toxin (PTX)-sensitive and –insensitive G proteins,  $G_{\alpha i}$  and  $G_{\alpha 16}$ , respectively (Norgauer et al., 1993, Zwirner et al., 1997, Yang et al., 2001). In endothelial cells, C3aR also couples to insensitive G proteins  $G_{\alpha 12}$  and  $G_{\alpha 13}$  (Schraufstatter et al., 2002). The downstream pathway activates phosphoinositol-3-kinase gamma (PI3K- $\gamma$ ), which in turn activates phospholipase C (PLC)- $\beta$  and PLC- $\gamma$ . PLC is a multidomain phosphodiesterase that generates the second messenger inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG), which further leads to Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization and phosphokinase C (PKC) activation, respectively. PI3K can also

activate the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK)/extracellular-signal regulated kinase (ERK) 1/2 (Langkabel et al., 1999, Sayah et al., 2003, Venkatesha et al., 2005)

#### 1.5.3.2 C5aR1

The classic C5aR1 receptor is a 42-kDa membrane glycoprotein, belonging to the superfamily of G protein-coupled receptors with seven transmembrane segments (Leslie and Hansen, 2001). Murine C5aR1 displays an overall 65% sequence identity to its human counterpart (Gerard et al., 1992). For the interaction between C5a and C5aR1, a "two-site binding" model has been proposed. The first binding site is at the aspartate-rich acidic N terminus of C5aR1, which interacts with the basic core of C5a. The second binding site is between the agonistic C terminus of C5a and the transmembrane domains and charged residues at the base of the C5aR1 extracellular loops. Unlike the N-terminal binding site, the second binding site is indispensible for receptor activation (Mery and Boulay, 1993, DeMartino et al., 1994, Gerber et al., 2001). Current data suggests that at least three different discontinuous regions of C5a are involved in its interaction with C5aR1 (Huber-Lang et al., 2003). In spite of the fact that C5a was first considered as an anaphylatoxin and later as a leukocyte chemoattractant, the wide spread expression of C5aR1 implicated more general functionality (Figure 4).

Similar to C3aR, C5aR1 is expressed on various myeloid originated cells such as neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, dendritic cells and monocytes, as well as on non-myeloid cells, including epithelial cells, Kupffer cells, stellate cells, astrocytes and microglial cell (Chenoweth and Hugli, 1978, Chenoweth and Goodman, 1983, Gerard et al., 1989, Morelli et al., 1996, Werfel et al., 1997, Drouin et al., 2001, Koleva et al., 2002, Schlaf et al., 2004, Gasque et al., 1997).

C5aR1 is a potent chemoattractant for monocytes, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, B cells and T cells (Pieters et al., 1995, Webster et al., 1980, DiScipio et al., 1999, Lett-Brown and Leonard, 1977, Hartmann et al., 1997, Kupp et al., 1991, Nataf et al., 1999). It is also responsible for other biological events such as mast cell degranulation, oxidative burst in granulocytes, and secretion of proinflammatory mediators from monocytes, eosinophils and mast cells (Subramanian et al., 2011, Guo et al., 2003, Takafuji et al., 1994, Hartmann et al., 1997). Recent studies have shown up-regulation of C5aR1 in the CNS of murine hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic models, suggesting a pathogenic role

for C5a-C5aR1 signalling in ALS (Lee et al., 2013, Woodruff et al., 2008b, Woodruff et al., 2008a).

Signal transduction of C5aR1 depends on heterotrimeric G-proteins. C5aR1 mainly couples to the PTX-sensitive G protein  $G_{\alpha i2}$  in cells such as neutrophils and mast cells or, less frequently, to PTX-insensitive G protein  $G_{\alpha 16}/G_{\alpha 15}$  in cells of the hematopoietic lineage (Skokowa et al., 2005, Amatruda et al., 1993, Monk and Partridge, 1993, Davignon et al., 2000). C5a-C5aR1 interaction causes calcium fluxes from both intercellular compartments and extracellular medium. Phosphorylation of C5aR1 leads to association with β-arrestins 1 and 2 and subsequently targeting to clathrin-coated pits for internalization (Braun et al., 2003). Binding of arrestins depends on phosphorylation of the C terminus of C5aR1 by Gprotein coupled receptor kinases (GRKs). Apart from their function as kinase, GRKs can also interact with other elements of intracellular signalling including Akt, MAPK/ERK kinase (MEK) and PI3K-y (Ribas et al., 2007). It has been demonstrated that C5a-C5aR1 interaction leads to downstream activation of several components of different signalling pathways, such as PI3K-y, phospholipase C ß2 (PLC-ß2), phospholipase D (PLD) and MEK-1 (Perianayagam et al., 2002, la Sala et al., 2005, Mullmann et al., 1990, Buhl et al., 1994). Another binding partner of the C terminus of activated C5aR1 is Wiskot-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP). This interaction is strongly potentiated in the presence of active cell division cycle 42 (cdc42), a GTP binding protein that induces a conformational change of WASP to its active state. WASP is a multifunctional protein that regulates actin dynamics and therefore could be involved in the chemotactic response to C5a (Tardif et al., 2003).

#### 1.5.3.3 C5aR2

The second receptor for C5a, C5aR2, is a recently discovered seven-transmembrane segment protein expressed on granulocyte and immature dendritic cells (Ohno et al., 2000). Like C5aR1, C5aR2 contains the classical G-protein coupled receptor structure but is not coupled to intracellular G protein signalling pathways (Okinaga et al., 2003). C5aR2 shares 58% sequence identity with C5aR1 and 55% with C3aR in its conserved transmembrane regions (Lee et al., 2001). C5aR2 is expressed in various myeloid derived and non-myeloid cells. It seems to frequently co-express with C5aR1 in most cells and tissues (Gavrilyuk et al., 2005, Lee et al., 2001, Okinaga et al., 2003, Gao et al., 2005).

By contrast to C5aR1, C5aR2 appears to be a non-functional decoy receptor as no mobilization of intracellular calcium, extracellular signal-related kinase phosphorylation or receptor internalization was shown when it was treated with C5a (Okinaga et al., 2003). However, this view has been challenged where recent evidence showed that C5aR2 functions as an intracellular receptor triggered by C5aR1 activation, which acts to regulate C5aR1 signalling (Bamberg et al., 2010).

#### **1.6 Regulation of complement activation**

Complement is important for the elimination of invading pathogens, but it can also attack host cells when over-activated. Therefore, activation of the complement system must be tightly controlled. This delicate balance between activation and inhibition is achieved by complement regulators and inhibitors.

Complement regulators are divided into two forms, cell-surface regulators and fluid-phase regulators. In humans, there are four well-characterized cell-surface complement regulatory proteins, which protect human cells against autologous complement attack. Three of the regulators, decay-accelerating factor (DAF, CD55), membrane cofactor protein (MCP, CD46) and complement receptor type 1 (CR1, CD35) act as inhibitors of C3/C5 convertases while protectin (CD59) functions as an inhibitor of membrane attack complex (MAC). DAF inhibits the activation of C3 and C5 by binding to and dissociating C3/C5 convertase enzymes of both the classical and the alternative pathway (Lublin and Atkinson, 1989). MCP regulates C3 activation by acting as a cofactor protein for factor Imediated cleavage of C3b (Liszewski et al., 1991). CR1 possesses both DAF and MCP functions. It has decay-accelerating activity against both the classical and the alternative pathway C3/C5 convertase. It also acts as a cofactor for factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b and C4b, as well as for the cleavage of iC3b to C3c and C3dg. Additionally, CR1 is a major immune adherence receptor and plays a role in immune complex processing and clearance (Ahearn and Fearon, 1989). Lastly, CD59 prevents the assembly of the MAC at the final step of the complement activation cascade. By binding to C5b-8 complex, CD59 limits C9 incorporation and polymerization in the MAC (Miwa and Song, 2001).

Due to the rapid and self-amplifying activation tendencies, the complement system needs to be well controlled in the fluid-phase. This is achieved by a set of fluid-phase regulators such as C1 inhibitor (C1-INH), C4b-binding protein (C4BP), factor H, clusterin and

vitronectin. C1-INH prevents spontaneous activation of the complement system by inhibiting the C1r and C1s serine protease of the classical pathway, as well as MBL-associated serine protease (MASP) -1 and -2 of the lectin pathway (Davis et al., 2008). C4BP acts as an inhibitor of the classical pathway by preventing the formation of the classical C3 convertase. It also acts as a factor I cofactor for the cleavage of C4b, consequently inhibits the alternative pathway to some extent as well (Blom et al., 2004). Factor H binds to C3b, accelerates the disassociation of the alternative pathway C3-convertase (C3bBb) and acts as a cofactor for the factor I-mediated proteolytic inactivation of C3b (Józsi and Zipfel, 2008). Clusterin and vitronectin bind to the terminal complement complexses and prevents their incorporation into cell membranes (Schwarz et al., 2008, Preissner and Seiffert, 1998).

#### 1.7 Complement activation within the CNS

The CNS tissue is separated from plasma by the blood-brain barrier (BBB), a blood vessel network that forms tightly binding endothelial cells and perivascular astrocytes (Morgan and Gasque, 1996, Gasque et al., 2000). The BBB serves as a molecular sieve, which prevents infiltration of circulating immune cells such as B- and T- lymphocytes and restricts passage of plasma proteins into the brain parenchyma and cerebrospinal fluid (Abbott et al., 2010). The liver is the primary site of plasma complement protein synthesis. Though most of the complement proteins are unlikely to penetrate the intact BBB, local synthesis of complement components was found on astrocytes, microglia, neurons and oligodendrocytes (Barnum, 1995). The complement proteins produced by systemic immune cells may not reach the cerebral tissue when the BBB is intact; however, they could be found during CNS inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases (Morgan and Gasque, 1996, Gasque et al., 2000).

The roles of complement activation in the brain remain controversial. It can lead to cytolytic death of neurons and enhance a pro-inflammatory reaction contributing to the pathogenesis and progression of neurodegenerative disease (Shen et al., 1995). On the other hand, complement could also trigger brain tissue remodelling and repair by clearing toxic deposits, such as amyloid fibrils present in neurotic plaques in Alzheimer's disease (AD) or by enhancing the expression of growth factors involved in the early processes of regeneration (Stevens et al., 2007). Given the multiple functions of complement in CNS, it is suggested that complement may play a role in CNS homeostasis (Brennan et al., 2012).

#### **1.8 Complement activation in ALS**

Up-regulation of complement components was found in a number of neurodegenerative diseases, including ALS, AD and glaucoma (Rosen et al., 1993, Alexander et al., 2008). Transgenic hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> rats with end-stage disease showed a remarkable deposition of complement factor C3/C3b and significant up-regulation of the C5aR1 and C5L2 in the lumbar spinal cord (Woodruff et al., 2008a). In the mutant hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, elevated levels of complement factors (C1qB, C4, factor B, C3/C3b, C5 and C5aR1) and downregulation of complement regulators (CD55 and CD59a) were found during disease progression. Interestingly, increased microglial C5aR1 expression surrounding the regions of motor neuron death were shown in end-stage hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Lee et al., 2013). With chronic oral application of PMX205, a selective C5aR1 antagonist, transgenic SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> rats displayed reduced astroglial proliferation in the regions of motor neuron degeneration, resulting in enhanced survival times (Woodruff et al., 2008a). Moreover, C5aR1-deleted hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice showed a similarly significant extension in survival compared with SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> (Woodruff et al., 2014). Taken together, these findings suggest that complement system is over-activated in animal models of ALS and C5a-C5aR1 signalling contributes to the disease.

#### 1.9 Immune cells of peripheral nervous system

The peripheral nervous system (PNS) is part of the nervous system, which contains the nerves and ganglia that reside outside of the spinal cord and brain. The primary function of the PNS is to facilitate the complex movements and behaviours by connecting the central nervous system to the organs, limbs, and skin. The PNS can be divided into two parts, the somatic nervous system and the autonomic nervous system. The somatic nervous system contains motor axons that innervate skeletal muscles, while the autonomic nervous system consists of cells and axons that connect to smooth muscle, cardiac muscle and glands.

The peripheral nervous system has long been regarded as an immunologically privileged site. It is separated from the external environment by the blood-nerve barrier (BNB), a highly specialised unit that limits the entry of immune cells and soluble mediators (Kieseier et al., 2006). However, the restriction is not complete as cells or soluble factors can easily access the PNS at the root entry and exit zones and at the nerve terminals where no barrier exists. Activated T and B-lymphocytes constantly patrol throughout the PNS.

Antigen-presenting cells (APC), like macrophages, and Schwann cells also contribute to the local immune networks (Wekerle et al., 1986).

#### 1.9.1 Schwann cell

Schwann cell (SC), the primary glial cell of peripheral nervous system, is derived from neural crest cells located in the dorsal neural tube (Jessen and Mirsky, 2005). SC has critical roles in development, differentiation, physiological homoeostasis, myelination and nerve regeneration (Bunge, 1993). During the development of PNS, SC interacts with both the extracellular matrix and axons to form the myelin sheath that insulates axons and dramatically increases nerve conduction velocity (Balice-Gordon et al., 1998). In addition to myelinating Schwann cells, they can be further divided into three classes: nonmyelinating Schwann cell, the presynaptic Schwann cell and the satellite cell. By contrast to myelinating Schwann cells which envelops large-diameter axons, non-myelinating Schwann cells can surround the small-diameter axons (Griffin and Thompson, 2008). The presynaptic Schwann cells, also known as terminal Schwann cells, are found at neuromuscular junctions (NMJ). These play several active and essential roles in synaptic function, formation and maintenance of NMJs (Corfas et al., 2004). Following injury to mammalian peripheral nerves, presynaptic Schwann cells extend their processes guiding reinnervating axons to endplates (Son and Thompson, 1995). The satellite cells are associated with the neuronal cell bodies of ganglia (Hanani, 2005).

#### 1.9.2 Macrophage

Macrophages are phagocytes that were firstly identified by zoologist Metchnikoff in the late 19<sup>th</sup> century. They form the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS) along with monocytes and dendritic cells. The MPS, neutrophils and mast cells are considered as 'professional' phagocytic cells, which express a number of receptors on their surface detecting signals that are not normally presented in healthy tissues. For instance, scavenger receptors are responsible for binding apoptotic and necrotic cells, opsonized pathogen sand cell debris (Murray and Wynn, 2011).

Macrophages are located in all tissues throughout the body and perform important various immune surveillance roles, including phagocytosis, antigen presentation and immune responses. They can be categorized into subpopulations according to their anatomical location and functional phenotype, such as osteoclasts (bone), alveolar macorphages
(lung), histiocytes (interstitial connective tissue) and Kupffer cells (liver) (Murray and Wynn, 2011). Classification of macrophages depends on their distinct functions, including activated macrophages (M1 macrophages) and alternatively activated macrophages (M2 macrophages) (Mantovani et al., 2005). M1 macrophages activation is induced by interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  alone or in combination with Toll-like receptor ligands (e.g. lipopolysaccharide (LPS)) or cytokines (e.g. tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)), whereas interleukin (IL)-4 or IL-13 stimulates an alternative M2 fashion of macrophage activation (Mantovani et al., 2005).

In the peripheral nervous system, there are large amounts of resident macrophages located within the endoneurium of peripheral nerves (Griffin et al., 1993). When inflammation or injury occurs, a great number of hematogenous macrophages rapidly invade the nerve following PNS lesion. The recruitment of macrophages is mediated by chemokines, such as macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 $\alpha$  and transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ 1 (Zou et al., 1999, Kiefer et al., 1996). In addition, complement components, specifically anaphylatoxin C5a, can act as chemotactic agents to attract macrophages (Don et al., 2007).

# 1.9.3 T cell lymphocytes

T lymphocytes, also known as T cells, are one of the major lymphocyte populations in the immune system. T cells originate from the pluripotent hematopoietic stem cell population produced by bone marrow and they mature in the thymus. The thymus is the primary organ for T-lymphocyte development where T cells differentiate into helper, cytotoxic or regulatory T cells. The major function of T cells is to work with B cells, another type of lymphocyte that develop in bone marrow, to provide adaptive immunity. Unlike B cells, T cells cannot detect pathogens by themselves. They need the assistance of antigen-presenting cells (APC) like dendritic cells or macrophages, which engulf and digest pathogens becoming antigen fragments. These fragments are then presented on Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class II, a protein located on the surface of APCs, to activate the immune response of T cells (Janeway et al., 2011).

T cells are subdivided into several groups based on their lineage markers and functional activities. CD4 and CD8 are the major surface co-receptors that define two separate T cell lineages with different functions. CD4<sup>+</sup> cells recognize antigen in the context of MHC class

Il molecules and produce cytokines as effector helper T cells. CD8<sup>+</sup> cells are activated by antigenic peptides presented by MHC class I molecules and generate cytotoxic T cells (Broere et al., 2011).

Helper T cells and cytotoxic T cells are the two major classes of T cells. Helper T cells are the most common T cells, which make up over 75% of the T cell population. They perform their immune functions mainly through secreting cytokines, which assist B cells producing antibodies and recruiting phagocytic cells such as natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages to the site of infection. By contrast to helper T cells that indirectly exert their functions by communicating with other cells, cytotoxic T cells attack and destroy pathogens directly. Then are able to trigger the apoptosis, known as programmed cell death (PCD), in the targeted cells by releasing specialised lytic granules upon recognition of antigens on the surface or their targets (Janeway et al., 2011).

The other major subset of T cells is regulatory T cells (Tregs), which play pivotal roles in the development and maintenance of peripheral tolerance, modulation of immune response and prevention of autoimmune disease. The majority of Tregs appears within the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell population, and can be divided into naturally occurring (nTreg) and inducible (iTreg) subtypes. nTregs are derived from thymus and are characterized by constitutive expression of the  $\alpha$ -chain of the IL-2 receptor (CD25) and the transcription factor Foxp3, while iTregs arise from the naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the periphery (Broere et al., 2011).

# 1.10 Immune cells in ALS mouse models

A common feature of ALS and other neurodegenerative diseases is the occurrence of a neuroinflammatory reaction consisting of activated glial cells, mostly microglia and astrocytes. Microglia are considered as the resident macrophages of the CNS while astrocytes are the largest glial cell population within the brain (Kreutzberg, 1996, Dong and Benveniste, 2001). Activation of microglia and astrocytes were found in both patients and mouse models of ALS (McGeer and McGeer, 2002, Hall et al., 1998). In concert with CNS resident immune cells, the peripheral immune cells, and in particular T cells, play a pivotal role in ALS pathogenesis. Infiltrating T cells were found in spinal cord tissue of ALS patients and mouse models (Engelhardt et al., 1993, Kawamata et al., 1992, Alexianu et al., 2001). Recent studies have suggested a neuroprotective role of CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes in mutant SOD1 mice (Beers et al., 2008, Banerjee et al., 2008, Chiu et al., 2008).

Evidence shows impaired T cell immune function and diminished T cell proliferative capacity in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice as well as increased number of necrotic lymphocytes in the spleen (Banerjee et al., 2008).

When hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice were bred with functional T lymphocytes deficient or CD4+ T lymphocytes deficient mice (for instance, mice lacking recombination activating gene 2 (RAG2), hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x RAG2<sup>-/-</sup> mice; CD4 knockout, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x CD4<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and T cell receptor  $\beta$  chain (TCR) deficient, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x TCR $\beta^{-/-}$  mice), their motor neuron disease progression was accelerated and the survival length was shortened, and these mutant SOD1 mice displayed attenuated expression of morphological markers of microglia activation and microglial neurotropic factors such as IGF (insulin-like growth factor)-1 (Beers et al., 2008, Chiu et al., 2008). Interestingly, the adoptive T lymphocytes transfer from WT donor mice proved to be protective in a mutant SOD1 transgenic mouse model (Beers et al., 2008). The combined results indicate that T lymphocytes play an endogenous neuroprotective role in ALS by modulating the trophic/cytotoxic balance of glia.

# 1.11 Muscle denervation in ALS mouse models

Motoneuron death is a prominent feature of ALS. However, rescuing motor neurons from death has only a limited impact on the progression of disease and lifespan. It does not slow down muscle denervation in either SOD1 mouse models or humans (Fischer et al., 2004, Gould, 2006, Kostic et al., 1997, Sagot et al., 1995).

The skeletal muscle is one of the three types of muscle in the body, along with smooth and cardiac muscle. It represents the majority of muscle tissue, which makes up about 55% of individual body mass in most mammals (Zierath and Hawley, 2004). Skeletal muscle is composed of various muscle fibre types, which are distinguished by the distribution of different myosin heavy chian (MHC) isoforms. Generally, mammalian skeletal muscles consist of a "slow" myosin isoform (MHCI), and three "fast" myosin isoforms (MHCIIa, IId/x and IIb). Muscle fibres contain only one myosin isoform are regarded as pure fibres (type I with MHCI, type IIA with MHCIIa, type IID/X with MHCIId/x, and type IIB with MHCIIb). Fibres containing two myosin isoforms are referred as hybrid fibres, which can be subgrouped into: type IC (MHCI>MHCIIa); type IIC (MHCIIa>MHCI); type IIAD (MHCIIa>MHCIId); type IIDA (MHCIIa>MHCIIa); type IIDB (MHCIId>MHCIIb), and type

IIBD (MHCIIb>MHCIId) (Pette and Staron, 2000). Under normal conditions, human and other large mammals do not express MHCIIb. Interestingly, MHCIIx transcript are more abundant in type IIB fibres of human skeletal muscle (Smerdu et al., 1994).

In this project, tibialis anterior (TA) and soleus (SOL) muscles from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice and age-matched wild-type mice were used. Previous studies have shown that in C57BL6J mice, the fast-twitch tibialis anterior muscle consisted predominantly type IIB (59.68  $\pm$  9.95%) and type IIDB (33.83  $\pm$  15.85%) fibres while type IIAD, IID, IIA, I, and IC/IIC fibres were also observed. In the soleus muscle, the majority of muscle fibres are type I (37.42  $\pm$  8.20%) and type IIA (38.62  $\pm$  6.81%) where type I, IIA, IIAD and IID fibres were also seen (Augusto et al., 2004). However, several studies have termed the soleus muscle as a slow-twitch muscle as it is primarily composed of slow fibres (type I 58% vs type II 42%). Therefore, I defined the soleus muscle as a slow-twitch muscle in the present study (Barclay et al., 1993, Atkin et al., 2005, Hegedus et al., 2007).

Muscle fibres are dynamic structures and their phenotypes change in response to various conditions, such as altered neuromuscular activity, mechanical loading or unloading, different hormonal profiles, and aging (Pette and Staron, 2000). Animal models of ALS also demonstrated skeletal muscle fibre-type shifting during disease progression. In hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, tibialis anterior muscles showed a 65% decreased in the number of innervated IIB fibres and a 28% reduction in the number of IID/X fibres around the age of 50 days (P50) prior to disease onset, while the number of type IIA muscle fibres increased by nearly twofold. These alternations suggested a preferential loss of the most forceful motor units containing type IIB fibres in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse, as well as activity-dependent fibre type transition from fast fatigable fibres (FF = IIB) and fast fatigue intermediate fibres (FI = IID/X) to slower fatigue resistant (FR) type IIA fibres (Hegedus et al., 2007, Hegedus et al., 2008). On the other hand, the soleus muscle that is primarily composed of slow fibres showed no denervation at 30 days of age (P30) whereas tibialis anterior muscle denervation occurs demonstrated a 40% of denervation at the same age (Vinsant et al., 2013). These results suggest that muscle denervation occurs in a fast fibre preferential manner, which is attributed to the selective vulnerability of large motor neurons innervating fast-twitch fibres in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse model of ALS (Frey et al., 2000, Pun et al., 2006, Hegedus et al., 2007). This selective vulnerability of fast-twitch muscle (tibialis anterior) in ALS has also been confirmed by a separated study using

SOD1<sup>G93Adl</sup>, a low-copy mutant human *SOD1* mouse model that shows a slower course of disease (Acevedo-Arozena et al., 2011).



# Figure 1. Time course of clinical and neuropathological events in high copy number transgenic hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

Mice develop hindlimb tremor, weakeness and locomotor deficits at about 90 days which is preceded by distal synaptic and axonal degeneration. These symptoms are followed by fatal paralysis about 1 month later concomitant with spinal motor neuron loss and reactive gliosis (Figure adpated from (Turner and Talbot, 2008).



C5b-9 (membrane attack complex)

### Figure 2. Activation pathways of complement.

The complement system can be activated through four pathways: the classical, lectin, alternative and extrinsic protease pathways. The classical pathway is triggered by the recognition of an antigen-antibody complex by C1q. C1q binds to a target surface, activating C1r and C1s that in turn cleaves C2 and C4 to form the C3 convertase C4b2b. The lectin pathway can be initiated by binding of mannose-binding lectins (MBLs) to certain carbohydrates expressed on the pathogen surface. This activates the MBLassociated serine protease (MASP) 2, cleaving C4 and C2 to form the C3 convertase of C4b2b. The alternative pathway is activated by spontaneous low level hydrolysis of C3 generating C3(H<sub>2</sub>O) which forms a complex with factor B, allowing cleavage by factor D to generate the fluid-phase C3 convertase C3(H<sub>2</sub>O)Bb. This fluid phase enzyme cleaves C3 and deposits C3b on surfaces. Factor B then binds to surface-bound C3b to form C3bB which can be cleaved by factor D to form the surface-bound C3 convertase C3bBb. Regardless of the pathway involved, activation of the complement cascade leads to the cleavage of C3 and C5, forming the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a as well as the C5b fragment. C5b generation leads to the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC), a lipophilic complex that forms pores in the pathogen membrane, leading to cell lysis. A fourth pathway where C3 and C5 can be directly cleaved by proteolytic enzymes such as thrombin and kallikrein has been detected and named the 'extrinsic protease' pathway.

CD55 and CD59 are the main complement regulatory proteins. CD55 promotes the degradation of C3- and C5-convertases, while CD59 inhibits C5b-9 (membrane attack complex) formation by interfering the binding of C9 units to C5b-8 complex.



# Figure 3. Structure of C3a receptor.

C3aR has a seven transmembrane helices structure. It contains a unique reduced Nterminal domain and a remarkable large second extracellular loop between the fourth and fifth transmembrane domains, which is required for C3a binding (Figure adapted from (Klos et al., 2013))



# Figure 4. Structure of C5a receptor 1.

The seven transmembrane helices of C5aR1 contain different charged loop regions. The N-terminal extracellular domain of the receptor, and a secondary site, involving Glu199 and Arg206 of C5aR1, are involved in the interaction with C5a (Figure adapted from (Klos et al., 2013)).

# Chapter 2

# **General Methodology**

# 2.1 Mice

Transgenic hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice with high copy number (25 copies of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgene) were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA) and were bred on C57BL/6J background to generate hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice and litter matched wild-type (WT) control mice. These hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice carry a high copy number of the mutated allele of the human (h) SOD1 gene where glycine at codon 93 is replaced by alanine. Homozygous C5aR1 deficient mice (C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>) were kindly provided by Dr Wetsel and described previously (Hollmann et al., 2008).

To generate hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>) and C3aR (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup>), transgenic heterozygous hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> males were first cross-bred with C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> females to generate F1 progeny (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>+/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>+/-</sup>). hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>+/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>+/-</sup> males were cross bred with C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> females to obtain F2 progeny (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> females to obtain F2 progeny (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> females to obtain F2 progeny (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> and hSO<sup>-/-</sup> and hSO<sup>-/-</sup> and hSO<sup>-/-</sup> and hSO<sup>-/-</sup> and hSO<sup>-/-</sup> and hSO<sup></sup>

The disease of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were categorised into four stages, pre-symptomatic (P30), onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end stages (P175) according to the symptoms they display (Lee et al., 2013)(Table 1).

Female WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, WT × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>, WT × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice at onset, mid-symptomatic and end stages were employed in this study. All experimental procedures were approved by the University of Queensland Animal Ethics Committee (Permit Number 433-12), and complied ethical guidelines

regarding animal experimentation (Drummond, 2009). In addition, all procedures were conducted in accordance with the Queensland Government Animal Research Act 2001 and Protection Regulations (2002 and 2008), and conformed to the Australian Code for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes, 8<sup>th</sup> Edition (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2013).

# 2.2 Immunohistochemistry

Transverse cryosections (10 µm) from the tibialis anterior (TA) and soleus (SOL) muscles of WT and mutant hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were stained to localise the expression of C5aR1 and C3aR with specific cell-type markers for neuromuscular junctions (alpha-Bungaratoxin, 1:5000, Invitrogen/Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA), Schwann cells (rabbit S100, 1:1000, DAKO, Kyoto, Japan), macrophages (rat CD11b, 1:250, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), helper T cells (rat CD4, 1:250, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; rabbit CD4, 1:50, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO, USA), cytotoxic T cells (rat CD8, 1:250, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA. Cryosections were blocked in phosphate-bufferd saline (PBS) containing 2% normal goat serum (Sigma, USA) or 3% donkey serum (Sigma, USA), and 0.2% Triton X-100 (Sigma, USA) at room temperature for 35 minutes and incubated with primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight. After incubation, the sections were washed in PBS and then incubated with an appropriate secondary antibody at room temperature for 2 hours: Alexa 555 goat anti-rat (1:1000, Invitrogen/Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA), Alexa 488 goat anti-rat (1:600, Invitrogen/Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA), Alexa 488 goat anti-rabbit (1:600, Invitrogen/Life Technologies, Mulgrave, VIC, Australia), Alexa 488 donkey anti-goat (1:600, Invitrogen/Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and Alexa 594 donkey anti-rat (1:1000, Invitrogen/Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). All the primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in PBS with 2% bovine serum albumin and 0.2% Triton X-100. All sections were incubated with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Invitrogen/Life Technologies) for 10 minutes at room temperature prior to mounted with Prolong Gold Anti-Fade medium (Invitrogen, Life Technologies). Fluorescent signals were observed using a Zeiss LSM Meta 510 upright confocal microscope with a Plan-Apochromat 63× oil objective (Carl Zeiss Inc., Oberkochen, Germany)

# 2.3 Quantification of peripheral immune cells

Serial sections of TA and SOL muscles were stained for macrophages (CD11b) and helper T cells (CD4) in WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, WT × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>, WT×C3aR<sup>-/-</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice (10 sections spaced 100  $\mu$ m apart per animal, *n* = 3 mice/group). Five random regions (874 × 655 × 10  $\mu$ m) from each section were selected without any knowledge of the presence of positive cells by viewing only in DAPI channel. Each selected region was imaged with standardised settings and then saved. The numbers of fluorescently labelled cells in each section were counted at 20× magnification and expressed as cells/mm<sup>3</sup>.

Given that the CD11b positive cells may also mark other peripheral immune cells, I used CD8 (cytotoxic T cell) and Ly6B (neutrophil) antibodies to distinguish CD11b positive macrophages. As minimal number of CD8<sup>+</sup> or Ly6B<sup>+</sup> cells were detected in either tibialis anterior or soleus muscles from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> and wild-type mice (*data not shown*), the vast majority of CD11 positive cells shown in this study were macrophages (Christensen et al., 2001, Fink et al., 2014).

# 2.4 Real-time quantitative PCR

Total RNA was isolated from TA muscle of WT and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice using Rneasy Lipid Tissue extraction kit (QIAGEN Inc., Alameda, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The total RNA was purified using Turbo DNAse treatment (Ambio, Life Techonologies) then converted to cDNA by means of a reverse transcription kit (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Target genes of interest were amplified using commercial TaqMan probes (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies)(Table 2). Relative target gene expression to glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was determined using this formula:  $2^{-\Delta CT}$  where  $\Delta Ct =$ (Ct target gene – Ct GAPDH) (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Final measures are presented as relative levels of gene expression in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice compared with expression in WT controls. (*n* = 5 mice/group)

# 2.5 Western blot analysis

Muscle homogenates from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and WT mice at different disease stages were resolved on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Pall, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Membranes were blocked with 2.5% milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS)-

Tween (TBST) solution (containing 1× TBS and 0.1% Tween 20) for one hour at room temperature and were subsequently incubated with anti-C5aR1 antibody overnight at 4 °C (1:2,500 dilution in 5% BSA-TBST; BMA Biomedical, Augst, Switzerland). Membranes were washed with TBST 3 × 10 minutes and then incubated with the goat anti-chicken horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (1:15,000 dilution in TBST, GE Healthcare, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) for one hour at room temperature. After a final wash with TBST for 6 × 5 minutes, signals were detected using the ECL system (GE Healthcare Biosciences, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Blots were stripped and reprobed with anti-GAPDH (1:15,000; Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) and then detected with sheep anti-mouse HRP (1:4,000; GE Healthcare) as loading control. Semi-quantitative densitometric analysis of these immunoreactive bands was carried out to determine differences in C5aR1 expression levels between hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and WT samples at different disease stages as described previously (Abramoff et al., 2004). (*n* = 4 mice/group)

### 2.6 ELISA

96-well plates (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) were pre-coated with monoclonal rat anti-mouse C5a capture antibody (Clone I52 – 1486; BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA, USA) diluted in coating buffer ( $100\mu$ M, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>,  $34 \mu$ M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, pH 9.5) overnight at 4°C in a sealed humidified container. This capture antibody is specific for a neo-epitope exposed only in mouse C5a/C5a desArg and does not cross-react with C5 (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Following the plate being blocked for 1 hour at room temperature with assay diluent (10% Fetal Calf Serum/PBS), C5a standard and TA muscle homogenates was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. The plates were subsequently incubated with biotinylated rat anti-mouse C5a detection antibody (clone I52-278; BD Pharmingen) for 1 hour at room temperature. Tetramethylbenzidine (Sigma) substrate was used as the chromogen and the plate was read at 450nm. Levels of C5a in TA muscle samples were adjusted to micrograms per protein and expressed as nanograms of C5a per microgram of protein. (*n* = 6 mice/group)

### 2.7 Statistical analysis

All measures were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). For the results from quantitative real time PCR, western blotting, ELISA, statistical differences between hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and WT mice were analysed using two-tailed *t*-

test at each stage of disease progression. The statistical differences between WT,  $hSOD1^{G93A}$ , WT × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>,  $hSOD1^{G93A}$  × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup>, WT × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> and  $hSOD1^{G93A}$  × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice for peripheral immune cell numbers were analysed using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). All data are presented as mean ± SEM and differences were considered significant when  $P \le 0.05$ .

 Table 1. Different stages defined in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

Stage	Age	Phenotye
Pre-symptomatic	30 days postnatal	No signs of motor deficit
Onset	70 days postnatal	Initial signs of motor deficit (grip strength)
Mid-symptomatic	130 days postnatal	Weakness in hind-limb and tremor when suspended by the tail
End	150 to 175 days postnatal	Full paralysis of lower limbs and loss of righting reflex

Gene of interest	Catalogue number	
C1qB	Mm01179619_m1	
C3	Mm01232779_m1	
C3aR	Mm01184110_m1	
C4	Mm00437896_g1	
C5	Mm00439275_m1	
C5aR1	Mm00500292_s1	
CD55	Mm00438377_m1	
CD59a	Mm00483149_m1	
C9	Mm00442739_m1	
Factor B	Mm00433909_m1	
Mannose binding lectin 1	Mm00495413_m1	
Mannose binding lectin 2	Mm00487623_m1	

 Table 2. Taqman probes used for quantitative PCR

# Chapter 3

# Expression of general complement components in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice

# 3.1 Introduction

The complement system comprises numerous plasma and membrane-bound proteins which serve to recognize and destruct invading pathogenic microorganisms while preserving normal cells (Walport, 2001). In mammals, the liver is the primary site of production of the most complement components. Over the last few decades, studies have shown various complement proteins synthesized by astrocytes, microglia, and neurons in the central nervous system (CNS) (Bonifati and Kishore, 2007, van Beek et al., 2003, Thomas et al., 2000). Under normal conditions, local synthesis of complement components in the CNS is relatively low. However, when stimulated with inflammatory cytokines, glial and neuronal cells in the CNS can assemble a wide variety of complement components (Levi-Strauss and Mallat, 1987, Thomas et al., 2000).

It has long been suggested that complement is involved in demyelination, neurodegenerative disorders and other CNS pathologies (Morgan and Gasque, 1996). In the last two decades, the complement system has been implicated in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Significant deposition of C3 was first found in the spinal cord and motor cortex of ALS patients (Donnenfeld et al., 1984). In addition, increased C3c in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and increased serum C4 has been detected (Apostolski et al., 1991, Kawamata et al., 1992). Moreover, up-regulation of C1q, C4d, C2, C3c, C3dg, and Factor H has been seen in various tissues in ALS patients (Tsuboi and Yamada, 1994, Trbojevic-Cepe et al., 1998, Grewal et al., 1999, Jiang et al., 2005,

Goldknopf et al., 2006). A recent study conducted by our lab has also shown elevated levels of C5a and C5b-9 in the plasma of ALS patients (Mantovani et al., 2014).

In addition to the findings of increased complement component in ALS patients, overexpression of complement factors has been shown in animal models of ALS. In the transgenic SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, increased expression of C1q in ventral motor neurons from lumbar spinal cord was found using microarray analysis (Perrin et al., 2005). Another study demonstrated up-regulation of C1q in lumbar spinal cord motor neurons in two other mutant SOD animal models, SOD1<sup>G37R</sup> and SOD1<sup>G85R</sup> mice. Furthermore, expression of C1q protein was also found on motor neurons in these two SOD1 mutants (Lobsiger et al., 2007). Elevated C1q expression in SOD transgenic mice was further demonstrated by two other studies (Ferraiuolo et al., 2007, Fukada et al., 2007). Taken together, these results suggest that complement activation is involved in the disease progression of ALS mice models.

The role of complement activation in skeletal muscle during ALS pathogenesis has not been well studied. In mSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C4, decreased macrophage activation was observed. Since C4 is necessary for the activation of both the classical and lectin complement pathways, this result suggests that C4 deposition in skeletal muscle of ALS animal model may lead to the activation of downstream complement cascade and subsequent macrophage recruitment (Chiu et al., 2009). To further understand the role of complement plays in skeletal muscle, we quantified the expression levels of the major complement components in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice and compared to wild-type (WT) counterparts in this chapter.

### 3.2 Results

# 3.2.1 Up-regulation of major complement components in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice

Previous studies from our lab have shown up-regulation of major complement components in the lumbar spinal cord of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, however it is unclear whether the complement system is activated in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression (Lee et al., 2013). To investigate this, the mRNA levels of the key initiating components (classical pathway - C1qB; lectin pathway – MBL-1/2; alternative pathway - factor B), a central protein for both classical and lectin pathways (C4), the central

component of all complement cascades (C3), and the major unit of the membrane attack complex (C9) were measured using quantitative real-time PCR in the tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, respectively.

C1qB is the b chain of complement 1 subcomponent q (C1q). It reflects the expression level of C1q, the initiator of classical complement cascade. The results showed significant increase of C1qB transcripts by 2.1-fold and 6.5-fold at mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of disease in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice respectively when compared to wild-type mice (n = 5, \*p < 0.05; Figure 5). Factor B, an initiator of the alternative complement activation pathway, also demonstrated increased transcript levels by 1.7-fold, 2.3-fold and 7.7-fold at onset, mid-symptomatic and end-stage disease in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice when compared to age-matched wild-type mice (n = 5, \*p < 0.05; Figure 6). C4 illustrated similar changes to that of C1qB and factor B, where its mRNA expression levels increased by 2.2-fold, 3.3-fold and 17.1-fold at onset, mid-symptomatic and end-stage disease in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 5, \*p < 0.05; Figure 7). Examination of mRNA levels on mannose binding lectin 1 and mannose binding lectin 2, initiators of the lectin pathway, were also performed. However, the results showed undetectable levels of MBL-1/2 mRNA in tibialis anterior muscle of either hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> or wild-type mice (*data not shown*).

In addition, mRNA expression levels of C3 were also examined. C3 plays a central role in the activation of all complement pathways. C3 displayed a marked increase in mRNA levels by 1.8-fold and 5.6-fold increase at mid-symptomatic (P130) and at end-stage (P175) of disease respectively (n = 5, \*p < 0.05; Figure 8). In short, expression levels of initiator factor C1q, factor B, and C4, and central complement cascade component C3 were found significantly increased in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. These results suggest that activation of complement system in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice may contribute to the disease progression of ALS.

### 3.2.2 Altered expression of complement regulators and receptors

Decay-accelerating factor ([DAF], CD55) is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) linked membrane inhibitor of complement. It inhibits the activation of complement by interfering with the functional activity of C3 and C5 convertases in both the classical and alternative pathways. It is widely distributed on both vascular and non-vascular cell types (Lublin and Atkinson, 1989, Miwa and Song, 2001). Previous study from our laboratory has

demonstrated decreased expression of CD55 at both mRNA and protein levels in the spinal cord of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end-stage disease (Lee et al., 2013). Here we examined the expression of CD55 in the tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice and showed that its mRNA levels were significantly increased by 1.5-fold and 1.7-fold at onset and end-stage disease respectively when compared to age-matched wild-type mice (n = 5, \*p < 0.05; Figure 9).

CD59a is the primary regulator of membrane attack complex assembly in mouse (Baalasubramanian et al., 2004). The mRNA levels of CD59a altered in a similar fashion to that of CD55; namely a 1.3-fold and a 2.4-fold increase of its mRNA expression were observed at onset and end-stage disease respectively in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice when compared to wild-type controls (n = 5, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01; Figure 10). Besides the regulator CD59a, the major component of membrane attack complex C9 was also measured. However, undetectable mRNA expression levels of C9 were found in tibialis anterior muscle of either hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice or wild-type counterparts (*data not shown*). Taken together, these results suggest that the homeostasis of the complement system was disrupted in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

# 3.3 Discussion

It has been well documented that activation of complement cascade contributes to the disease progression of ALS in both human patients and rodent models (Lee et al., 2012a). In the hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice, previous studies by our group have demonstrated that complement factors, including C1qB, factor B, C4 and C3, were strongly up-regulated in the central nervous system (Lee et al., 2013). However, little is known about the complement activation in the skeletal muscle of ALS mouse models. Since skeletal muscle is a direct target of SOD1 mutation, in this study, I sought to investigate the expression of the major complement factors and its regulator in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Dobrowolny et al., 2008).

The present study has for the first time demonstrated the up-regulation of mRNA expression in C1qB, factor B, C4 and C3, the initiators and central components of complement cascades, in the tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression. It has been identified that the mRNA expression levels of C1qB, factor B, C4 and C3 were up-regulated in the spinal cord of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice throughout symptomatic

phases (Lee et al., 2013). Here I revealed that this up-regulation of complement factors is not restricted to the central nervous system, but also applies to skeletal muscle.

Skeletal muscle is an extremely complex and heterogeneous tissue composed of a spectrum of fibre types with different structure, molecular composition and functions. Recent evidence suggests that skeletal muscle is a primary target in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and a retrograde and progressive sequential pattern of degeneration has been proposed where hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mutation causes muscle atrophy, followed by fragmentation of their neuromuscular junction (NMJ), retrograde axonal degeneration and eventually motor neuron death (Dobrowolny et al., 2008, Dupuis and Loeffler, 2009, Zhou et al., 2010, Wong and Martin, 2010). In the present study, up-regulation of C1qB and C3 mRNA expressions was observed at mid-symptomatic (P130) age in tibialis anterior muscles. In addition, it has been previously shown that complement components C1q and C3b/iC3b are deposited at NMJ at pre-symptomatic (47 days), prior to the appearance of clinical symptoms, and remain detectable until mid-symptomatic (126 days) (Heurich et al., 2011). These findings implicate that activation of complement may contribute to the degenerations of distal axons in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression.

Besides C1qB and C3, factor B and C4 mRNAs transcripts were also significantly increased in the tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression, compared to wild-type controls. Factor B is a 93-kDa single peptide chain protein. It initiates the activation of alternative pathway by binding to the spontaneously hydrolysed C3. Upon activation, factor B is cleaved into the fragments Ba and Bb by factor D, generating C3 converatase C3bBb (Ricklin et al., 2010). C4 is a paralogous to C3 and C5, and shares up to 30% sequence identity with the two complement proteins. It is a central component in the classical and lectin pathways where its major fragment C4b plays an important role in mediating downstream complement activation (Mortensen et al., 2015). Significant up-regulations of both factor B and C4 mRNA levels were observed in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, suggesting that all of the three main activation pathways within the complement cascade were activated in ALS disease progression in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. In combination with previous findings, where complement activation was demonstrated in the spinal cord of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, the results of the present study suggest that global complement pathway activation is a common feature of ALS pathology in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and this activation is not restricted to CNS (Lee et al., 2013).

C1q acts as an opsonin in the immune system, marking apoptotic cells and debris for removal by phagocytosis. Recent evidence also suggests that C1q plays an active role in triggering developmental synapse elimination (Stevens et al., 2007, Chu et al., 2010, Stephan et al., 2012). In hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, up-regulation of C1qB mRNA level has been shown in the spinal cord tissue while protein expression of C1 has been found on motor neurons and microglia. These findings suggest that C1q might assist in the removal of dying motor neurons through opsonisation in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Lee et al., 2013). Combining the discovery of C1q deposition at the denervated NMJ from previous studies and the up-regulation of C1qB mRNA expression in tibialis anterior muscle shown by the present study, I postulate that C1q might drive the pruning of synapses at the denervated NMJ in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice in a similar manner as in the developmental synapse elimination, leading to synapse degeneration.

C3 is the central compartment of the complement cascade where three primary activation pathways converged. It has been demonstrated that C3 deposits in spinal cord of transgenic SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> murine models, and in spinal cord and motor cortex of ALS patients (Woodruff et al., 2008a, Lee et al., 2013, Donnenfeld et al., 1984). In the present study, significant increase in C3 mRNA levels were observed from mid-symptomatic (day 130) in the tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice compared with wild-type mice. This may suggest that activation of complement pathways is a universal feature, not restricted to the central nervous system but also occurs in skeletal muscle, during the disease progression in the hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. In addition to C3, deposition of C3b/iC3b, the active product of C3, has been found at the NMJ, promoting the opsonisation of those destructed NMJ by phagocytes (Heurich et al., 2011). Increased C3 mRNA expression in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice shown in this study supports this idea that complement facilitates the denervation of NMJ across ALS disease progression.

To investigate this up-regulation of complement in ALS affected muscles further, I examined the levels of complement regulators CD55 and CD59. CD55 inhibits the complement activation via suppressing the formation and promoting the catabolism of C3 and C5 convertases (Fujita et al., 1987). CD59 inhibits the formation of membrane attack complex by interfering the binding of C9 units to C5b-8 complex (Navenot et al., 1997).

Previous in vitro studies have shown that CD55 can protect neurons from degeneration

and apoptosis (Wang et al., 2010b). Decreased levels of CD55 mRNA and protein were observed in the spinal cord of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during later stages of disease (Heurich et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2013). By contrast, we showed a significant increase in mRNA level of CD55 in the tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end-stage (day 175) compared with wild-type mice. Since CD55 inhibits the generation of C3 convertase, increases in CD55 mRNA expression level may lead to reduced production of active fragment C3b/iC3b, which in turn ameliorates denervation of NMJ in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. This may indicate a negative feedback mechanism to slow down the activation of complement. However, a significant increase of C3 mRNA level was shown in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end-stage of disease as well. This finding gives rise to the question how is complement being activated in the absence of external pathogens in skeletal muscle?

It has been shown that mutant SOD1 toxicity can induce transcriptional up-regulation of C1q subunits (C1qA, C1qB and C1qC) in the motor neuron before the clinical symptoms, while restricted expression of mutant hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> on specific neurons is sufficient to induce motor neuron degeneration in mice (Lobsiger et al., 2007, Jaarsma et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2008). As a portion of mutant SOD1 may act from outside of the motor neurons (e.g. extracellular SOD), it is possible that the induced complement system recognizes the extracellular mutant SOD1 and marks the motor neuron for attack (Urushitani et al., 2006). These findings implicate mutant SOD1 toxicity in neurodegeneration via triggering activation of the complement system. Besides neuronal cells, mutant SOD1 is also expressed in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Significant elevation of oxidation, accompanied by substantial compensatory antioxidant enzyme up-regulation has been observed in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> in skeletal muscle showed that accumulation of oxidative stress served as a signalling molecule to trigger muscle atrophy (Dobrowolny et al., 2008).

It has been well established that complement activation plays an important role in mediating tissue injury after oxidative stress. The lectin pathway mediates activation and deposition of complement after endothelial oxidative stress in the context of ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury (Collard et al., 2000). Complement activation and deposition also takes place following skeletal muscle I/R. The lectin and/or classical

pathway were implicated in the complement activation during skeletal muscle I/R (Weiser et al., 1996, Toomayan et al., 2003). Collectively, these data suggest that oxidative stress within skeletal muscle caused by mutant SOD1 toxicity might trigger the activation and deposition of complement within skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

In the previous study from our laboratory, CD59 displayed decreased mRNA expression level in the spinal cord of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end-stage of disease (Lee et al., 2013). By contrast, the current study showed that CD59 mRNA expression was significantly increased in tibialis anterior muscle of end-stage hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. This overexpression of CD59 observed in muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice could be beneficial as it may prevent muscle damage subsequent to deposition of MAC (Goncalves et al., 2002).

One limitation of my results is that I only examined mRNA transcript expressions but not protein expressions of the above complement factors. Given that our laboratory's previous published work has shown that the up-regulation of these complement factor transcripts does correlate with up-regulation of their proteins in the spinal cords of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, it does support my general conclusion for an up-regulation of these members of complement in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Lee et al., 2013).

In summary, this research chapter has shown that complement is activated in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during ALS disease progression, and the activation of complement may be as a consequence of increased oxidative stress within muscle, triggered by mutant SOD1 toxicity.



Figure 5. Expression of C1qB in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of C1qB in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, Student t test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



Figure 6. Expression of factor B in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of factor B in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, Student t test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



Figure 7. Expression of C4 in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of C4 in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, Student *t* test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



Figure 8. Expression of C3 in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of C3 in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, Student *t* test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



Figure 9. Expression of CD55 in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of CD55 in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and  $hSOD1^{G93A}$  mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR three different ages. (*n* = 5; \**p* < 0.05, Student *t* test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



Figure 10. Expression of CD59a in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of CD59a in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and  $hSOD1^{G93A}$  mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR three different ages. (*n* = 5; \**p* < 0.05, \*\**p* < 0.01, Student *t* test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).

# Chapter 4

# Role of C5a-C5aR1 signalling in regulating the infiltration of immune cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice

# 4.1 Introduction

The C5 cleavage fragment C5a is the most potent complement peptide that recruits and activates immune cells, such as neutrophils, monocytes, eosinophils, and T lymphocytes. (Guo and Ward, 2005) Previous studies have demonstrated up-regulation of C5aR1, the major C5a receptor, in neurodegenerative states (Humayun et al., 2009, Woodruff et al., 2008a, Lee et al., 2013). Interestingly, our group has demonstrated the cellular localisation of C5aR1 to motor neurons and microglia in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Lee et al., 2013). Moreover, our group has shown that hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic rats treated with PMX205, a selective C5aR1 antagonist, displayed a significant extension of survival and improved motor function compared to untreated animals (Woodruff et al., 2008a, Woodruff et al., 2014). Taken together, these findings suggest that complement system is *over-activated and the disease progression is associated with* C5a-C5aR1 signalling in these animal models of ALS.

Since complement has been initiated in the skeletal muscle of ALS murine animal model (Chapter 3), and that C5a-C5aR1 signalling is activated in CNS, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the C5a-C5aR1 signalling may also be enhanced in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. C5a has been recognized as a potent chemoattractant for immune cells, elevated expression of its major receptor C5aR1 might also lead to increased

infiltration of immune cells in to skeletal muscle, and this immune cell invasion would differ in accordance to the level of muscle damage and muscle type (fast- or slow-twitch muscle) in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, during ALS progression. To investigate and test these ideas, in this chapter, the expression levels of C5 and its major receptor C5aR1 in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were examined. To further elucidate the function of C5a-C5aR1 signalling in the skeletal muscle during disease progression of ALS, the extent of immune cell infiltration, namely CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophages and CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells, was determined and compared in respect to the type of muscle in muscle.

### 4.2 Results

# 4.2.1 Up-regulation of C5a ligand and its receptor C5aR1 in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice

The downstream complement factor C5a, the ligand for C5aR1, can be rapidly generated in response to insult or injury in the CNS (Woodruff et al., 2011). In order to determine whether downstream complement factor C5a is also activated in skeletal muscle of ALS affected animal model in response to muscle destruction, protein expression levels of C5a were examined the in the tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice using ELISA. The results showed marked increases in C5a at onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of disease by 1.8-fold, 1.5-fold and 1.7-fold when compared with wild-type mice respectively (n = 6, \*p<0.05 and \*\*\*p<0.001; Figure 11). Previous studies have shown increases in C5aR1 expression in the CNS of multiple rodent models of ALS (Woodruff et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2013, Humayun et al., 2009). Given C5a expression has increased in the tibialis anterior muscle during ALS disease progression in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, I next examined the expression levels of its signalling receptor C5aR1 during these disease stages in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and compared to agematched wild-type controls.

The mRNA and protein expression levels for C5aR1 in the tibialis anterior muscle of wildtype and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were examined using quantitative real-time PCR and western blot, respectively. C5aR1 mRNA expression was significantly increased by 1.9-fold at midsymptomatic and by 4.6-fold at end-stage of disease respectively when compared to wildtype mice (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01; Figure 12). This change in mRNA expression was confirmed at protein level using western blot analysis, where a 45kDA C5aR1 immunoreactive band was observed in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice at end-stage of disease

(Figure 13A). Semi-quantitative analyses of these bands relative to GAPDH loading control showed increased C5aR1 protein levels in the tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice by 8.2-fold at end-stage of disease when compared to WT mice (n = 6, \*\* p < 0.01; Figure 13B).

Altogether, the results above support my hypothesis that downstream factors of complement cascade were activated in skeletal muscle of ALS animal model during disease progression. More importantly, C5a-C5aR1 signalling appeared to be activated in ALS-affected skeletal muscle, implicating an active role of C5a-C5aR1 signalling mediating ALS disease progression in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

### 4.2.2 Cellular localisation of C5aR1

I next investigated the cellular localisation of C5aR1 to see where C5a-C5aR1 signalling might exert its functions in skeletal muscle tissue during ALS disease progression. To achieve this, I performed immunohistochemistry for C5aR1 on tibialis anterior muscle from  $hSOD1^{G93A}$  and wild-type mice. Transverse sections of tibialis anterior muscles from end-stage animals were immuno-stained for C5aR1, along with specific cellular markers to identify neuromuscular junction ( $\alpha$ -Bungarotoxin), Schwann cells (anti-S100), macrophages (anti-CD11b) and helper T cells (anti-CD4).

I first examined the co-localisation of C5aR1 on neuromuscular junction (NMJ), the site of communication between motor nerve axons and muscle fibres, which undergoes destruction during ALS disease progression, and Schwann cell, the neuroglia at NMJ that guides synaptic homeostasis and repair. I demonstrated that in wild-type and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, C5aR1 was not present on either neuromuscular junction (yellow arrows in Figure 14A) or Schwann cells (yellow arrows in Figure 14B), suggesting that increased expression of C5a and its signalling receptor C5aR1 may be in response to gross changes within the muscle (e.g. increased oxidative stress levels within muscle fibres) during disease progression, rather than a focal response of NMJ damage.

Following this demonstration, I then examined whether peripheral immune cells, possibly migrating into tibialis anterior muscle via the chemoattraction function of C5a, were responsible for the increased expression of C5aR1 within this tissue. Two major populations of immune cells in skeletal muscle, macrophages and T lymphocytes, were

selected for investigation of C5aR1 localisation. I showed that C5aR1 was expressed predominantly on CD11b positive macrophages in both the wild-type and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (yellow arrows in Figure 15A) and some on CD4 positive helper T cells (yellow arrows in Figure 15B). Overall, the data suggest that C5a is not directly involved in the degeneration of NMJ, but acting as a strong chemoattractant by recruiting immune cells into skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, that are presumably displaying increased levels of damage due to the toxic effects of mutant SOD1 within muscle fibres.

# 4.2.3 hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 have a reduced number of macrophages and helper T cells when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression of ALS

Several studies have shown that the infiltration of macrophages and T cells in spinal cord of ALS patients may contribute to ALS pathology (Troost et al., 1989, Graves et al., 2004). Given that I showed a marked C5aR1 accumulation in infiltrating macrophages and helper T cells, attracted by C5a via its signalling receptor C5aR1, in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. I investigated whether absence of C5aR1 in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice would have any effect on the infiltration of peripheral macrophages and helper T cells in the tibialis anterior muscle. Transverse sections of tibialis anterior muscle from wild-type, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice at onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of disease progression were stained for markers of macrophages (anti-CD11b) and helper T cells (anti-CD4), and were quantified.

The number of macrophages in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice was significantly increased at onset, mid-symptomatic and end-stage of disease when compared to wild-type mice (n = 3, \*p < 0.05 and \*\*p < 0.01; Figure 16A). By contrast the number of macrophages in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 was significantly reduced at mid-symptomatic and end-stage of disease when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01 and \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 16A). Similar to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01 and \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 16A). Similar to macrophages, I showed that the number of helper T cells was significantly increased in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at all stages of disease when compared to agematched wild-type mice (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01 and \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 17A). Interestingly only at mid-symptomatic ALS disease stage there was a further increased in the number of helper T cells. This increase did not occur in the hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1, suggesting that the spike in helper T cell numbers at this stage is influenced by the

presence of C5aR1 (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01; Figure 17A). Taken together, these data confirmed my speculation that C5a-C5aR1 signalling mediates the infiltration of pre-immune cells, macrophages and T helper cells, into ALS affected skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and these infiltrations were largely attenuated in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1.

It has been demonstrated that fast-twitch muscle fibres are preferentially affected in ALS (Frey et al., 2000, Atkin et al., 2005, Pun et al., 2006). As massive invasions of immune cells were shown in tibialis anterior muscles that are vulnerable in ALS, this raises the question of the extent of immune cells invasions into muscles that are less vulnerable in ALS, like slow-twitch soleus muscles. To address this, I next examined the number of macrophages and T helper cells in the soleus muscles from wild-type, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice at onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of ALS disease progression. The number of macrophages in soleus muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice significantly increased at mid-symptomatic and end-stage of disease when compared to WT mice (n = 3, \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 16B). By contrast there was a significant decrease in the number of macrophages in the soleus muscles of hSOD1 G93A mice lacking C5aR1 (n = 3, \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 16B). Interestingly, the number of macrophages in soleus muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice was much lower than the number of macrophages in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, which supports other studies that showed fast-twitch muscles are preferentially affected in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice when compared to slow-twitch muscles (Figure 16) (Frey et al., 2000, Atkin et al., 2005). This idea was also supported by the quantification of T helper cells, where no significant differences of T helper cell numbers were observed in soleus muscles across wild-type, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice during ALS disease progression, but the numbers of T helper cells in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> muscles were markedly higher than their counterparts in soleus muscles (Figure 17). To summarise, these results demonstrated that immune cells invade skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice in a muscle type-dependent manner, where fast-twitch muscles were more vulnerable to immune cell infiltration, compared to the slow-twitch soleus muscle.

# 4.3 Discussion

Among the complement factors, C5a is one of the most potent complement peptide with a range of functions (Guo and Ward, 2005). C5a exerts its effects through its two receptors, C5aR1 and C5aR2 (Sarma and Ward, 2012). Previous studies have demonstrated up-
regulation of C5aR1 within the CNS of SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> rodents, suggesting that C5a-C5aR1 signalling plays a role in the pathology of ALS (Woodruff et al., 2008a, Lee et al., 2013). In the present study, the expression of C5aR1 in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> TA muscle was elevated at both mRNA and protein levels. In addition to C5aR1, its ligand C5a also showed increased protein expression. These results demonstrated that downstream complement effectors, in particular C5a and its signalling receptor C5aR1, may be actively involved in the disease progression of ALS through both CNS and skeletal muscle. As C5a is a potent chemotactic agent regulating migration of immune cells, I examined the cellular localisation of C5aR1, the receptor which C5a exert its functions through, and quantified the number of immune cells, in particular CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophages and CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells, infiltrated into skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Guo and Ward, 2005).

The neuromuscular junction (NMJ) is the synapse where the axon terminal of a motor neuron communicates with the motor endplate. It has been demonstrated that endplates are denervated much earlier than the axons and the cell body loss during the pathogenesis of ALS in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and this degeneration process may be driven by the initiation of complement system in the skeletal muscle (Fischer et al., 2004, Heurich et al., 2011). Here I found no deposition of C5aR1 at neuromuscular junction in tibialis anterior muscles of either wild-type or hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. The results suggest that C5a-C5aR1 signalling may not be directly involved in the destruction of NMJ, but rather a response to muscle damage caused by accumulated oxidative stress in the muscle, triggered by the expression of mutant SOD1 within these muscle fibres.

It has long been known that perisynaptic Schwann cells regulate morphological stability, integrity and repair of the NMJ. So far, the involvement of Schwann cells in ALS pathology is still unclear. In spite of that Schwann cells are incapable of triggering disease independently, they may modulate ALS pathogenesis and progression like other glial cells, including astrocytes, microglia and oligodendrocytes (Clement et al., 2003, Boillee et al., 2006, Yamanaka et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2010a, Kang et al., 2013). This was addressed by previous study showing that knock-down of G37R expression in Schwann cells of SOD1<sup>G37R</sup> mice shortened the late phase of disease and survival, suggesting that the neuroprotective effect of G37R in Schwann cells was greater than its toxicity (Lobsiger et al., 2009). Another study showed that in contrast to microglia and astrocytes, accumulation of G93A within Schwann cells is not pathological to spinal cord motor neurons or

deleterious to disease course in transgenic hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Turner et al., 2010). Furthermore, knockdown of G85R in Schwann cells of SOD1<sup>G85R</sup> mice showed delayed onset and extended survival, suggesting that G85R expression in Schwann cells is neurotoxic (Wang et al., 2012). In a more recent study, impairments in Schwann cells functions were observed in SOD1<sup>G37R</sup> mice. As the alternations in the synaptic transmission decoding ability of Schwann cells are detrimental to NMJ repair, it was suggested that Schwan cells could play an important role in NMJ maintenance and progression of ALS disease (Arbour et al., 2015). In the present study, I showed no colocalisation of C5aR1 to Schwann cells in TA muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, suggesting that C5a-C5aR1 signalling is unlikely to contribute to denervation of NMJ through altering the properties of perisynaptic Schwan cells.

In ALS patients, substantial numbers of infiltrating macrophages and T cells are found in the spinal cord (Troost et al., 1989, Kassmann et al., 2007). Infiltration of T cells into spinal cord has also been observed in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mouse model of ALS disease (Chiu et al., 2008, Beers et al., 2008). Since C5a is a potent chemoattractant for immune cells, and its receptor C5aR1 was not present on either NMJ or Schwann cells, it seems reasonable to postulate that C5a signals through C5aR1 expressed on the pre-immune cells, which infiltrated into skeletal muscles. Hereby I examined C5aR1 expression on immune cells. The results showed C5aR1 was co-localised to macrophages and T helper cells, indicating that immune cells are the likely sources of C5aR1 generation in skeletal muscle during disease progression.

It has been well defined that microglia and astrocytes are activated in the CNS in mouse model of ALS, while T cells infiltrate the spinal cord (Hall et al., 1998, Chiu et al., 2008, Beers et al., 2008). However, the role of the innate immunity in the skeletal muscle and its target tissues have not been well characterised. A recent study has shown that activated macrophages accumulate along the length of degenerating motor nerve fibres in ventral roots, sciatic nerves and muscles in mutant SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and mutant SOD1<sup>G37R</sup> mice muscle (Chiu et al., 2009). In this study, I found a striking infiltration of CD11b positive macrophage cells in tibialis anterior muscles, a fast-twitch muscle that is vulnerable to denervation, of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice from disease onset when compared with wild-type mice. Surprisingly, this infiltration was largely attenuated in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1.

56

Numerous studies have shown that macrophages are essential for skeletal muscle regeneration (Summan et al., 2006, Arnold et al., 2007, Bryer et al., 2008). After acute injury, M1 or proinflammatory macrophages, arise from exposure to inflammatory stimuli such as T helper (Th) 1 cytokines interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , infiltrate to the site of damage in association with recruited monocytes, and participate in the phagocytic removal of cellular debris (Mantovani et al., 2004). Macrophages also exhibit a spectrum of non-inflammatory phenotypes, also referred as M2 macrophages. The population of M2 macrophages is more complex than that of M1 macrophages. M2a or 'alternatively activated' macrophage, results from stimulation of Th2 cytokines interleukin (IL)-4 and IL3, are associated with tissue repair, wound healing and fibrosis (Bhattacharjee et al., 2013). Meanwhile, anti-inflammatory M2c macrophages induced by IL-10, release anti-inflammatory cytokines to deactivate the M1 phenotype and promote the proliferation of non-myeloid cells (Sica and Mantovani, 2012). Consequently, invading macrophages transit from a proinflammatory, which is usually found in the early stages after muscle injury, to an anti-inflammatory type (Arnold et al., 2007, Bryer et al., 2008).

In the present study, I showed increasing trends in the number of infiltrating macrophages into tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice from disease onset (day 70) when compared to wild-type controls. Given that muscle denervation occurs at early disease stage in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, it is plausible to postulate that invading macrophages from disease onset in tibialis anterior muscles is in response to muscle damage and subsequent regeneration (Fischer et al., 2004). To understand which phenotypes of macrophages contribute to muscle repair in ALS hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mouse model, further study is needed to clarify the composition of macrophages was not observed in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1, suggesting that C5a-C5aR signalling is required to recruit macrophages into damaged muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during ALS progression. This is supported by other studies that show C5a is a strong chemoattractant for immune cell invasion including macrophages into peripheral tissues (Guo and Ward, 2005).

Several studies have addressed the infiltration of T cells in the CNS from both ALS patients and transgenic mouse models (Holmøy, 2008, Chiu et al., 2008, Beers et al., 2008). The present study showed a substantial invasion of CD4 positive helper T cells into

tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1 G93A mice across the three disease stages where a reduction of helper T cell numbers was observed in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Previous studies have indicated a neuroprotective role of T cells or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice as depleting functional T cells or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells led to the acceleration of disease progression (Chiu et al., 2008, Beers et al., 2008). Knocking out CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells decreased microglial reactivity suggesting a direct interaction between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and glial activation (Beers et al., 2008). Another study showed that motor neuron degradation was accelerated in mutant SOD1 mice lacking functional CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, suggesting the importance of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells for neuroprotective effects in ALS (Holmøy, 2008). In this study, we showed an elevated and diminished number of CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, respectively. Recent studies showed that T cells also participate in the skeletal muscle regeneration. Improved muscle regeneration has been shown in the absence of T cells in the animal model of dysferlinopathy (Farini et al., 2012). As hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice with fully deleted C5aR1 demonstrated a significant extension in survival, it is possible that diminished T cells infiltration facilitates muscle regeneration in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which in turn ameliorate muscle denervation (Woodruff et al., 2014). However, the exact role of T cells in ALS pathology awaits further investigation.

C5a is a strong chemoattractant and is involved in the recruitment of inflammatory cells such as T cell, eosinophils, neutrophils, monocytes and macrophages (Guo and Ward, 2005, Don et al., 2007). Since a massive influx of macrophages and helper T cells, accompanied by increased expression of C5a and its receptor C5aR1, has been quantified in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> tibialis anterior muscles, suggests that C5a-C5aR1 signalling mediates the recruitment of these peripheral immune cells during the ALS disease progression. This is confirmed by the observation of reduced numbers of infiltrating macrophages and helper T cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1.

In addition to tibialis anterior muscles, the numbers of infiltrating macrophages and helper T cells were also quantified in soleus muscle, a slow-twitch muscle that is less vulnerable to ALS pathogenesis. A similar infiltration profile of macrophage in soleus muscles was discovered where significantly increased quantities of macrophages were observed in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice when compared with wild-type mice, and this influx of macrophages was diminished in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1. Meanwhile, minimal infiltrations of helper T

cells were detected in soleus muscle of wild-type,  $hSOD1^{G93A}$  and  $hSOD1^{G93A} \times C5aR1^{-/-}$  mice. Together, these results suggest that infiltrations of pre-immune cells occur in a muscle type-dependent manner as fewer macrophages and helper T cells were observed in the soleus muscles, a muscle less affected in ALS.



Figure 11. Expression of C5a in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

Protein expression of C5a in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 6; \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001; Student *t* test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



Figure 12. Expression of C5aR1 in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of C5aR1 in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, Student t test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).





Protein expression of C5aR1 in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of end-stage wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice was detected by western blot (A) and the expression levels were semi-quantified (B). (n = 4; \*\*p < 0.005, Student t test). Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) expression levels were the same across genotype indicating equal loading of protein. Bars represent the mean ± SEM.



# Figure 14. C5aR1 is not localised at neuromuscular junction or Schwann cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

C5aR1 is not expressed on either neuromuscular junction or Schwann cells. Immunostaining of C5aR1 (red, yellow arrows) with  $\alpha$ -Bungarotoxin (green, **A**) for motor endplate and S100 (green, **B**) for Schwann cells in TA muscle of WT and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end stage. Nuclei were visualized with DAPI (blue). Scale bars, 20 µm.







# Figure 16. Quantification of macrophages in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Infiltration of macrophages into tibialis anterior or soleus muscle groups at various stages. Cryosections of tibialis anterior (**A**) and soleus (**B**) muscle from WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice were stained for CD11b and quantified as described in Materials and Methods. More CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophages were present in MS and ES hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice than WT mice, while less CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophages were found in MS and ES hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. WT, wild-type; OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



# Figure 17. Quantification of helper T cells in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Infiltration of helper T cells into tibialis anterior or soleus muscle groups at various stages. Cryosections of tibialis anterior (**A**) and soleus (**B**) muscle from WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice were stained for CD4 and quantified as described in Materials and Methods. More CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells were present in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice than WT mice, while less CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells were found in MS hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice in TA muscle (A). There are no significant changes of CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells numbers in SOL muscle (B). (n = 3; \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. WT, wild-type; OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).

# Chapter 5

# Role of C3aR signalling in regulating the infiltration of immune cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice

#### 5.1 Introduction

Complement protein C3 is the central component of the complement system (Figure 2). Cleavage of the C3 by the convertase C4b2b of the lectin and classical pathways, and the convertase C3bBb of the alternative pathway, results in the generation of the C3a and C3b fragments (Lambris, 1988). C3a is a versatile peptide with diverse functions in immune response. It mediates both proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory activities upon binding to its receptor C3aR (Wetsel et al., 2000).

C3aR is a G-protein-coupled receptor. It is widely expressed on myeloid and lymphoid cells, including mast cells, eosinophils, neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages, microglia, dendritic cells, T cells and B cells (Klos et al., 2009). It is also found expressed on several types of neuronal cells (Davoust et al., 1999). The biological functions of C3aR mediated signalling system, such as exocytotic release of granula from basophils or eosinophils, and the up-regulation and release of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1, also: chemokine CCR ligand 2, CCL2), are tightly controlled (Bischoff et al., 1990, Takafuji et al., 1994, Ahamed et al., 2001).

In inflamed human CNS, C3aR has been found on both astrocytes and microglia in the area of pathology and infiltrating macrophages in multiple sclerosis and meningitis (Gasque et al., 1998). Deposition of C3/C3b has been shown in spinal cord and skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic murine ALS models (Woodruff et al., 2008a, Heurich et

al., 2011, Lee et al., 2013). Together these observations suggest an involvement of C3 in CNS inflammation.

Given that C3 participates in neuroinflammatory diseases and accumulates in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice, raises the idea that C3 plays an active role in the pathogenesis of ALS in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice. Support for this idea comes from studies that show C3 fragment C3a is a chemotactic factor for immune cells, hence it is possible that C3a exert its function through signalling its receptor C3aR on circulating immune cells, promotes their infiltration into damaged muscle such as seen in ALS (Ricklin and Lambris, 2013). To address these questions, I assessed the expression of C3aR, and quantified the number of infiltrating immune cells in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice with comparison to WT and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR.

#### 5.2 Results

#### 5.2.1 Expression of C3aR

C3aR, the receptor of C3, is expressed by hippocampal, cortical and motor neurons in the normal CNS and plays roles in regulating neurogenesis (Davoust et al., 1999, Rahpeymai et al., 2006, Ducruet et al., 2012). However, the roles of C3aR in neurodegenerative diseases are ill defined. Therefore, I first examined the expression of C3aR in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. The mRNA levels of C3aR in the tibialis anterior muscle of wild-type and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were determined by qPCR. The results showed that the mRNA level of C3aR significantly increased by 1.6-fold, 2.6-fold and 7.6-fold at onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) disease in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice when compared with wild-type mice (n = 5; \*p < 0.05; Figure 18), suggesting an activation of C3a-C3aR signalling within muscles, during the ALS disease progression in the hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> ALS model.

#### 5.2.2 Cellular localisation of C3aR

Since elevation of C3aR mRNA expression was observed, I next examined cellular localisation of C3aR within skeletal muscle tissues of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice using immunohistochemistry. Transverse sections of tibialis anterior muscles at end-stage were stained for C3aR1 along with specific cellular markers to identify neuromuscular junction ( $\alpha$ -Bungarotoxin), Schwann cells (anti-S100), macrophages (anti-CD11b) and helper T cells (anti-CD4).

My results showed that C3aR was not expressed at neuromuscular junction or surrounding Schwann cells (Figure 19). In order to determine whether C3a-C3aR signalling contributes to the recruitment of infiltrating immune cells during skeletal muscle regeneration, I examined the expression of C3aR on invading macrophages and helper T cells. I found predominate expression of C3aR on CD11b positive macrophages in tibialis anterior muscles from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, compared to that of aged-matched wild-type controls (Figure 20). Together, these data suggest that C3a-C3aR signalling is not involved in the destruction of NMJ, the focal site of muscle damage, but rather for macrophage migration by chemotaxis into muscles from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression, presumably trigged by muscle responding to the toxic effects of mutant SOD1 expressed within their cytoplasm.

# 5.2.3 hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR have reduced number of macrophages and helper T cells when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression of ALS

In the previous chapter, I showed significant invasion of macrophages and helper T cells induced by C5a-C5aR1 signalling in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> during disease progression (Figures 16 and 17). Since C3a also strongly promotes chemotaxis of immune cells, I investigated whether C3a-C3aR1 signalling modulates the infiltration of macrophages and helper T cells in the tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Transverse tibialis anterior muscle sections from wild-type, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> lacking C3aR (hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup>) mice at onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of ALS disease progression were stained for markers of macrophages (anti-CD11b) and helper T cells (anti-CD4). The presences of such stained cells within tibialis anterior muscles from these mice and were quantified.

I observed significant invasion of macrophages and helper T cells in tibialis anterior muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Figures 21A and 22A). By contrast, I noted significant reductions in the number of macrophages shown in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR at mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of disease when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 21A). Interestingly, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR showed an initial increased number of macrophages at disease onset (P70) when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3, p = 0.24; Figure 21A). As for helper T cells, notable decreases were observed in tibialis anterior muscles of

69

hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice at mid-symptomatic and end-stage when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01; Figure 22A). In short, the data supports my hypothesis that C3 is involved in the pathogenesis of ALS by modulating the infiltrating immune cell in skeletal muscle through C3a-C3aR signalling.

In Chapter 4, I showed that immune cells migrated into skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice in a muscle type-dependent manner, namely there were significantly less macrophages and helper T cells invasion into soleus muscles – a slow-twitch muscle, compared to tibialis anterior muscles, which has fast-twitch properties (Figures 16 and 17). Here, I compared the numbers of macrophages and helper T cells in the soleus muscles of wildtype, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice at onset (P70), mid-symptomatic (P130) and end-stage (P175) of disease progression. In the soleus muscles from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR, a similar trend of changes in the numbers of macrophage were observed as in the tibialis anterior muscles, where fewer macrophages were found as disease progresses (n = 3, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001; Figure 21B). The extent of macrophage invasion in soleus muscles is far less severe than in tibialis anterior muscles in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR (Figure 21). As for helper T cells, I found no obvious changes in helper T cell numbers in soleus muscles from wild-type, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 22B). Similarly, the overall numbers of helper T cells in soleus muscles were far fewer than its counterparts in tibialis anterior muscles in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice. These results suggest that immune cell infiltrations mediated by C3a-C3aR signalling also follows the muscle type-dependent pattern as shown in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, where fewer infiltrating immune cells were found in soleus muscles that appeared to be more resistant to degenerative effects.

#### 5.3 Discussion

C3a is an anaphylactic peptide formed by the cleavage of complement factor C3. It can induce proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory biological actions through binding to its G-coupled receptor C3aR. Previous studies suggest that C3a might play multiple roles in promoting neuronal development, regeneration and repair (Yanamadala and Friedlander, 2010). It has been reported that blocking C3aR has beneficial therapeutic effects in CNS lupus by reducing neuronal apoptosis and gliosis in brains of MRL/*lpr* mouse of lupus model (Jacob et al., 2010). However, the role of C3a-C3aR signalling in ALS remains unclear.

In the present study, I showed increased mRNA expression of C3aR in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression. In addition, immunolocalisation of C3aR was found on macrophages, but not at the neuromuscular junction, or on Schwann cells and helper T cells. Quantifications of CD11b positive macrophages and CD4 positive helper T cells demonstrated that C3a-C3aR signalling participates in the recruitment of those immune cells into damaged muscle tissue, where significant drops in the number of macrophages and helper T cells were seen in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> lacking C3aR. In brief, these findings indicate that C3a-C3aR contributes to the pathogenesis of ALS in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice by regulating the migration of immune cells in skeletal muscle.

C3 is the central component of complement cascades. In the skeletal muscle, deposition of C3 and its cleaved fragment C3b/iC3b at the NMJ has been shown in both patients and animal models of myasthenia gravis (MG), the most common autoimmune disorder of neuromuscular transmission (Soltys and Wu, 2012). Deposition of C3b/iC3b at denervated NMJ has also been observed in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice, implicating the classical complement pathway in degeneration of distal axons (Heurich et al., 2011). As increased mRNA of C3 in skeletal muscle during ALS disease progression of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice was observed in Chapter 3, it is necessary to identify whether C3 fragment C3a will mediate inflammatory response at NMJ, causing further tissue damage. The finding that C3aR was not detected on either NMJ or perisynaptic Schwann cells, the glial component of the NMJ, in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice in this study, suggests that C3a-C3aR signalling is unlikely to be involved in the destruction of NMJ (Auld and Robitaille, 2003).

Like complement peptide C5a, C3a attracts immune cells to sites of activation via binding to its receptor C3aR. It is assumed that C3a-C3aR signalling is responsible for recruiting immune cells into muscle injury sites during ALS disease progression. To verify this assumption, cellular localisation of C3aR on macrophages and helper T cells was examined, as well as the number of immune cells in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> transgenic mice. Previous studies have demonstrated expression of C3aR on infiltrating macrophages in multiple sclerosis, and C3a is a chemotaxin for mouse macrophages (Gasque et al., 1998, Zwirner et al., 1998b). In another study, high C3aR expression has been found on infiltrating macrophages in the adipose tissue of mice, and depletion of

C3aR showed a string decrease in macrophage infiltration (Mamane et al., 2009). These findings indicate that C3a-C3aR may contribute to the accumulation of macrophages at the site of inflammation. In the present study, I found expression of C3aR on macrophages in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. In addition, significant reduction in macrophage influx has also been observed in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR. Overall, my results are consistent with findings of previous studies showing that C3a-C3aR signalling regulates the invasion of macrophages (Mamane et al., 2009). Moreover, C3a-C3aR signalling may play a beneficial role in ALS pathogenesis of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice as these infiltrating macrophages are essential for muscle regeneration after injury (Summan et al., 2006, Arnold et al., 2007, Bryer et al., 2008). In Chapter 4, I showed that immune cells infiltrate skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C5aR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice in a muscle type-dependent manner, where fewer macrophages and helper T cells were presented in soleus muscles compared to tibialis anterior muscles. These differences in the numbers of immune cells between tibialis anterior and soleus muscles were also seen in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting that the extent of immune cell invasion in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> is regulated by complement signalling and determined by the twitch-type specificity of skeletal muscle.

It has been shown that functional C3aR is expressed on the CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> blood- or skin-derived T cell cones from patients with atopic dermatitis (Werfel et al., 2000). Expression of C3aR on T cells also provides co-stimulatory signals that enhance effector T cells (Teff) and limit natural regulatory T cells (nTreg) function (Strainic et al., 2008, Kwan et al., 2013). Moreover, genetic deficiency or pharmacological blockade of C3aR signalling augments murine and human induced regulatory T cells (iTreg) stability (van der Touw et al., 2013). Double immunostaining showed that C3aR expression was absent from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in tibialis anterior muscles of wild-type and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, suggesting the absence of signalling into CD4<sup>+</sup> cells via C3aR. A recent study discovered that the absence of C3aR signalling in CD4<sup>+</sup> cells diverts naïve T cells into Foxp3<sup>+</sup> iTreg cells, indicating that complement has a crucial role in modulating the induction and function of Treg cells. In the same study, striking up-regulation of C5aR2 expression on iTreg cells was observed in dendritic cells lacking C3a and C5a, whereas less C5aR2 was found on iTreg cells treated with exogenous transforming growth factor (TGF)-B1 (Strainic et al., 2013). TGF-B1 is upregulated in muscle of muscular dystrophies, such as Duchene muscle dystrophy (DMD), congenital muscular dystrophy, and inflammatory myositis, and mutant SOD1 induces

marked up-regulation of TGF-β1 mRNA expression in muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (Bernasconi et al., 1999, Ishitobi et al., 2000, Galbiati et al., 2012). Combining these findings, it is possible that C5aR2 expression decreases in tibialis anterior muscles from hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice, resulting from the synergistic effect of C3aR signalling and cytokine TGF-β1 where the absence of C3aR signalling in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induces of iTreg cells and TGF-β1 down-regulates C5aR2 expression on those iTreg cells. Since C5aR2 is the alternative receptor of C5a, C5a-C5aR2 signalling could regulate the infiltration of helper T cells in skeletal muscle in a similar manner as C5a-C5aR1. Given that the absence of C5a-C5aR1 signalling attenuates CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells influx in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> x C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice in this study might be due to the impaired C5a-C5aR2 signalling. To verify these speculations, further studies would be required to examine the cytokine expression and C5aR2 signalling in skeletal muscle of transgenic hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.



Figure 18. Expression of C3aR in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and wild-type mice during disease progression.

mRNA expression of C5aR1 in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of wild-type (WT) and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice were quantified by quantitative real-time PCR at three different ages. (n = 5; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, Student t test). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



# Figure 19. C3aR is not localised at neuromuscular junction or Schwann cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

C3aR is not expressed on either neuromuscular junction or Schwann cells. Immunostaining of C3aR (red, yellow arrows) with  $\alpha$ -Bungarotoxin (green, **A**) for motor endplate and S100 (green, **B**) for Schwann cells in TA muscle of WT and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end stage of disease. Nuclei were visualized with DAPI (blue). Scale bars, 20 µm.



Figure 20. C3aR is localised to macrophages, but not helper T cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

Cellular localization of C3aR on macrophages, but not helper T cells. Immunostaining of C3aR (red) with CD11b (green, **A**) for macrophages and CD4 (green, **B**) for helper T cells in tibialis anterior (TA) muscle of WT and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at end stage. C33aR (yellow arrows) is co-localised to CD11b-positive macrophages, but not to CD4-positive helper T cells. Nuclei were visulised with DAPI (blue). Scale bars, 20  $\mu$ m.





Infiltration of macrophages into tibialis anterior or soleus muscle groups at various stages. Cryosections of tibialis anterior (**A**) and soleus (**B**) muscle from WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice were stained for CD11b and quantified as described in Materials and Methods. Fewer CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophages were found in MS and ES hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice (n = 3; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. WT, wild-type; OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).



# Figure 22. Quantification of helper T cells in skeletal muscle of WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> × C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Infiltration of helper T cells into tibialis anterior or soleus muscle groups at various stages. Cryosections of tibialis anterior (**A**) and soleus (**B**) muscle from WT, hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> and hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice were stained for CD4 and quantified as described in Materials and Methods. Fewer CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells were found in MS and ES hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>×C3aR<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice in TA muscle (**A**). There are no significant changes of CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells numbers in SOL muscle (**B**). (n = 3; \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA). Bars represent the mean ± SEM. WT, wild-type; OS, onset = postnatal day 70 (P70); MS, mid-symptomatic = postnatal day 130 (P130); ES, end stage = postnatal day 175 (P175).

## Chapter 6

### **General discussion**

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a late onset fatal neurodegenerative disease. It is well characterised by the progressive loss of upper and lower motor neurons in the central nervous system accompanied by muscle weakness and atrophy (Wijesekera and Leigh, 2009). Over the years, many theories of ALS pathogenesis have been proposed, including oxidative stress, excitotoxicity, mitochondrial dysfunction, axonal transport defects and abnormal protein aggregation (Parakh et al., 2013). In addition to these mechanisms, evidence from several studies have suggested involvement of complement system in human ALS pathology and animal models of ALS (Lee et al., 2012a). A previous study from our lab has demonstrated local activation of complement in the central nervous system of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, a well-defined transgenic mouse model of ALS that carries mutant human SOD1 gene, during the disease progression (Lee et al., 2013). However, the roles of complement in the skeletal muscle in ALS pathology are poorly understood. The aim of this study was to determine the expression and biological function of complement factors in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. My working hypothesis was that complement is activated in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and it contributes to ALS disease progression through modulating immune cell migrations via complement receptors C3aR and C5aR1 signalling.

The first major finding from the present study is that complement activation in the skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Using quantitative PCR, I detected up-regulation in mRNA levels of C1qB, factor B and C3, the initiators of classical and alternative pathway and central compartment of complement cascade, showing that complement has been activated. These findings are consistent with previous studies that have demonstrated in spinal cord and neuromuscular junction of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, suggesting that complement

activation is not restricted to CNS, but also displayed in skeletal muscle of ALS disease model (Heurich et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2013). To date, the initiating site of neurodegeneration is still under debate. The "dying-back" theory has been suggested where pathological changes in skeletal muscles, motor axons and motor nerve terminals appear to precede motor neuron degeneration and clinical symptoms (Dadon-Nachum et al., 2011, Moloney et al., 2014). This hypothesis is supported by the finding of C1q and C3b/iC3b deposition at the neuromuscular junction at in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice of pre- (day 47) and mid-symptomatic (day 126) disease stage (Heurich et al., 2011). As significant increases of C1qB and C3 were observed in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice at disease onset (day 70), my findings may favour the "dying-back" pattern of ALS pathology in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice where activation of complement in skeletal muscle may contribute to the degenerations of the NMJ and its motor axons.

The second main finding of this study is that complement receptor C5aR1 is responsible for the recruitment of immune cells in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Complement peptide C5a is the active fragment cleaved from C5. It possesses a wide spectrum of biological functions, including induced chemotaxis of immune cells like neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, and T lymphocytes. C5a exert is functions via binding to its signalling receptor C5aR1 or alternative receptor C5aR2 (Guo and Ward, 2005). Studies from our lab have demonstrated that up-regulation of C5aR1 within the CNS of SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> rodents, and selectively blocking C5aR1 activity with specific antagonist or depleting *C5aR1* in transgenic SOD animals ameliorates disease symptoms and extends life span. These data suggest that C5a-C5aR1 signalling plays a detrimental role in the pathology of ALS (Woodruff et al., 2008a, Lee et al., 2013, Woodruff et al., 2014). Herein I showed elevated expressions of C5aR1 and its ligand C5a in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and immunohistochemistry results demonstrated that C5aR1 is localised to CD11b positive macrophages and CD4 positive helper T cells, but not at NMJ or on Schwann cells.

NMJ is the synapse that connects axon terminals to motor endplates. It undergoes destruction much earlier than the axons and cell body loss in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression (Fischer et al., 2004, Heurich et al., 2011). Schwann cells, the principle glia of the PNS, regulates the morphological stability, integrity and repair of NMJ (Darabid et al., 2014). Multiple studies showed either neuroprotective or neurotoxic effect

of Schwann cells by manipulating the expression of mutant *SOD1* gene within Schwann cells (Lobsiger et al., 2009, Turner et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2012, Arbour et al., 2015). The absence of C5aR1 on NMJ and Schwann cells indicates that C5a-C5aR1 signalling is not involved in the process of triggering phagocytosis of Schwann cells, or inducing perisynaptic Schwann cell-guided NMJ reinnervation during ALS disease progression as seen in nerve injury (Reichert et al., 1994, Kang et al., 2014). As other types of phagocytes, like macrophages, can be attracted to remove nerve debris during axonal degeneration, the recruitments of other immune cells by C5a-C5aR signalling have also been examined. Cellular localisation of C5aR1 to infiltrating macrophages and helper T cells was demonstrated, and mass influx of macrophage and helper T cells were also observed in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

Macrophages have long been implicated in muscle regeneration after injury (Summan et al., 2006, Arnold et al., 2007, Bryer et al., 2008). Depending on their phenotypes, M1 or M2, macrophages can either participate in the removal of cellular debris or be actively involved in the tissue repair (Summan et al., 2006). Interestingly, the infiltration of macrophages is significantly attenuated in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1. A similar trend was also observed in soleus muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1, but to a lesser extent. These results suggest that C5a-C5aR1 signalling plays a pivotal role in recruiting macrophages into skeletal muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice during disease progression. Similarly, significant reductions in infiltrating helper T cells numbers were also seen in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1. Several studies have illustrated infiltration of T cells in the CNS of both ALS patients and transgenic mouse models, and suggested a neuroprotective property of functional CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell in transgenic SOD1 mice (Beers et al., 2008, Chiu et al., 2008, Holmøy, 2008). The roles of T cells present in skeletal muscle of ALS animal models including hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice remains unclear. By contrast, studies in other muscle diseases such as MD show that depleting T and B lymphocytes resulted in an improvement of muscle regeneration (Farini et al., 2012). Given that hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 display a significant extension in survival (Woodruff et al., 2014) and muscle performance in grip-strength (unpublished observations). I postulate that diminished T cell infiltration in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1 may contributes to muscle regeneration. In brief, my results suggest that C5a-C5aR signalling is actively involved in the pathogenesis of ALS in skeletal muscle, facilitating muscle regeneration by mediating immune cell infiltrations into

skeletal muscle.

Depending on the composition of muscle fibre types, skeletal muscle can be basically categorised into fast-twitch and slow-twitch subtypes. By contrast to fast-twitch tibialis anterior muscles, slow-twitch muscle like soleus muscles is more resistant to denervation. Minimal invasions of macrophages and helper T cells were found in soleus muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> when compared to their counterparts in tibialis anterior muscles, indicating that the infiltration of immune cells in skeletal muscle occurs in a muscle type-dependent manner. Denervation in ALS occurs in a muscle fibre type-specific pattern, where fasttwitch type II fibres undergo destruction first, followed by slow-twitch type I fibres (Frey et al., 2000, Hegedus et al., 2007, Pun et al., 2006). Skeletal muscle is the major site of dietary glucose disposal. Defects in skeletal muscle glucose uptake are associated with insulin resistance. Altered muscle metabolism in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice has also been proved to be fibre type related, where decreased insulin-stimulated glucose uptake occurred in fasttwitch muscle first at middle stage of disease (Smittkamp et al., 2014). Recent reports show that macrophage numbers within muscle are elevated during obesity, which associated with insulin resistance, and that muscle cells in vitro can mount autonomous inflammatory responses under metabolic challenge (Pillon et al., 2013). This cross-talk between skeletal muscle and immune cells implicates that the differences in the extent of immune cell invasion between tibialis anterior muscles and soleus muscle might be related to the altered muscle metabolism in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

In addition to C5a-C5aR1 signalling, the present study also investigated C3a-C3aR signalling in ALS pathology. C3a is an active fragment of complement factor C3. It can initiate both pro- and anti-inflammatory responses via binding to its receptor C3aR (Yanamadala and Friedlander, 2010). However, the role of C3a-C3aR1 signalling in ALS has not been well elucidated. Increased mRNA level of C3aR was seen in tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup>, suggesting the existence of C3aR signalling in skeletal muscle. Similar to C5aR1, there was no co-localization of C3aR to NMJ or on perisynaptic Schwann cells, suggesting that C3a-C3aR signalling does not participate in the denervation of NMJ. Interestingly, similar trends of immune cells migration was discovered, whereas hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C3aR showed a striking reduction in macrophage and helper T cell numbers in tibialis anterior muscles when compared to hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. However, expression of C3aR was found absent on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in

tibialis anterior muscles of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice. Previous studies showed that the absence of C3aR signalling in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induces transition of naïve T cells to iTreg cells, and iTreg cells expressing less C5aR2 under exposure to excessive TGF-  $\beta$ 1, a cytokine whose mRNA level is largely increased in muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice due to mutant SOD1 toxicity (Strainic et al., 2013, Galbiati et al., 2012). Since C5aR2 is the alternative receptor for C5a, it is possible that C5a-C5aR2 signalling is reduced as a consequence of absence of C3aR on CD4<sup>+</sup> T, which in turn recruits fewer T cells into tibialis anterior muscles as seen in hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice lacking C5aR1. This finding requires further study to investigate the expression of cytokines that are related to T cell chemotaxis and subpopulation of T cells in skeletal muscle of hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice.

In conclusion, the current study demonstrates activation of complement in skeletal muscle of transgenic hSOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice, and signalling of complement receptor C5aR1 and C3aR are involved in the pathogenesis of ALS in skeletal muscle. These findings suggest that complement is actively involved in the disease progression of ALS, and its impact is not limited to CNS, but also applies to skeletal muscle, which may yield new mechanistic insights into the ALS pathology.

#### References

- ABBOTT, N. J., PATABENDIGE, A. A., DOLMAN, D. E., YUSOF, S. R. & BEGLEY, D. J. 2010. Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 37, 13-25.
- ABRAMOFF, M. D., MAGALHAES, P. J. & RAM, S. J. 2004. Image processing with ImageJ. *Biophotonics International*, 11:, 36–42.
- ACEVEDO-AROZENA, A., KALMAR, B., ESSA, S., RICKETTS, T., JOYCE, P., KENT, R., ROWE, C., PARKER, A., GRAY, A., HAFEZPARAST, M., THORPE, J. R., GREENSMITH, L. & FISHER, E. M. 2011. A comprehensive assessment of the SOD1G93A low-copy transgenic mouse, which models human amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Disease Models and Mechanisms*, 4, 686-700.
- AHAMED, J., HARIBABU, B. & ALI, H. 2001. Cutting edge: Differential regulation of chemoattractant receptor-induced degranulation and chemokine production by receptor phosphorylation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 167, 3559-63.
- AHEARN, J. M. & FEARON, D. T. 1989. Structure and function of the complement receptors, CR1 (CD35) and CR2 (CD21). *Advances in Immunology*, 46, 183-219.
- AKSAMIT, R. R., FALK, W. & LEONARD, E. J. 1981. Chemotaxis by mouse macrophage cell lines. *The Journal of Immunology*, 126, 2194-9.
- ALEXANDER, J. J., ANDERSON, A. J., BARNUM, S. R., STEVENS, B. & TENNER, A. J. 2008. The complement cascade: Yin–Yang in neuroinflammation neuro-protection and -degeneration. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 107, 1169-87.
- ALEXIANU, M. E., KOZOVSKA, M. & APPEL, S. H. 2001. Immune reactivity in a mouse model of familial ALS correlates with disease progression. *Neurology*, 57, 1282-9.
- AMATRUDA, T. T., GERARD, N. P., GERARD, C. & SIMON, M. I. 1993. Specific interactions of chemoattractant factor receptors with G-proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268, 10139-10144.
- ANDERSEN, P. 2006. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis associated with mutations in the CuZn superoxide dismutase gene. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*, 6, 37-46.
- APOSTOLSKI, S., NIKOLIC, J., BUGARSKI-PROKOPLJEVIC, C., MILETIC, V., PAVLOVIC, S. & FILIPOVIC, S. 1991. Serum and CSF immunological findings in ALS. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 83, 96-8.
- ARBOUR, D., TREMBLAY, E., MARTINEAU, E., JULIEN, J. P. & ROBITAILLE, R. 2015. Early and persistent abnormal decoding by glial cells at the neuromuscular junction in an ALS model. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35, 688-706.
- ARNOLD, L., HENRY, A., PORON, F., BABA-AMER, Y., VAN ROOIJEN, N., PLONQUET, A., GHERARDI, R. K.
  & CHAZAUD, B. 2007. Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 204, 1057-69.
- ATKIN, J. D., SCOTT, R. L., WEST, J. M., LOPES, E., QUAH, A. K. & CHEEMA, S. S. 2005. Properties of slowand fast-twitch muscle fibres in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 15, 377-88.
- AUGUSTO, V., PADOVANI, C. R. & CAMPOS, G. E. R. 2004. Skeletal muscule fiber types in C57BL6J mice. *Brazilian Journal of Morphological Sciences*, 21, 89-94.
- AULD, D. S. & ROBITAILLE, R. 2003. Perisynaptic Schwann cells at the neuromuscular junction: nerveand activity-dependent contributions to synaptic efficacy, plasticity, and reinnervation. *Neuroscientist*, 9, 144-57.
- BAALASUBRAMANIAN, S., HARRIS, C. L., DONEV, R. M., MIZUNO, M., OMIDVAR, N., SONG, W. C. & MORGAN, B. P. 2004. CD59a is the primary regulator of membrane attack complex assembly in the mouse. *The Journal of Immunology*, 173, 3684-92.
- BALICE-GORDON, R. J., BONE, L. J. & SCHERER, S. S. 1998. Functional gap junctions in the schwann cell myelin sheath. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 142, 1095-104.
- BAMBERG, C. E., MACKAY, C. R., LEE, H., ZAHRA, D., JACKSON, J., LIM, Y. S., WHITFELD, P. L., CRAIG, S., CORSINI, E., LU, B., GERARD, C. & GERARD, N. P. 2010. The C5a receptor (C5aR) C5L2 is a modulator of C5aR-mediated signal transduction. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285, 7633-44.

- BANERJEE, R., MOSLEY, R. L., REYNOLDS, A. D., DHAR, A., JACKSON-LEWIS, V., GORDON, P. H., PRZEDBORSKI, S. & GENDELMAN, H. E. 2008. Adaptive Immune Neuroprotection in G93A-SOD1 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Mice. *PLoS ONE*, 3, e2740.
- BARBER, S. C. & SHAW, P. J. 2010. Oxidative stress in ALS: key role in motor neuron injury and therapeutic target. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 48, 629-41.
- BARCLAY, C. J., CONSTABLE, J. K. & GIBBS, C. L. 1993. Energetics of fast- and slow-twitch muscles of the mouse. *The Journal of Physiology*, 472, 61-80.
- BARNUM, S. R. 1995. Complement biosynthesis in the central nervous system. *Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine*, 6, 132-46.
- BEERS, D. R., HENKEL, J. S., ZHAO, W., WANG, J. & APPEL, S. H. 2008. CD4+ T cells support glial neuroprotection, slow disease progression, and modify glial morphology in an animal model of inherited ALS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 15558-63.
- BENDOTTI, C., CALVARESI, N., CHIVERI, L., PRELLE, A., MOGGIO, M., BRAGA, M., SILANI, V. & DE BIASI, S. 2001. Early vacuolization and mitochondrial damage in motor neurons of FALS mice are not associated with apoptosis or with changes in cytochrome oxidase histochemical reactivity. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 191, 25-33.
- BERNASCONI, P., DI BLASI, C., MORA, M., MORANDI, L., GALBIATI, S., CONFALONIERI, P., CORNELIO, F.
  & MANTEGAZZA, R. 1999. Transforming growth factor-beta1 and fibrosis in congenital muscular dystrophies. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 9, 28-33.
- BEXBORN, F., ANDERSSON, P. O., CHEN, H., NILSSON, B. & EKDAHL, K. N. 2008. The tick-over theory revisited: formation and regulation of the soluble alternative complement C3 convertase (C3(H2O)Bb). *Molecular Immunology*, 45, 2370-9.
- BHATTACHARJEE, A., SHUKLA, M., YAKUBENKO, V. P., MULYA, A., KUNDU, S. & CATHCART, M. K. 2013. IL-4 and IL-13 employ discrete signaling pathways for target gene expression in alternatively activated monocytes/macrophages. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 54, 1-16.
- BILSLAND, L. G., SAHAI, E., KELLY, G., GOLDING, M., GREENSMITH, L. & SCHIAVO, G. 2010. Deficits in axonal transport precede ALS symptoms in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107, 20523-8.
- BISCHOFF, S. C., DE WECK, A. L. & DAHINDEN, C. A. 1990. Interleukin 3 and granulocyte/macrophagecolony-stimulating factor render human basophils responsive to low concentrations of complement component C3a. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 87, 6813-7.
- BLOM, A. M., VILLOUTREIX, B. O. & DAHLBÄCK, B. 2004. Complement inhibitor C4b-binding protein friend or foe in the innate immune system? *Molecular Immunology*, 40, 1333-46.
- BOHLSON, S. S., FRASER, D. A. & TENNER, A. J. 2007. Complement proteins C1q and MBL are pattern recognition molecules that signal immediate and long-term protective immune functions. *Molecular Immunology*, 44, 33-43.
- BOILLEE, S., VANDE VELDE, C. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2006. ALS: a disease of motor neurons and their nonneuronal neighbors. *Neuron*, 52, 39-59.
- BONIFATI, D. M. & KISHORE, U. 2007. Role of complement in neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation. *Molecular Immunology*, 44, 999-1010.
- BOTTO, M., DELL'AGNOLA, C., BYGRAVE, A. E., THOMPSON, E. M., COOK, H. T., PETRY, F., LOOS, M., PANDOLFI, P. P. & WALPORT, M. J. 1998. Homozygous C1q deficiency causes
- glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. *Nature Genetics*, 19, 56-9.
- BOTTO, M. & WALPORT, M. J. 2002. C1q, Autoimmunity and Apoptosis. *Immunobiology*, 205, 395-406.
- BRAUN, L., CHRISTOPHE, T. & BOULAY, F. 2003. Phosphorylation of Key Serine Residues Is Required for Internalization of the Complement 5a (C5a) Anaphylatoxin Receptor via a β-Arrestin, Dynamin, and Clathrin-dependent Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278, 4277-85.
- BRENNAN, F. H., ANDERSON, A. J., TAYLOR, S. M., WOODRUFF, T. M. & RUITENBERG, M. J. 2012.
  Complement activation in the injured central nervous system: another dual-edged sword? *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 9, 137.
- BROERE, F., APASOV, S., SITKOVSKY, M. & VAN EDEN, W. 2011. A2 T cell subsets and T cell-mediated immunity. *In:* NIJKAMP, F. P. & PARNHAM, M. J. (eds.) *Principles of Immunopharmacology*. Birkhäuser Basel. pp. 15-27.

- BRYER, S. C., FANTUZZI, G., VAN ROOIJEN, N. & KOH, T. J. 2008. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator plays essential roles in macrophage chemotaxis and skeletal muscle regeneration. *The Journal of Immunology*, 180, 1179-88.
- BUHL, A. M., AVDI, N., WORTHEN, G. S. & JOHNSON, G. L. 1994. Mapping of the C5a receptor signal transduction network in human neutrophils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 91, 9190-4.
- BUNGE, R. P. 1993. Expanding roles for the Schwann cell: ensheathment, myelination, trophism and regeneration. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *3*, 805-9.
- BURG, M., MARTIN, U., BOCK, D., RHEINHEIMER, C., KOHL, J., BAUTSCH, W. & KLOS, A. 1996. Differential regulation of the C3a and C5a receptors (CD88) by IFN-gamma and PMA in U937 cells and related myeloblastic cell lines. *The Journal of Immunology*, 157, 5574-81.
- CARRASCO, D. I., BICHLER, E. K., SEBURN, K. L. & PINTER, M. J. 2010. Nerve terminal degeneration is independent of muscle fiber genotype in SOD1 mice. *PLoS One*, 5, e9802.
- CARROLL, M. V. & SIM, R. B. 2011. Complement in health and disease. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 63, 965-75.
- CHEN, S., SAYANA, P., ZHANG, X. & LE, W. 2013. Genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an update. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 8, 28.
- CHENOWETH, D. E. & GOODMAN, M. G. 1983. The C5a receptor of neutrophils and macrophages. *Agents and Actions Supplements*, 12, 252-73.
- CHENOWETH, D. E. & HUGLI, T. E. 1978. Demonstration of specific C5a receptor on intact human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 75, 3943-7.
- CHIU, I. M., CHEN, A., ZHENG, Y., KOSARAS, B., TSIFTSOGLOU, S. A., VARTANIAN, T. K., BROWN, R. H. & CARROLL, M. C. 2008. T lymphocytes potentiate endogenous neuroprotective inflammation in a mouse model of ALS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 17913-8
- CHIU, I. M., PHATNANI, H., KULIGOWSKI, M., TAPIA, J. C., CARRASCO, M. A., ZHANG, M., MANIATIS, T. & CARROLL, M. C. 2009. Activation of innate and humoral immunity in the peripheral nervous system of ALS transgenic mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106, 20960-65.
- CHRISTENSEN, J. E., ANDREASEN, S. Ø., CHRISTENSEN, J. P. & THOMSEN, A. R. 2001. CD11b expression as a marker to distinguish between recently activated effector CD8+ T cells and memory cells. *International Immunology*, 13, 593-600.
- CHU, Y., JIN, X., PARADA, I., PESIC, A., STEVENS, B., BARRES, B. & PRINCE, D. A. 2010. Enhanced synaptic connectivity and epilepsy in C1q knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107, 7975-80.
- CLEMENT, A. M., NGUYEN, M. D., ROBERTS, E. A., GARCIA, M. L., BOILLEE, S., RULE, M., MCMAHON, A. P., DOUCETTE, W., SIWEK, D., FERRANTE, R. J., BROWN, R. H., JR., JULIEN, J. P., GOLDSTEIN, L. S. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2003. Wild-type nonneuronal cells extend survival of SOD1 mutant motor neurons in ALS mice. *Science*, 302, 113-7.
- COLLARD, C. D., VÄKEVÄ, A., MORRISSEY, M. A., AGAH, A., ROLLINS, S. A., REENSTRA, W. R., BURAS, J. A., MERI, S. & STAHL, G. L. 2000. Complement Activation after Oxidative Stress: Role of the Lectin Complement Pathway. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 156, 1549-56.
- CORFAS, G., VELARDEZ, M. O., KO, C. P., RATNER, N. & PELES, E. 2004. Mechanisms and roles of axon-Schwann cell interactions. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 9250-60.
- CORTES-HERNANDEZ, J., FOSSATI-JIMACK, L., PETRY, F., LOOS, M., IZUI, S., WALPORT, M. J., COOK, H. T. & BOTTO, M. 2004. Restoration of C1q levels by bone marrow transplantation attenuates autoimmune disease associated with C1q deficiency in mice. *European Journal of Immunology*, 34, 3713-22.
- COZZOLINO, M., FERRI, A. & CARRI, M. T. 2008. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: from current developments in the laboratory to clinical implications. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 10, 405-43.
- DADON-NACHUM, M., MELAMED, E. & OFFEN, D. 2011. The "dying-back" phenomenon of motor neurons in ALS. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 43, 470-7.

DAFFERN, P. J., PFEIFER, P. H., EMBER, J. A. & HUGLI, T. E. 1995. C3a is a chemotaxin for human eosinophils but not for neutrophils. I. C3a stimulation of neutrophils is secondary to eosinophil activation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 181, 2119-27.

DARABID, H., PEREZ-GONZALEZ, A. P. & ROBITAILLE, R. 2014. Neuromuscular synaptogenesis: coordinating partners with multiple functions. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 15, 703-18.

DAVIGNON, I., CATALINA, M. D., SMITH, D., MONTGOMERY, J., SWANTEK, J., CROY, J., SIEGELMAN, M. & WILKIE, T. M. 2000. Normal Hematopoiesis and Inflammatory Responses Despite Discrete Signaling Defects in Gα15 Knockout Mice. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20, 797-804.

DAVIS, A. E., 3RD, MEJIA, P. & LU, F. 2008. Biological activities of C1 inhibitor. *Molecular Immunology*, 45, 4057-63.

DAVOUST, N., JONES, J., STAHEL, P. F., AMES, R. S. & BARNUM, S. R. 1999. Receptor for the C3a anaphylatoxin is expressed by neurons and glial cells. *Glia*, 26, 201-11.

- DEITCH, J. S., ALEXANDER, G. M., BENSINGER, A., YANG, S., JIANG, J. T. & HEIMAN-PATTERSON, T. D. 2014. Phenotype of Transgenic Mice Carrying a Very Low Copy Number of the Mutant Human G93A Superoxide Dismutase-1 Gene Associated with Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *PLoS ONE*, 9, e99879.
- DEJESUS-HERNANDEZ, M., MACKENZIE, IAN R., BOEVE, BRADLEY F., BOXER, ADAM L., BAKER, M., RUTHERFORD, NICOLA J., NICHOLSON, ALEXANDRA M., FINCH, NICOLE A., FLYNN, H., ADAMSON, J., KOURI, N., WOJTAS, A., SENGDY, P., HSIUNG, G.-YUEK R., KARYDAS, A., SEELEY, WILLIAM W., JOSEPHS, KEITH A., COPPOLA, G., GESCHWIND, DANIEL H., WSZOLEK, ZBIGNIEW K., FELDMAN, H., KNOPMAN, DAVID S., PETERSEN, RONALD C., MILLER, BRUCE L., DICKSON, DENNIS W., BOYLAN, KEVIN B., GRAFF-RADFORD, NEILL R. & RADEMAKERS, R. 2011. Expanded GGGGCC Hexanucleotide Repeat in Noncoding Region of C90RF72 Causes Chromosome 9p-Linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron*, 72, 245-56.
- DEMARTINO, J. A., VAN RIPER, G., SICILIANO, S. J., MOLINEAUX, C. J., KONTEATIS, Z. D., ROSEN, H. & SPRINGER, M. S. 1994. The amino terminus of the human C5a receptor is required for high affinity C5a binding and for receptor activation by C5a but not C5a analogs. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 14446-50.
- DENG, H.-X., CHEN, W., HONG, S.-T., BOYCOTT, K. M., GORRIE, G. H., SIDDIQUE, N., YANG, Y., FECTO, F., SHI, Y., ZHAI, H., JIANG, H., HIRANO, M., RAMPERSAUD, E., JANSEN, G. H., DONKERVOORT, S., BIGIO, E. H., BROOKS, B. R., AJROUD, K., SUFIT, R. L., HAINES, J. L., MUGNAINI, E., PERICAK-VANCE, M. A. & SIDDIQUE, T. 2011. Mutations in UBQLN2 cause dominant X-linked juvenile and adult-onset ALS and ALS/dementia. *Nature*, 477, 211-5.
- DISCIPIO, R. G., DAFFERN, P. J., JAGELS, M. A., BROIDE, D. H. & SRIRAMARAO, P. 1999. A Comparison of C3a and C5a-Mediated Stable Adhesion of Rolling Eosinophils in Postcapillary Venules and Transendothelial Migration In Vitro and In Vivo. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162, 1127-36.
- DOBROWOLNY, G., AUCELLO, M., RIZZUTO, E., BECCAFICO, S., MAMMUCARI, C., BONCOMPAGNI, S., BELIA, S., WANNENES, F., NICOLETTI, C., DEL PRETE, Z., ROSENTHAL, N., MOLINARO, M., PROTASI, F., FANO, G., SANDRI, M. & MUSARO, A. 2008. Skeletal muscle is a primary target of SOD1G93A-mediated toxicity. *Cell Metab*, 8, 425-36.
- DON, M. J., LIAO, J. F., LIN, L. Y. & CHIOU, W. F. 2007. Cryptotanshinone inhibits chemotactic migration in macrophages through negative regulation of the PI3K signaling pathway. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 151, 638-46.
- DONG, Y. & BENVENISTE, E. N. 2001. Immune function of astrocytes. *Glia*, 36, 180-90.
- DONNENFELD, H., KASCSAK, R. J. & BARTFELD, H. 1984. Deposits of IgG and C3 in the spinal cord and motor cortex of ALS patients. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 6, 51-7.
- DROUIN, S. M., KILDSGAARD, J., HAVILAND, J., ZABNER, J., JIA, H. P., MCCRAY, P. B., JR., TACK, B. F. & WETSEL, R. A. 2001. Expression of the complement anaphylatoxin C3a and C5a receptors on bronchial epithelial and smooth muscle cells in models of sepsis and asthma. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166, 2025-32.
- DRUMMOND, G. B. 2009. Reporting ethical matters in the Journal of Physiology: standards and advice. *The Journal of Physiology*, 587, 713-9.
- DUCRUET, A. F., ZACHARIA, B. E., SOSUNOV, S. A., GIGANTE, P. R., YEH, M. L., GORSKI, J. W., OTTEN, M. L., HWANG, R. Y., DEROSA, P. A., HICKMAN, Z. L., SERGOT, P. & CONNOLLY, E. S. 2012.

Complement Inhibition Promotes Endogenous Neurogenesis and Sustained Anti-Inflammatory Neuroprotection following Reperfused Stroke. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e38664.

- DUPUIS, L. & LOEFFLER, J. P. 2009. Neuromuscular junction destruction during amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: insights from transgenic models. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 9, 341-6.
- EHRENGRUBER, M. U., GEISER, T. & DERANLEAU, D. A. 1994. Activation of human neutrophils by C3a and C5A. Comparison of the effects on shape changes, chemotaxis, secretion, and respiratory burst. *FEBS Letters*, 346, 181-4.
- EL-LATI, S. G., DAHINDEN, C. A. & CHURCH, M. K. 1994. Complement peptides C3a- and C5a-induced mediator release from dissociated human skin mast cells. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 102, 803-6.
- ELSNER, J., OPPERMANN, M., CZECH, W., DOBOS, G., SCHOPF, E., NORGAUER, J. & KAPP, A. 1994a. C3a activates reactive oxygen radical species production and intracellular calcium transients in human eosinophils. *European Journal of Immunology*, 24, 518-22.
- ELSNER, J., OPPERMANN, M., CZECH, W. & KAPP, A. 1994b. C3a activates the respiratory burst in human polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leukocytes via pertussis toxin-sensitive G-proteins. *Blood*, 83, 3324-31.
- ENGELHARDT, J. I., TAJTI, J. & APPEL, S. H. 1993. Lymphocytic infiltrates in the spinal cord in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, 50, 30-36.
- FARINI, A., SITZIA, C., NAVARRO, C., D'ANTONA, G., BELICCHI, M., PAROLINI, D., DEL FRARO, G., RAZINI, P., BOTTINELLI, R., MEREGALLI, M. & TORRENTE, Y. 2012. Absence of T and B lymphocytes modulates dystrophic features in dysferlin deficient animal model. *Experimental Cell Research*, 318, 1160-74.
- FERRAIUOLO, L., HEATH, P. R., HOLDEN, H., KASHER, P., KIRBY, J. & SHAW, P. J. 2007. Microarray analysis of the cellular pathways involved in the adaptation to and progression of motor neuron injury in the SOD1 G93A mouse model of familial ALS. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 9201-19.
- FERRAIUOLO, L., HIGGINBOTTOM, A., HEATH, P. R., BARBER, S., GREENALD, D., KIRBY, J. & SHAW, P. J. 2011. Dysregulation of astrocyte-motoneuron cross-talk in mutant superoxide dismutase 1related amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain*, 134, 2627-41.
- FINK, L. N., COSTFORD, S. R., LEE, Y. S., JENSEN, T. E., BILAN, P. J., OBERBACH, A., BLÜHER, M., OLEFSKY, J. M., SAMS, A. & KLIP, A. 2014. Pro-Inflammatory macrophages increase in skeletal muscle of high fat-Fed mice and correlate with metabolic risk markers in humans. *Obesity*, 22, 747-57.
- FISCHER, L. R., CULVER, D. G., TENNANT, P., DAVIS, A. A., WANG, M., CASTELLANO-SANCHEZ, A., KHAN, J., POLAK, M. A. & GLASS, J. D. 2004. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a distal axonopathy: evidence in mice and man. *Experimental Neurology*, 185, 232-40.
- FISCHER, W. H. & HUGLI, T. E. 1997. Regulation of B cell functions by C3a and C3a(desArg): suppression of TNF-alpha, IL-6, and the polyclonal immune response. *The Journal of Immunology*, 159, 4279-86.
- FISCHER, W. H., JAGELS, M. A. & HUGLI, T. E. 1999. Regulation of IL-6 Synthesis in Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells by C3a and C3adesArg. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162, 453-9.
- FRANCIS, K., VAN BEEK, J., CANOVA, C., NEAL, J. W. & GASQUE, P. 2003. Innate immunity and brain inflammation: the key role of complement. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, 5, 1-19.
- FRASER, D. A., PISALYAPUT, K. & TENNER, A. J. 2010. C1q enhances microglial clearance of apoptotic neurons and neuronal blebs, and modulates subsequent inflammatory cytokine production. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 112, 733-43.
- FREGONESE, L., SWAN, F. J., VAN SCHADEWIJK, A., DOLHNIKOFF, M., SANTOS, M. A., DAHA, M. R., STOLK, J., TSCHERNIG, T., STERK, P. J., HIEMSTRA, P. S., RABE, K. F. & MAUAD, T. 2005. Expression of the anaphylatoxin receptors C3aR and C5aR is increased in fatal asthma. *Journal* of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 115, 1148-54.
- FREY, D., SCHNEIDER, C., XU, L., BORG, J., SPOOREN, W. & CARONI, P. 2000. Early and selective loss of neuromuscular synapse subtypes with low sprouting competence in motoneuron diseases. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 2534-42.
- FRIEC, G. & KEMPER, C. 2009. Complement: coming full circle. *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis,* 57, 393-407.

- FUJITA, T., INOUE, T., OGAWA, K., IIDA, K. & TAMURA, N. 1987. The mechanism of action of decayaccelerating factor (DAF). DAF inhibits the assembly of C3 convertases by dissociating C2a and Bb. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 166, 1221-8.
- FUKADA, Y., YASUI, K., KITAYAMA, M., DOI, K., NAKANO, T., WATANABE, Y. & NAKASHIMA, K. 2007. Gene expression analysis of the murine model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: studies of the Leu126delTT mutation in SOD1. *Brain Research*, 1160, 1-10.
- FUKUOKA, Y. & HUGLI, T. E. 1988. Demonstration of a specific C3a receptor on guinea pig platelets. *The Journal of Immunology*, 140, 3496-501.
- GALBIATI, M., ONESTO, E., ZITO, A., CRIPPA, V., RUSMINI, P., MARIOTTI, R., BENTIVOGLIO, M., BENDOTTI, C. & POLETTI, A. 2012. The anabolic/androgenic steroid nandrolone exacerbates gene expression modifications induced by mutant SOD1 in muscles of mice models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Pharmacological Research*, 65, 221-30.
- GAO, H., NEFF, T. A., GUO, R. F., SPEYER, C. L., SARMA, J. V., TOMLINS, S., MAN, Y., RIEDEMANN, N. C., HOESEL, L. M., YOUNKIN, E., ZETOUNE, F. S. & WARD, P. A. 2005. Evidence for a functional role of the second C5a receptor C5L2. *The FASEB Journal*, 19, 1003-5.
- GAO, J., CHOE, H., BOTA, D., WRIGHT, P. L., GERARD, C. & GERARD, N. P. 2003. Sulfation of Tyrosine 174 in the Human C3a Receptor Is Essential for Binding of C3a Anaphylatoxin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278, 37902-8.
- GASQUE, P., DEAN, Y. D., MCGREAL, E. P., VANBEEK, J. & MORGAN, B. P. 2000. Complement components of the innate immune system in health and disease in the CNS. *Immunopharmacology*, 49, 171-86.
- GASQUE, P., SINGHRAO, S. K., NEAL, J. W., GOTZE, O. & MORGAN, B. P. 1997. Expression of the receptor for complement C5a (CD88) is up-regulated on reactive astrocytes, microglia, and endothelial cells in the inflamed human central nervous system. *American Journal of Pathology*, 150, 31-41.
- GASQUE, P., SINGHRAO, S. K., NEAL, J. W., WANG, P., SAYAH, S., FONTAINE, M. & MORGAN, B. P. 1998. The receptor for complement anaphylatoxin C3a is expressed by myeloid cells and nonmyeloid cells in inflamed human central nervous system: analysis in multiple sclerosis and bacterial meningitis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 160, 3543-54.
- GAVRILYUK, V., KALININ, S., HILBUSH, B. S., MIDDLECAMP, A., MCGUIRE, S., PELLIGRINO, D., WEINBERG, G. & FEINSTEIN, D. L. 2005. Identification of complement 5a-like receptor (C5L2) from astrocytes: characterization of anti-inflammatory properties. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 92, 1140-9.
- GERARD, C., BAO, L., OROZCO, O., PEARSON, M., KUNZ, D. & GERARD, N. P. 1992. Structural diversity in the extracellular faces of peptidergic G-protein-coupled receptors. Molecular cloning of the mouse C5a anaphylatoxin receptor. *The Journal of Immunology*, 149, 2600-6.
- GERARD, N. P., HODGES, M. K., DRAZEN, J. M., WELLER, P. F. & GERARD, C. 1989. Characterization of a receptor for C5a anaphylatoxin on human eosinophils. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 1760-6.
- GERBER, B. O., MENG, E. C., DOTSCH, V., BARANSKI, T. J. & BOURNE, H. R. 2001. An activation switch in the ligand binding pocket of the C5a receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 3394-400.
- GOLDKNOPF, I. L., SHETA, E. A., BRYSON, J., FOLSOM, B., WILSON, C., DUTY, J., YEN, A. A. & APPEL, S. H. 2006. Complement C3c and related protein biomarkers in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Parkinson's disease. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 342, 1034-9.
- GONCALVES, F. G., CHIMELLI, L., SALLUM, A. M., MARIE, S. K., KISS, M. H. & FERRIANI, V. P. 2002. Immunohistological analysis of CD59 and membrane attack complex of complement in muscle in juvenile dermatomyositis. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 29, 1301-7.
- GOULD, T. W. 2006. Complete dissociation of motor neuron death from motor dysfunction by Bax deletion in a mouse model of ALS. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 8774-86.
- GOUVEIA, L. O. & DE CARVALHO, M. 2007. Young onset sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: A distinct nosological entity? *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis*, 8, 323-327.
- GRAVES, M. C., FIALA, M., DINGLASAN, L. A., LIU, N. Q., SAYRE, J., CHIAPPELLI, F., VAN KOOTEN, C. & VINTERS, H. V. 2004. Inflammation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord and brain is mediated by activated macrophages, mast cells and T cells. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Other Motor Neuron Disorders*, 5, 213-9.

- GREWAL, R. P., MORGAN, T. E. & FINCH, C. E. 1999. C1qB and clusterin mRNA increase in association with neurodegeneration in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neuroscience Letters*, 271, 65-7.
- GRIFFIN, J. W., GEORGE, R. & HO, T. 1993. Macrophage systems in peripheral nerves. A review. *Journal* of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology, 52, 553-60.
- GRIFFIN, J. W. & THOMPSON, W. J. 2008. Biology and pathology of nonmyelinating Schwann cells. *Glia*, 56, 1518-31.
- GUO, R. F., RIEDEMANN, N. C., BERNACKI, K. D., SARMA, V. J., LAUDES, I. J., REUBEN, J. S., YOUNKIN, E. M., NEFF, T. A., PAULAUSKIS, J. D., ZETOUNE, F. S. & WARD, P. A. 2003. Neutrophil C5a receptor and the outcome in a rat model of sepsis. *The FASEB Journal*, 17, 1889-91.
- GUO, R. F. & WARD, P. A. 2005. Role of C5a in inflammatory responses. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 23, 821-52.
- GURNEY, M., PU, H., CHIU, A., DAL CANTO, M., POLCHOW, C., ALEXANDER, D., CALIENDO, J., HENTATI, A., KWON, Y., DENG, H. & ET, A. 1994. Motor neuron degeneration in mice that express a human Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase mutation. *Science*, 264, 1772-5.
- GURNEY, M. E. 1997. The use of transgenic mouse models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in preclinical drug studies. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 152 Suppl 1, S67-73.
- GUTZMER, R., LISEWSKI, M., ZWIRNER, J., MOMMERT, S., DIESEL, C., WITTMANN, M., KAPP, A. & WERFEL, T. 2004. Human monocyte-derived dendritic cells are chemoattracted to C3a after up-regulation of the C3a receptor with interferons. *Immunology*, 111, 435-43.
- HAIDET-PHILLIPS, A. M., HESTER, M. E., MIRANDA, C. J., MEYER, K., BRAUN, L., FRAKES, A., SONG, S., LIKHITE, S., MURTHA, M. J., FOUST, K. D., RAO, M., EAGLE, A., KAMMESHEIDT, A., CHRISTENSEN, A., MENDELL, J. R., BURGHES, A. H. M. & KASPAR, B. K. 2011. Astrocytes from familial and sporadic ALS patients are toxic to motor neurons. *Nature Biotechnology*, 29, 824-28.
- HALL, E. D., OOSTVEEN, J. A. & GURNEY, M. E. 1998. Relationship of microglial and astrocytic activation to disease onset and progression in a transgenic model of familial ALS. *Glia*, 23, 249-56.
- HANANI, M. 2005. Satellite glial cells in sensory ganglia: from form to function. *Brain Research Reviews*, 48, 457-76.
- HARTMANN, K., HENZ, B. M., KRUGER-KRASAGAKES, S., KOHL, J., BURGER, R., GUHL, S., HAASE, I., LIPPERT, U. & ZUBERBIER, T. 1997. C3a and C5a stimulate chemotaxis of human mast cells. *Blood*, 89, 2863-70.
- HAVERKAMP, L. J., APPEL, V. & APPEL, S. H. 1995. Natural history of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in a database population Validation of a scoring system and a model for survival prediction. *Brain*, 118, 707-19.
- HEGEDUS, J., PUTMAN, C. T. & GORDON, T. 2007. Time course of preferential motor unit loss in the SOD1G93A mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 28, 154-164.
- HEGEDUS, J., PUTMAN, C. T., TYREMAN, N. & GORDON, T. 2008. Preferential motor unit loss in the SOD1G93A transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *The Journal of Physiology*, 586, 3337-51.
- HENRIQUES, A., PITZER, C. & SCHNEIDER, A. 2010. Characterization of a Novel SOD-1(G93A) Transgenic Mouse Line with Very Decelerated Disease Development. *PLoS ONE*, 5, e15445.
- HEURICH, B., EL IDRISSI, N. B., DONEV, R. M., PETRI, S., CLAUS, P., NEAL, J., MORGAN, B. P. & RAMAGLIA, V. 2011. Complement upregulation and activation on motor neurons and neuromuscular junction in the SOD1 G93A mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 235, 104-9.
- HOLLMANN, T. J., MUELLER-ORTIZ, S. L., BRAUN, M. C. & WETSEL, R. A. 2008. Disruption of the C5a receptor gene increases resistance to acute Gram-negative bacteremia and endotoxic shock: Opposing roles of C3a and C5a. *Molecular Immunology*, 45, 1907-15.
- HOLMØY, T. 2008. T cells in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology*, 15, 360-6.
- HOLMSKOV, U., THIEL, S. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 2003. Collectins and ficolins: Humoral Lectins of the Innate Immune Defense. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 21, 547-78.
- HOURCADE, D. E. 2006. The role of properdin in the assembly of the alternative pathway C3 convertases of complement. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 2128-32.
- HSU, M. H., EMBER, J. A., WANG, M., PROSSNITZ, E. R., HUGLI, T. E. & YE, R. D. 1997. Cloning and functional characterization of the mouse C3a anaphylatoxin receptor gene. *Immunogenetics*, 47, 64-72.
- HUBER-LANG, M., SARMA, J. V., ZETOUNE, F. S., RITTIRSCH, D., NEFF, T. A., MCGUIRE, S. R., LAMBRIS, J. D., WARNER, R. L., FLIERL, M. A., HOESEL, L. M., GEBHARD, F., YOUNGER, J. G., DROUIN, S. M., WETSEL, R. A. & WARD, P. A. 2006. Generation of C5a in the absence of C3: a new complement activation pathway. *Nature Medicine*, 12, 682-7.
- HUBER-LANG, M., YOUNKIN, E. M., SARMA, J. V., RIEDEMANN, N., MCGUIRE, S. R., LU, K. T., KUNKEL, R., YOUNGER, J. G., ZETOUNE, F. S. & WARD, P. A. 2002. Generation of C5a by Phagocytic Cells. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 161, 1849-59.
- HUBER-LANG, M. S., SARMA, J. V., MCGUIRE, S. R., LU, K. T., PADGAONKAR, V. A., YOUNKIN, E. M., GUO, R. F., WEBER, C. H., ZUIDERWEG, E. R., ZETOUNE, F. S. & WARD, P. A. 2003. Structure-Function Relationships of Human C5a and C5aR. *The Journal of Immunology*, 170, 6115-24.
- HUMAYUN, S., GOHAR, M., VOLKENING, K., MOISSE, K., LEYSTRA-LANTZ, C., MEPHAM, J., MCLEAN, J. & STRONG, M. J. 2009. The complement factor C5a receptor is upregulated in NFL-/- mouse motor neurons. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 210, 52-62.
- ISCHENKO, A., SAYAH, S., PATTE, C., ANDREEV, S., GASQUE, P., SCHOUFT, M. T., VAUDRY, H. & FONTAINE, M. 1998. Expression of a functional anaphylatoxin C3a receptor by astrocytes. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 71, 2487-96.
- ISHITOBI, M., HAGINOYA, K., ZHAO, Y., OHNUMA, A., MINATO, J., YANAGISAWA, T., TANABU, M., KIKUCHI, M. & IINUMA, K. 2000. Elevated plasma levels of transforming growth factor beta1 in patients with muscular dystrophy. *Neuroreport*, 11, 4033-5.
- JAARSMA, D., TEULING, E., HAASDIJK, E. D., DE ZEEUW, C. I. & HOOGENRAAD, C. C. 2008. Neuronspecific expression of mutant superoxide dismutase is sufficient to induce amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in transgenic mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 2075-88.
- JACOB, A., BAO, L., BRORSON, J., QUIGG, R. J. & ALEXANDER, J. J. 2010. C3aR inhibition reduces neurodegeneration in experimental lupus. *Lupus*, 19, 73-82.
- JAGELS, M. A., DAFFERN, P. J. & HUGLI, T. E. 2000. C3a and C5a enhance granulocyte adhesion to endothelial and epithelial cell monolayers: epithelial and endothelial priming is required for C3a-induced eosinophil adhesion. *Immunopharmacology*, 46, 209-22.
- JANEWAY, C. A., JR, P. T., WALPORT, M. & SHLOMCHIK., M. J. 2011. *Immunobiology*, New York: Garland Science.
- JESSEN, K. R. & MIRSKY, R. 2005. The origin and development of glial cells in peripheral nerves. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6, 671-82.
- JIANG, Y. M., YAMAMOTO, M., KOBAYASHI, Y., YOSHIHARA, T., LIANG, Y., TERAO, S., TAKEUCHI, H., ISHIGAKI, S., KATSUNO, M., ADACHI, H., NIWA, J., TANAKA, F., DOYU, M., YOSHIDA, M., HASHIZUME, Y. & SOBUE, G. 2005. Gene expression profile of spinal motor neurons in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 57, 236-51.
- JOHNSON, J. O., MANDRIOLI, J., BENATAR, M., ABRAMZON, Y., VAN DEERLIN, V. M., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., GIBBS, J. R., BRUNETTI, M., GRONKA, S., WUU, J., DING, J., MCCLUSKEY, L., MARTINEZ-LAGE, M., FALCONE, D., HERNANDEZ, D. G., AREPALLI, S., CHONG, S., SCHYMICK, J. C., ROTHSTEIN, J., LANDI, F., WANG, Y. D., CALVO, A., MORA, G., SABATELLI, M., MONSURRO, M. R., BATTISTINI, S., SALVI, F., SPATARO, R., SOLA, P., BORGHERO, G., GALASSI, G., SCHOLZ, S. W., TAYLOR, J. P., RESTAGNO, G., CHIO, A. & TRAYNOR, B. J. 2010. Exome sequencing reveals VCP mutations as a cause of familial ALS. *Neuron*, 68, 857-64.
- JOHNSTON, C., STANTON, B., TURNER, M., GRAY, R., BLUNT, A.-M., BUTT, D., AMPONG, M.-A., SHAW, C., LEIGH, P. N. & AL-CHALABI, A. 2006. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in an urban setting. *Journal* of Neurology, 253, 1642-43.
- JÓZSI, M. & ZIPFEL, P. F. 2008. Factor H family proteins and human diseases. *Trends in Immunology*, 29, 380-7.
- JULIA, A. E., MARK, A. J. & TONY, E. H. 1998. Characterization of Complement Anaphylatoxins and Their Biological Responses. *The Human Complement System in Health and Disease.* CRC Press, pp 241-84.

- KANG, H., TIAN, L., MIKESH, M., LICHTMAN, J. W. & THOMPSON, W. J. 2014. Terminal Schwann Cells Participate in Neuromuscular Synapse Remodeling during Reinnervation following Nerve Injury. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34, 6323-33.
- KANG, S. H., LI, Y., FUKAYA, M., LORENZINI, I., CLEVELAND, D. W., OSTROW, L. W., ROTHSTEIN, J. D. & BERGLES, D. E. 2013. Degeneration and impaired regeneration of gray matter oligodendrocytes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16, 571-9.
- KASSMANN, C. M., LAPPE-SIEFKE, C., BAES, M., BRUGGER, B., MILDNER, A., WERNER, H. B., NATT, O., MICHAELIS, T., PRINZ, M., FRAHM, J. & NAVE, K. A. 2007. Axonal loss and neuroinflammation caused by peroxisome-deficient oligodendrocytes. *Nature Genetics*, 39, 969-76.
- KAUL, M. & LOOS, M. 2001. Expression of membrane C1q in human monocyte-derived macrophages is developmentally regulated and enhanced by interferon-γ. *FEBS Letters*, 500, 91-98.
- KAWAMATA, T., AKIYAMA, H., YAMADA, T. & MCGEER, P. L. 1992. Immunologic reactions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis brain and spinal cord tissue. *American Journal of Pathology*, 140, 691-707.
- KIEFER, R., FUNA, K., SCHWEITZER, T., JUNG, S., BOURDE, O., TOYKA, K. V. & HARTUNG, H. P. 1996. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 in experimental autoimmune neuritis. Cellular localization and time course. *American Journal of Pathology*, 148, 211-23.
- KIERNAN, M. C., VUCIC, S., CHEAH, B. C., TURNER, M. R., EISEN, A., HARDIMAN, O., BURRELL, J. R. & ZOING, M. C. 2011. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *The Lancet*, 377, 942-55.
- KIESEIER, B. C., HARTUNG, H. P. & WIENDL, H. 2006. Immune circuitry in the peripheral nervous system. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 19, 437-45.
- KLOS, A., BANK, S., GIETZ, C., BAUTSCH, W., KOHL, J., BURG, M. & KRETZSCHMAR, T. 1992. C3a receptor on dibutyryl-cAMP-differentiated U937 cells and human neutrophils: the human C3a receptor characterized by functional responses and 125I-C3a binding. *Biochemistry*, 31, 11274-82.
- KLOS, A., TENNER, A. J., JOHSWICH, K.-O., AGER, R. R., REIS, E. S. & KÖHL, J. 2009. The role of the anaphylatoxins in health and disease. *Molecular Immunology*, 46, 2753-66.
- KLOS, A., WENDE, E., WAREHAM, K. J. & MONK, P. N. 2013. International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXXVII. Complement Peptide C5a, C4a, and C3a Receptors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 65, 500-43.
- KOLEVA, M., SCHLAF, G., LANDMANN, R., GOTZE, O., JUNGERMANN, K. & SCHIEFERDECKER, H. L. 2002. Induction of anaphylatoxin C5a receptors in rat hepatocytes by lipopolysaccharide in vivo: mediation by interleukin-6 from Kupffer cells. *Gastroenterology*, 122, 697-708.
- KOROTZER, A. R., WATT, J., CRIBBS, D., TENNER, A. J., BURDICK, D., GLABE, C. & COTMAN, C. W. 1995. Cultured rat microglia express C1q and receptor for C1q: implications for amyloid effects on microglia. *Experimental Neurology*, 134, 214-21.
- KOSTIC, V., JACKSON-LEWIS, V., DE BILBAO, F., DUBOIS-DAUPHIN, M. & PRZEDBORSKI, S. 1997. Bcl-2: Prolonging Life in a Transgenic Mouse Model of Familial Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Science*, 277, 559-63.
- KRETZSCHMAR, T., JEROMIN, A., GIETZ, C., BAUTSCH, W., KLOS, A., KOHL, J., RECHKEMMER, G. & BITTER-SUERMANN, D. 1993. Chronic myelogenous leukemia-derived basophilic granulocytes express a functional active receptor for the anaphylatoxin C3a. *European Journal of Immunology*, 23, 558-61.
- KREUTZBERG, G. W. 1996. Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 19, 312-18.
- KUPP, L. I., KOSCO, M. H., SCHENKEIN, H. A. & TEW, J. G. 1991. Chemotaxis of germinal center B cells in response to C5a. *European Journal of Immunology*, 21, 2697-701.
- KWAN, W. H., VAN DER TOUW, W., PAZ-ARTAL, E., LI, M. O. & HEEGER, P. S. 2013. Signaling through C5a receptor and C3a receptor diminishes function of murine natural regulatory T cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 210, 257-68.
- LA SALA, A., GADINA, M. & KELSALL, B. L. 2005. G(i)-protein-dependent inhibition of IL-12 production is mediated by activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-protein 3 kinase B/Akt pathway and JNK. *The Journal of Immunology*, 175, 2994-9.
- LACHMANN, P. 2006. Complement before molecular biology. *Molecular Immunology*, 43, 496-508.

- LAMBRIS, J. D. 1988. The multifunctional role of C3, the third component of complement. *Immunology Today*, 9, 387-93.
- LANGKABEL, P., ZWIRNER, J. & OPPERMANN, M. 1999. Ligand-induced phosphorylation of anaphylatoxin receptors C3aR and C5aR is mediated by "G protein-coupled receptor kinases. *European Journal of Immunology*, 29, 3035-46.
- LEE, D. K., GEORGE, S. R., CHENG, R., NGUYEN, T., LIU, Y., BROWN, M., LYNCH, K. R. & O'DOWD, B. F. 2001. Identification of four novel human G protein-coupled receptors expressed in the brain. *Molecular Brain Research*, 86, 13-22.
- LEE, H., WHITFELD, P. L. & MACKAY, C. R. 2008. Receptors for complement C5a. The importance of C5aR and the enigmatic role of C5L2. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 86, 153-60.
- LEE, J. D., KAMARUZAMAN, N. A., FUNG, J. N. T., TAYLOR, S. M., TURNER, B. J., ATKIN, J. D., WOODRUFF, T. M. & NOAKES, P. G. 2013. Dysregulation of the complement cascade in the hSOD1G93A transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10, 119.
- LEE, J. D., LEE, J. Y., TAYLOR, S. M. & NOAKES, P. G. 2012a. *Innate Immunity in ALS*, InTech, 393-412.
- LEE, Y., MORRISON, B. M., LI, Y., LENGACHER, S., FARAH, M. H., HOFFMAN, P. N., LIU, Y., TSINGALIA, A., JIN, L., ZHANG, P.-W., PELLERIN, L., MAGISTRETTI, P. J. & ROTHSTEIN, J. D. 2012b. Oligodendroglia metabolically support axons and contribute to neurodegeneration. *Nature*, 487, 443-8.
- LEGLER, D. F., LOETSCHER, M., JONES, S. A., DAHINDEN, C. A., AROCK, M. & MOSER, B. 1996. Expression of high- and low-affinity receptors for C3a on the human mast cell line, HMC-1. *European Journal of Immunology*, 26, 753-8.
- LESLIE, R. G. Q. & HANSEN, S. 2001. Complement Receptors. eLS. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- LETT-BROWN, M. A. & LEONARD, E. J. 1977. Histamine-induced inhibition of normal human basophil chemotaxis to C5a. *The Journal of Immunology*, 118, 815-8.
- LEVI-STRAUSS, M. & MALLAT, M. 1987. Primary cultures of murine astrocytes produce C3 and factor B, two components of the alternative pathway of complement activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 139, 2361-6.
- LIN, H. & SCHLAEPFER, W. W. 2006. Role of neurofilament aggregation in motor neuron disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 60, 399-406.
- LISZEWSKI, M. K., POST, T. W. & ATKINSON, J. P. 1991. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46): newest member of the regulators of complement activation gene cluster. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 9, 431-55.
- LIU, J., LILLO, C., JONSSON, P. A., VANDE VELDE, C., WARD, C. M., MILLER, T. M., SUBRAMANIAM, J. R., ROTHSTEIN, J. D., MARKLUND, S., ANDERSEN, P. M., BRANNSTROM, T., GREDAL, O., WONG, P. C., WILLIAMS, D. S. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2004. Toxicity of familial ALS-linked SOD1 mutants from selective recruitment to spinal mitochondria. *Neuron*, 43, 5-17.
- LIVAK, K. J. & SCHMITTGEN, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- LOBSIGER, C. S., BOILLÉE, S. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2007. Toxicity from different SOD1 mutants dysregulates the complement system and the neuronal regenerative response in ALS motor neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 7319-26.
- LOBSIGER, C. S., BOILLEE, S., MCALONIS-DOWNES, M., KHAN, A. M., FELTRI, M. L., YAMANAKA, K. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2009. Schwann cells expressing dismutase active mutant SOD1 unexpectedly slow disease progression in ALS mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106, 4465-70.
- LOBSIGER, C. S., BOILLEE, S., POZNIAK, C., KHAN, A. M., MCALONIS-DOWNES, M., LEWCOCK, J. W. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2013. C1q induction and global complement pathway activation do not contribute to ALS toxicity in mutant SOD1 mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110, E4385-92.
- LUBLIN, D. M. & ATKINSON, J. P. 1989. Decay-accelerating factor: biochemistry, molecular biology, and function. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 7, 35-58.

- MAHONEY, D. J., KACZOR, J. J., BOURGEOIS, J., YASUDA, N. & TARNOPOLSKY, M. A. 2006. Oxidative stress and antioxidant enzyme upregulation in SOD1-G93A mouse skeletal muscle. *Muscle and Nerve*, 33, 809-16.
- MAMANE, Y., CHUNG CHAN, C., LAVALLEE, G., MORIN, N., XU, L. J., HUANG, J., GORDON, R., THOMAS, W., LAMB, J., SCHADT, E. E., KENNEDY, B. P. & MANCINI, J. A. 2009. The C3a anaphylatoxin receptor is a key mediator of insulin resistance and functions by modulating adipose tissue macrophage infiltration and activation. *Diabetes*, 58, 2006-17.
- MANFREDI, G. & XU, Z. 2005. Mitochondrial dysfunction and its role in motor neuron degeneration in ALS. *Mitochondrion*, 5, 77-87.
- MANTOVANI, A., SICA, A. & LOCATI, M. 2005. Macrophage Polarization Comes of Age. *Immunity*, 23, 344-46.
- MANTOVANI, A., SICA, A., SOZZANI, S., ALLAVENA, P., VECCHI, A. & LOCATI, M. 2004. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends in Immunology*, 25, 677-86.
- MANTOVANI, S., GORDON, R., MACMAW, J. K., PFLUGER, C. M. M., HENDERSON, R. D., NOAKES, P. G., MCCOMBE, P. A. & WOODRUFF, T. M. 2014. Elevation of the terminal complement activation products C5a and C5b-9 in ALS patient blood. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 276, 213-18.
- MARKIEWSKI, M. M., NILSSON, B., EKDAHL, K. N., MOLLNES, T. E. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2007. Complement and coagulation: strangers or partners in crime? *Trends in Immunology*, 28, 184-92.
- MARTIN, U., BOCK, D., ARSENIEV, L., TORNETTA, M. A., AMES, R. S., BAUTSCH, W., KOHL, J., GANSER, A. & KLOS, A. 1997. The human C3a receptor is expressed on neutrophils and monocytes, but not on B or T lymphocytes. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 186, 199-207.
- MARTORANA, F., BRAMBILLA, L., VALORI, C. F., BERGAMASCHI, C., RONCORONI, C., ARONICA, E., VOLTERRA, A., BEZZI, P. & ROSSI, D. 2012. The BH4 domain of Bcl-X(L) rescues astrocyte degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis by modulating intracellular calcium signals. *Human Molecular Genetics,* 21, 826-40.
- MCGEER, P. L. & MCGEER, E. G. 2002. Inflammatory processes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve*, 26, 459-70.
- MERLE, N. S., CHURCH, S. E., FREMEAUX-BACCHI, V. & ROUMENINA, L. T. 2015. Complement System Part I - Molecular Mechanisms of Activation and Regulation. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 6, 262.
- MERY, L. & BOULAY, F. 1993. Evidence that the extracellular N-terminal domain of C5aR contains amino-acid residues crucial for C5a binding. *European Journal of Haematology*, 51, 282-7.
- MIWA, T. & SONG, W.-C. 2001. Membrane complement regulatory proteins: insight from animal studies and relevance to human diseases. *International Immunopharmacology*, 1, 445-59.
- MOLONEY, E. B., DE WINTER, F. & VERHAAGEN, J. 2014. ALS as a distal axonopathy: molecular mechanisms affecting neuromuscular junction stability in the presymptomatic stages of the disease. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 8, 252.
- MONK, P. N. & PARTRIDGE, L. J. 1993. Characterization of a complement-fragment-C5a-stimulated calcium-influx mechanism in U937 monocytic cells. *Biochemical Journal*, 295, 679-84.
- MONSINJON, T., GASQUE, P., CHAN, P., ISCHENKO, A., BRADY, J. J. & FONTAINE, M. C. 2003. Regulation by complement C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins of cytokine production in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *The FASEB Journal*, 17, 1003-14.
- MORELLI, A., LARREGINA, A., CHULUYAN, I., KOLKOWSKI, E. & FAINBOIM, L. 1996. Expression and modulation of C5a receptor (CD88) on skin dendritic cells. Chemotactic effect of C5a on skin migratory dendritic cells. *Immunology*, 89, 126-34.
- MORGAN, B. P. & GASQUE, P. 1996. Expression of complement in the brain: role in health and disease. *Immunology Today*, 17, 461-6.
- MORGAN, B. P., MARCHBANK, K. J., LONGHI, M. P., HARRIS, C. L. & GALLIMORE, A. M. 2005. Complement: central to innate immunity and bridging to adaptive responses. *Immunology Letters*, 97, 171-9.
- MORTENSEN, S., KIDMOSE, R. T., PETERSEN, S. V., SZILAGYI, A., PROHASZKA, Z. & ANDERSEN, G. R. 2015. Structural Basis for the Function of Complement Component C4 within the Classical and Lectin Pathways of Complement. *The Journal of Immunology*, 194, 5488-96.
- MOURELATOS, Z., GONATAS, N. K., STIEBER, A., GURNEY, M. E. & DAL CANTO, M. C. 1996. The Golgi apparatus of spinal cord motor neurons in transgenic mice expressing mutant Cu,Zn

superoxide dismutase becomes fragmented in early, preclinical stages of the disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93, 5472-7.

- MULLMANN, T. J., SIEGEL, M. I., EGAN, R. W. & BILLAH, M. M. 1990. Complement C5a activation of phospholipase D in human neutrophils. A major route to the production of phosphatidates and diglycerides. *The Journal of Immunology*, 144, 1901-8.
- MURAKAMI, Y., IMAMICHI, T. & NAGASAWA, S. 1993. Characterization of C3a anaphylatoxin receptor on guinea-pig macrophages. *Immunology*, 79, 633-8.
- MURRAY, P. J. & WYNN, T. A. 2011. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 11, 723-37.
- NAGAI, M., RE, D. B., NAGATA, T., CHALAZONITIS, A., JESSELL, T. M., WICHTERLE, H. & PRZEDBORSKI, S. 2007. Astrocytes expressing ALS-linked mutated SOD1 release factors selectively toxic to motor neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10, 615-22.
- NATAF, S., DAVOUST, N., AMES, R. S. & BARNUM, S. R. 1999. Human T cells express the C5a receptor and are chemoattracted to C5a. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162, 4018-23.
- NAVENOT, J. M., VILLANOVA, M., LUCAS-HERON, B., MALANDRINI, A., BLANCHARD, D. & LOUBOUTIN, J. P. 1997. Expression of CD59, a regulator of the membrane attack complex of complement, on human skeletal muscle fibers. *Muscle Nerve*, 20, 92-6.
- NETTESHEIM, D. G., EDALJI, R. P., MOLLISON, K. W., GREER, J. & ZUIDERWEG, E. R. 1988. Secondary structure of complement component C3a anaphylatoxin in solution as determined by NMR spectroscopy: differences between crystal and solution conformations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 85, 5036-40.
- NILSSON, G., JOHNELL, M., HAMMER, C. H., TIFFANY, H. L., NILSSON, K., METCALFE, D. D., SIEGBAHN, A. & MURPHY, P. M. 1996. C3a and C5a are chemotaxins for human mast cells and act through distinct receptors via a pertussis toxin-sensitive signal transduction pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, 157, 1693-8.
- NORDAHL, E. A., RYDENGÅRD, V., NYBERG, P., NITSCHE, D. P., MÖRGELIN, M., MALMSTEN, M., BJÖRCK, L. & SCHMIDTCHEN, A. 2004. Activation of the complement system generates antibacterial peptides. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 16879-84.
- NORGAUER, J., DOBOS, G., KOWNATZKI, E., DAHINDEN, C., BURGER, R., KUPPER, R. & GIERSCHIK, P. 1993. Complement fragment C3a stimulates Ca2+ influx in neutrophils via a pertussis-toxinsensitive G protein. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 217, 289-94.
- OGDEN, C. A., DECATHELINEAU, A., HOFFMANN, P. R., BRATTON, D., GHEBREHIWET, B., FADOK, V. A. & HENSON, P. M. 2001. C1q and mannose binding lectin engagement of cell surface calreticulin and CD91 initiates macropinocytosis and uptake of apoptotic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 194, 781-95.
- OHNO, M., HIRATA, T., ENOMOTO, M., ARAKI, T., ISHIMARU, H. & TAKAHASHI, T. A. 2000. A putative chemoattractant receptor, C5L2, is expressed in granulocyte and immature dendritic cells, but not in mature dendritic cells. *Molecular Immunology*, 37, 407-12.
- OKINAGA, S., SLATTERY, D., HUMBLES, A., ZSENGELLER, Z., MORTEAU, O., KINRADE, M. B., BRODBECK, R. M., KRAUSE, J. E., CHOE, H. R., GERARD, N. P. & GERARD, C. 2003. C5L2, a nonsignaling C5A binding protein. *Biochemistry*, 42, 9406-15.
- OTTONELLO, L., CORCIONE, A., TORTOLINA, G., AIROLDI, I., ALBESIANO, E., FAVRE, A., D'AGOSTINO, R., MALAVASI, F., PISTOIA, V. & DALLEGRI, F. 1999. rC5a directs the in vitro migration of human memory and naive tonsillar B lymphocytes: implications for B cell trafficking in secondary lymphoid tissues. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162, 6510-7.
- PANGBURN, M. K. & MULLER-EBERHARD, H. J. 1983. Initiation of the alternative complement pathway due to spontaneous hydrolysis of the thioester of C3. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 421, 291-8.
- PANSARASA, O., ROSSI, D., BERARDINELLI, A. & CEREDA, C. 2014. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and skeletal muscle: an update. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 49, 984-90.
- PARAKH, S., SPENCER, D. M., HALLORAN, M. A., SOO, K. Y. & ATKIN, J. D. 2013. Redox regulation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2013, 408681.

- PARKHOUSE, W. S., CUNNINGHAM, L., MCFEE, I., MILLER, J. M., WHITNEY, D., PELECH, S. L. & KRIEGER, C. 2008. Neuromuscular dysfunction in the mutant superoxide dismutase mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*, 9, 24-34.
- PASINELLI, P., BELFORD, M. E., LENNON, N., BACSKAI, B. J., HYMAN, B. T., TROTTI, D. & BROWN, R. H., JR. 2004. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-associated SOD1 mutant proteins bind and aggregate with Bcl-2 in spinal cord mitochondria. *Neuron*, 43, 19-30.
- PAVLOVSKI, D., THUNDYIL, J., MONK, P. N., WETSEL, R. A., TAYLOR, S. M. & WOODRUFF, T. M. 2012. Generation of complement component C5a by ischemic neurons promotes neuronal apoptosis. *The FASEB Journal*, 26, 3680-90.
- PERIANAYAGAM, M. C., BALAKRISHNAN, V. S., KING, A. J., PEREIRA, B. J. & JABER, B. L. 2002. C5a delays apoptosis of human neutrophils by a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-signaling pathway. *Kidney International*, 61, 456-63.
- PERRIN, F. E., BOISSET, G., DOCQUIER, M., SCHAAD, O., DESCOMBES, P. & KATO, A. C. 2005. No widespread induction of cell death genes occurs in pure motoneurons in an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mouse model. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 14, 3309-20.
- PETTE, D. & STARON, R. S. 2000. Myosin isoforms, muscle fiber types, and transitions. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 50, 500-9.
- PHATNANI, H. P., GUARNIERI, P., FRIEDMAN, B. A., CARRASCO, M. A., MURATET, M., O'KEEFFE, S., NWAKEZE, C., PAULI-BEHN, F., NEWBERRY, K. M., MEADOWS, S. K., TAPIA, J. C., MYERS, R. M. & MANIATIS, T. 2013. Intricate interplay between astrocytes and motor neurons in ALS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110, E756-65.
- PHILIPS, T., BENTO-ABREU, A., NONNEMAN, A., HAECK, W., STAATS, K., GEELEN, V., HERSMUS, N., KÜSTERS, B., VAN DEN BOSCH, L., VAN DAMME, P., RICHARDSON, W. D. & ROBBERECHT, W. 2013. Oligodendrocyte dysfunction in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain*, 136, 471-82.
- PIERI, M., CARUNCHIO, I., CURCIO, L., MERCURI, N. B. & ZONA, C. 2009. Increased persistent sodium current determines cortical hyperexcitability in a genetic model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Experimental Neurology*, 215, 368-379.
- PIETERS, W. R., HOUBEN, L. A., KOENDERMAN, L. & RAAIJMAKERS, J. A. 1995. C5a-induced migration of human monocytes is primed by dexamethasone. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 12, 691-6.
- PILLON, N. J., BILAN, P. J., FINK, L. N. & KLIP, A. 2013. Cross-talk between skeletal muscle and immune cells: muscle-derived mediators and metabolic implications. *The American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 304, E453-65.
- PLOPLIS, V. A., EDGINGTON, T. S. & FAIR, D. S. 1987. Initiation of the extrinsic pathway of coagulation. Association of factor VIIa with a cell line expressing tissue factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262, 9503-8.
- PREISSNER, K. T. & SEIFFERT, D. 1998. Role of Vitronectin and Its Receptors in Haemostasis and Vascular Remodeling. *Thrombosis Research*, 89, 1-21.
- PUN, S., SANTOS, A. F., SAXENA, S., XU, L. & CARONI, P. 2006. Selective vulnerability and pruning of phasic motoneuron axons in motoneuron disease alleviated by CNTF. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9, 408-19.
- RAHPEYMAI, Y., HIETALA, M. A., WILHELMSSON, U., FOTHERINGHAM, A., DAVIES, I., NILSSON, A. K., ZWIRNER, J., WETSEL, R. A., GERARD, C., PEKNY, M. & PEKNA, M. 2006. Complement: a novel factor in basal and ischemia-induced neurogenesis. *The EMBO Journal*, 25, 1364-74.
- RAMAGLIA, V. & BAAS, F. 2009. Innate immunity in the nervous system. *Progress in Brain Research*, 175, 95-123.
- REICHERT, F., SAADA, A. & ROTSHENKER, S. 1994. Peripheral nerve injury induces Schwann cells to express two macrophage phenotypes: phagocytosis and the galactose-specific lectin MAC-2. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 3231-45.
- REID, K. B. 1983. Proteins involved in the activation and control of the two pathways of human complement. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 11, 1-12.
- REIS, E. S., BARBUTO, J. A. & ISAAC, L. 2007. Complement components, regulators and receptors are produced by human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Immunobiology*, 212, 151-7.

- RIBAS, C., PENELA, P., MURGA, C., SALCEDO, A., GARCIA-HOZ, C., JURADO-PUEYO, M., AYMERICH, I. & MAYOR, F., JR. 2007. The G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRK) interactome: role of GRKs in GPCR regulation and signaling. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1768, 913-22.
- RICKLIN, D., HAJISHENGALLIS, G., YANG, K. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2010. Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. *Nature Immunology*, 11, 785-97.
- RICKLIN, D. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2013. Complement in immune and inflammatory disorders: pathophysiological mechanisms. *The Journal of Immunology*, 190, 3831-38.
- RIVIER, A., CHANEZ, P., PENE, J., MICHEL, F. B., GODARD, P., DUGAS, B. & BOUSQUET, J. 1994. Modulation of phenotypic and functional properties of normal human mononuclear phagocytes by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology*, 104, 27-32.
- ROSEN, D. R., SIDDIQUE, T., PATTERSON, D., FIGLEWICZ, D. A., SAPP, P., HENTATI, A., DONALDSON, D., GOTO, J., O'REGAN, J. P., DENG, H.-X., RAHMANI, Z., KRIZUS, A., MCKENNA-YASEK, D., CAYABYAB, A., GASTON, S. M., BERGER, R., TANZI, R. E., HALPERIN, J. J., HERZFELDT, B., VAN DEN BERGH, R., HUNG, W.-Y., BIRD, T., DENG, G., MULDER, D. W., SMYTH, C., LAING, N. G., SORIANO, E., PERICAK-VANCE, M. A., HAINES, J., ROULEAU, G. A., GUSELLA, J. S., HORVITZ, H. R. & BROWN, R. H. 1993. Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*, 362, 59-62.
- ROSSI, D., BRAMBILLA, L., VALORI, C. F., RONCORONI, C., CRUGNOLA, A., YOKOTA, T., BREDESEN, D. E. & VOLTERRA, A. 2008. Focal degeneration of astrocytes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 15, 1691-700.
- ROWLAND, L. P. & SHNEIDER, N. A. 2001. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 344, 1688-1700.
- SAGOT, Y., DUBOIS-DAUPHIN, M., TAN, S. A., DE BILBAO, F., AEBISCHER, P., MARTINOU, J. C. & KATO, A. C. 1995. Bcl-2 overexpression prevents motoneuron cell body loss but not axonal degeneration in a mouse model of a neurodegenerative disease. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 15, 7727-33.
- SARMA, J. V. & WARD, P. A. 2012. New developments in C5a receptor signaling. *Cell Health Cytoskelet*, 4, 73-82.
- SAXENA, S., CABUY, E. & CARONI, P. 2009. A role for motoneuron subtype-selective ER stress in disease manifestations of FALS mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, 12, 627-36.
- SAYAH, S., JAUNEAU, A. C., PATTE, C., TONON, M. C., VAUDRY, H. & FONTAINE, M. 2003. Two different transduction pathways are activated by C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins on astrocytes. *Molecular Brain Research*, 112, 53-60.
- SCHAEFER, A. M., SANES, J. R. & LICHTMAN, J. W. 2005. A compensatory subpopulation of motor neurons in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 490, 209-19.
- SCHAFER, D. P. & STEVENS, B. 2010. Synapse elimination during development and disease: immune molecules take centre stage. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 38, 476-81.
- SCHLAF, G., SCHMITZ, M., HEINE, I., DEMBERG, T., SCHIEFERDECKER, H. L. & GOTZE, O. 2004. Upregulation of fibronectin but not of entactin, collagen IV and smooth muscle actin by anaphylatoxin C5a in rat hepatic stellate cells. *Histology and Histopathology*, 19, 1165-74.
- SCHRAUFSTATTER, I. U., TRIEU, K., SIKORA, L., SRIRAMARAO, P. & DISCIPIO, R. 2002. Complement C3a and C5a Induce Different Signal Transduction Cascades in Endothelial Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 169, 2102-10.
- SCHWARZ, M., SPATH, L., LUX, C. A., PAPROTKA, K., TORZEWSKI, M., DERSCH, K., KOCH-BRANDT, C., HUSMANN, M. & BHAKDI, S. 2008. Potential protective role of apoprotein J (clusterin) in atherogenesis: binding to enzymatically modified low-density lipoprotein reduces fatty acidmediated cytotoxicity. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 100, 110-8.
- SHAW, P. J. 2005. Molecular and cellular pathways of neurodegeneration in motor neurone disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 76, 1046-1057.
- SHAW, P. J. & EGGETT, C. J. 2000. Molecular factors underlying selective vulnerability of motor neurons to neurodegeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 247 Suppl 1, 117-27.
- SHAW, P. J. & INCE, P. G. 1997. Glutamate, excitotoxicity and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 244 Suppl 2, S3-14.

- SHEN, Y., HALPERIN, J. A. & LEE, C. M. 1995. Complement-mediated neurotoxicity is regulated by homologous restriction. *Brain Research*, 671, 282-92.
- SICA, A. & MANTOVANI, A. 2012. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 122, 787-95.
- SKOKOWA, J., ALI, S. R., FELDA, O., KUMAR, V., KONRAD, S., SHUSHAKOVA, N., SCHMIDT, R. E., PIEKORZ, R. P., NURNBERG, B., SPICHER, K., BIRNBAUMER, L., ZWIRNER, J., CLAASSENS, J. W., VERBEEK, J. S., VAN ROOIJEN, N., KOHL, J. & GESSNER, J. E. 2005. Macrophages induce the inflammatory response in the pulmonary Arthus reaction through G alpha i2 activation that controls C5aR and Fc receptor cooperation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 174, 3041-50.
- SMERDU, V., KARSCH-MIZRACHI, I., CAMPIONE, M., LEINWAND, L. & SCHIAFFINO, S. 1994. Type IIx myosin heavy chain transcripts are expressed in type IIb fibers of human skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology*, 267, C1723-8.
- SMITTKAMP, S. E., MORRIS, J. K., BOMHOFF, G. L., CHERTOFF, M. E., GEIGER, P. C. & STANFORD, J. A. 2014. SOD1-G93A mice exhibit muscle fiber type-specific decreases in glucose uptake in the absence of whole body changes in metabolism. *Neuro-degenerative Diseases*, 13, 29-37.
- SOLTYS, J. & WU, X. 2012. Complement regulatory protein Crry deficiency contributes to the antigen specific recall response in experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Journal of Inflammation*, 9, 20.
- SON, Y. J. & THOMPSON, W. J. 1995. Schwann cell processes guide regeneration of peripheral axons. *Neuron*, 14, 125-32.
- SOTELO-SILVEIRA, J. R., LEPANTO, P., ELIZONDO, V., HORJALES, S., PALACIOS, F., MARTINEZ-PALMA, L., MARIN, M., BECKMAN, J. S. & BARBEITO, L. 2009. Axonal mitochondrial clusters containing mutant SOD1 in transgenic models of ALS. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 11, 1535-45.
- SREEDHARAN, J., BLAIR, I. P., TRIPATHI, V. B., HU, X., VANCE, C., ROGELJ, B., ACKERLEY, S., DURNALL, J. C., WILLIAMS, K. L., BURATTI, E., BARALLE, F., DE BELLEROCHE, J., MITCHELL, J. D., LEIGH, P. N., AL-CHALABI, A., MILLER, C. C., NICHOLSON, G. & SHAW, C. E. 2008. TDP-43 Mutations in Familial and Sporadic Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Science*, 319, 1668-72.
- STEPHAN, A. H., BARRES, B. A. & STEVENS, B. 2012. The complement system: an unexpected role in synaptic pruning during development and disease. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35, 369-89.
- STEVENS, B., ALLEN, N. J., VAZQUEZ, L. E., HOWELL, G. R., CHRISTOPHERSON, K. S., NOURI, N., MICHEVA, K. D., MEHALOW, A. K., HUBERMAN, A. D., STAFFORD, B., SHER, A., LITKE, A. M., LAMBRIS, J. D., SMITH, S. J., JOHN, S. W. & BARRES, B. A. 2007. The classical complement cascade mediates CNS synapse elimination. *Cell*, 131, 1164-78.
- STIMLER, N. P., BLOOR, C. M. & HUGLI, T. E. 1983. C3a-induced contraction of guinea pig lung parenchyma: role of cyclooxygenase metabolites. *Immunopharmacology*, 5, 251-7.
- STRAINIC, M. G., LIU, J., HUANG, D., AN, F., LALLI, P. N., MUQIM, N., SHAPIRO, V. S., DUBYAK, G. R., HEEGER, P. S. & MEDOF, M. E. 2008. Locally produced complement fragments C5a and C3a provide both costimulatory and survival signals to naive CD4+ T cells. *Immunity*, 28, 425-35.
- STRAINIC, M. G., SHEVACH, E. M., AN, F., LIN, F. & MEDOF, M. E. 2013. Absence of signaling into CD4(+) cells via C3aR and C5aR enables autoinductive TGF-beta1 signaling and induction of Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Nature Immunology*, 14, 162-71.
- STRONG, M. & ROSENFELD, J. 2003. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a review of current concepts. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Other Motor Neuron Disorders*, 4, 136-43.
- SUBRAMANIAN, H., KASHEM, S. W., COLLINGTON, S. J., QU, H., LAMBRIS, J. D. & ALI, H. 2011. PMX-53 as a dual CD88 antagonist and an agonist for Mas-related gene 2 (MrgX2) in human mast cells. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 79, 1005-13.
- SUMMAN, M., WARREN, G. L., MERCER, R. R., CHAPMAN, R., HULDERMAN, T., VAN ROOIJEN, N. & SIMEONOVA, P. P. 2006. Macrophages and skeletal muscle regeneration: a clodronatecontaining liposome depletion study. *The American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 290, R1488-95.
- TAKAFUJI, S., TADOKORO, K., ITO, K. & DAHINDEN, C. A. 1994. Degranulation from human eosinophils stimulated with C3a and C5a. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology*, 104 Suppl 1, 27-9.
- TALBOT, K. 2009. Motor neuron disease: THE BARE ESSENTIALS. *Practical Neurology*, 9, 303-9.

- TARDIF, M., BROUCHON, L., RABIET, M. J. & BOULAY, F. 2003. Direct binding of a fragment of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein to the C-terminal end of the anaphylatoxin C5a receptor. *Biochemical Journal*, 372, 453-63.
- TENNER, A. J. 1998. C1q Receptors: Regulating Specific Functions of Phagocytic Cells. *Immunobiology*, 199, 250-264.
- THIEL, S., PETERSEN, S. V., VORUP-JENSEN, T., MATSUSHITA, M., FUJITA, T., STOVER, C. M., SCHWAEBLE, W. J. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 2000. Interaction of C1q and mannan-binding lectin (MBL) with C1r, C1s, MBL-associated serine proteases 1 and 2, and the MBL-associated protein MAp19. *The Journal of Immunology*, 165, 878-87.
- THOMAN, M. L., MEUTH, J. L., MORGAN, E. L., WEIGLE, W. O. & HUGLI, T. E. 1984. C3d-K, a kallikrein cleavage fragment of iC3b is a potent inhibitor of cellular proliferation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 133, 2629-33.
- THOMAS, A., GASQUE, P., VAUDRY, D., GONZALEZ, B. & FONTAINE, M. 2000. Expression of a complete and functional complement system by human neuronal cells in vitro. *International Immunology*, 12, 1015-23.
- THURMAN, J. M. & HOLERS, V. M. 2006. The Central Role of the Alternative Complement Pathway in Human Disease. *The Journal of Immunology*, 176, 1305-10.
- TOOMAYAN, G. A., CHEN, L.-E., JIANG, H.-X., QI, W.-N., SEABER, A. V., FRANK, M. M. & URBANIAK, J. R. 2003. C1-esterase inhibitor and a novel peptide inhibitor improve contractile function in reperfused skeletal muscle. *Microsurgery*, 23, 561-7.
- TORNETTA, M. A., FOLEY, J. J., SARAU, H. M. & AMES, R. S. 1997. The mouse anaphylatoxin C3a receptor: molecular cloning, genomic organization, and functional expression. *The Journal of Immunology*, 158, 5277-82.
- TRBOJEVIC-CEPE, M., BRINAR, V., PAURO, M., VOGRINC, Z. & STAMBUK, N. 1998. Cerebrospinal fluid complement activation in neurological diseases. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 154, 173-81.
- TROOST, D., VAN DEN OORD, J. J., DE JONG, J. M. & SWAAB, D. F. 1989. Lymphocytic infiltration in the spinal cord of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clinical Neuropathology*, 8, 289-94.
- TSUBOI, Y. & YAMADA, T. 1994. Increased concentration of C4d complement protein in CSF in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 57, 859-61.
- TURNER, B. J., ACKERLEY, S., DAVIES, K. E. & TALBOT, K. 2010. Dismutase-competent SOD1 mutant accumulation in myelinating Schwann cells is not detrimental to normal or transgenic ALS model mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 19, 815-24.
- TURNER, B. J. & TALBOT, K. 2008. Transgenics, toxicity and therapeutics in rodent models of mutant SOD1-mediated familial ALS. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 85, 94-134.
- UENAL, H., ROSENBOHM, A., KUFELDT, J., WEYDT, P., GODER, K., LUDOLPH, A., ROTHENBACHER, D., NAGEL, G. & AND THE, A. L. S. R. S. G. 2014. Incidence and Geographical Variation of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) in Southern Germany – Completeness of the ALS Registry Swabia. *PLoS ONE*, 9, e93932.
- URUSHITANI, M., SIK, A., SAKURAI, T., NUKINA, N., TAKAHASHI, R. & JULIEN, J.-P. 2006. Chromograninmediated secretion of mutant superoxide dismutase proteins linked to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9, 108-18.
- VAN BEEK, J., ELWARD, K. & GASQUE, P. 2003. Activation of complement in the central nervous system: roles in neurodegeneration and neuroprotection. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 992, 56-71.
- VAN DER TOUW, W., CRAVEDI, P., KWAN, W. H., PAZ-ARTAL, E., MERAD, M. & HEEGER, P. S. 2013. Cutting edge: Receptors for C3a and C5a modulate stability of alloantigen-reactive induced regulatory T cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 190, 5921-5.
- VANCE, C., ROGELJ, B., HORTOBÁGYI, T., DE VOS, K. J., NISHIMURA, A. L., SREEDHARAN, J., HU, X., SMITH, B., RUDDY, D., WRIGHT, P., GANESALINGAM, J., WILLIAMS, K. L., TRIPATHI, V., AL-SARAJ, S., AL-CHALABI, A., LEIGH, P. N., BLAIR, I. P., NICHOLSON, G., DE BELLEROCHE, J., GALLO, J.-M., MILLER, C. C. & SHAW, C. E. 2009. Mutations in FUS, an RNA Processing Protein, Cause Familial Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Type 6. *Science*, 323, 1208-11.
- VANDIVIER, R. W., OGDEN, C. A., FADOK, V. A., HOFFMANN, P. R., BROWN, K. K., BOTTO, M., WALPORT, M. J., FISHER, J. H., HENSON, P. M. & GREENE, K. E. 2002. Role of surfactant proteins A, D, and

C1q in the clearance of apoptotic cells in vivo and in vitro: calreticulin and CD91 as a common collectin receptor complex. *The Journal of Immunology*, 169, 3978-86.

- VENKATESHA, R. T., BERLA THANGAM, E., ZAIDI, A. K. & ALI, H. 2005. Distinct regulation of C3ainduced MCP-1/CCL2 and RANTES/CCL5 production in human mast cells by extracellular signal regulated kinase and PI3 kinase. *Molecular Immunology*, 42, 581-7.
- VINSANT, S., MANSFIELD, C., JIMENEZ-MORENO, R., DEL GAIZO MOORE, V., YOSHIKAWA, M., HAMPTON, T. G., PREVETTE, D., CARESS, J., OPPENHEIM, R. W. & MILLIGAN, C. 2013. Characterization of early pathogenesis in the SOD1(G93A) mouse model of ALS: part II, results and discussion. *Brain and Behavior*, 3, 431-457.
- WALLIS, R., MITCHELL, D. A., SCHMID, R., SCHWAEBLE, W. J. & KEEBLE, A. H. 2010. Paths reunited: Initiation of the classical and lectin pathways of complement activation. *Immunobiology*, 215, 1-11.
- WALPORT, M. J. 2001. Complement. New England Journal of Medicine, 344, 1058-1066.
- WANG, L., GUTMANN, D. H. & ROOS, R. P. 2010a. Astrocyte loss of mutant SOD1 delays ALS disease onset and progression in G85R transgenic mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20, 286-93.
- WANG, L., PYTEL, P., FELTRI, M. L., WRABETZ, L. & ROOS, R. P. 2012. Selective knockdown of mutant SOD1 in Schwann cells ameliorates disease in G85R mutant SOD1 transgenic mice. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 48, 52-7.
- WANG, L., SHARMA, K., DENG, H.-X., SIDDIQUE, T., GRISOTTI, G., LIU, E. & ROOS, R. P. 2008. Restricted expression of mutant SOD1 in spinal motor neurons and interneurons induces motor neuron pathology. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 29, 400-408.
- WANG, Y., LI, Y., DALLE LUCCA, S. L., SIMOVIC, M., TSOKOS, G. C. & DALLE LUCCA, J. J. 2010b. Decay accelerating factor (CD55) protects neuronal cells from chemical hypoxia-induced injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 7, 24.
- WEBSTER, R. O., ZANOLARI, B. & HENSON, P. M. 1980. Neutrophil chemotaxis in response to surfacebound C5a. *Experimental Cell Research*, 129, 55-62.
- WEISER, M. R., WILLIAMS, J. P., MOORE, F. D., JR., KOBZIK, L., MA, M., HECHTMAN, H. B. & CARROLL, M.
  C. 1996. Reperfusion injury of ischemic skeletal muscle is mediated by natural antibody and complement. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 183, 2343-8.
- WEKERLE, H., SCHWAB, M., LININGTON, C. & MEYERMANN, R. 1986. Antigen presentation in the peripheral nervous system: Schwann cells present endogenous myelin autoantigens to lymphocytes. *European Journal of Immunology*, 16, 1551-7.
- WERFEL, T., KIRCHHOFF, K., WITTMANN, M., BEGEMANN, G., KAPP, A., HEIDENREICH, F., GOTZE, O. & ZWIRNER, J. 2000. Activated human T lymphocytes express a functional C3a receptor. *The Journal of Immunology*, 165, 6599-605.
- WERFEL, T., OPPERMANN, M., BEGEMANN, G., GOTZE, O. & ZWIRNER, J. 1997. C5a receptors are detectable on mast cells in normal human skin and in psoriatic plaques but not in weal and flare reactions or in uticaria pigmentosa by immunohistochemistry. *Archives of Dermatological Research*, 289, 83-6.
- WETSEL, R., KILDSGAARD, J. & HAVILAND, D. 2000. Complement Anaphylatoxins (C3a, C4a, C5a) and Their Receptors (C3aR, C5aR/CD88) as Therapeutic Targets in Inflammation. *In:* LAMBRIS, J. & HOLERS, V. M. (eds.) *Therapeutic Interventions in the Complement System.* Humana Press. pp. 113-53
- WIJESEKERA, L. & LEIGH, P. N. 2009. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, 4, 3.
- WILLIAMS, T. J. 1983. Vascular permeability changes induced by complement-derived peptides. *Agents Actions*, 13, 451-5.
- WONG, M. & MARTIN, L. J. 2010. Skeletal muscle-restricted expression of human SOD1 causes motor neuron degeneration in transgenic mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 19, 2284-2302.
- WOOD, J. D., BEAUJEUX, T. P. & SHAW, P. J. 2003. Protein aggregation in motor neurone disorders. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 29, 529-45.
- WOODRUFF, T., THUNDYIL, J., TANG, S.-C., SOBEY, C., TAYLOR, S. & ARUMUGAM, T. 2011. Pathophysiology, treatment, and animal and cellular models of human ischemic stroke. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 6, 11.

- WOODRUFF, T. M., AGER, R. R., TENNER, A. J., NOAKES, P. G. & TAYLOR, S. M. 2010. The role of the complement system and the activation fragment C5a in the central nervous system. *Neuromolecular Medicine*, 12, 179-92.
- WOODRUFF, T. M., COSTANTINI, K. J., CRANE, J. W., ATKIN, J. D., MONK, P. N., TAYLOR, S. M. & NOAKES, P. G. 2008a. The Complement Factor C5a Contributes to Pathology in a Rat Model of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181, 8727-34.
- WOODRUFF, T. M., COSTANTINI, K. J., TAYLOR, S. M. & NOAKES, P. G. 2008b. Role of complement in motor neuron disease: animal models and therapeutic potential of complement inhibitors. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 632, 143-58.
- WOODRUFF, T. M., LEE, J. D. & NOAKES, P. G. 2014. Role for terminal complement activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis disease progression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111, E3-E4.
- XIE, J., AWAD, K. S. & GUO, Q. 2005. RNAi knockdown of Par-4 inhibits neurosynaptic degeneration in ALS-linked mice. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 92, 59-71.
- XIONG, Z. Q., QIAN, W., SUZUKI, K. & MCNAMARA, J. O. 2003. Formation of complement membrane attack complex in mammalian cerebral cortex evokes seizures and neurodegeneration. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23, 955-60.
- YAMANAKA, K., CHUN, S. J., BOILLEE, S., FUJIMORI-TONOU, N., YAMASHITA, H., GUTMANN, D. H., TAKAHASHI, R., MISAWA, H. & CLEVELAND, D. W. 2008. Astrocytes as determinants of disease progression in inherited ALS. *Nature neuroscience*, 11, 251-3.
- YANAMADALA, V. & FRIEDLANDER, R. M. 2010. Complement in neuroprotection and neurodegeneration. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 16, 69-76.
- YANG, M., SANG, H., RAHMAN, A., WU, D., MALIK, A. B. & YE, R. D. 2001. Gα16 Couples Chemoattractant Receptors to NF-κB Activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166, 6885-92.
- ZHOU, J., YI, J., FU, R., LIU, E., SIDDIQUE, T., RÍOS, E. & DENG, H.-X. 2010. Hyperactive Intracellular Calcium Signaling Associated with Localized Mitochondrial Defects in Skeletal Muscle of an Animal Model of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285, 705-12.
- ZIERATH, J. R. & HAWLEY, J. A. 2004. Skeletal Muscle Fiber Type: Influence on Contractile and Metabolic Properties. *PLoS Biology*, 2, e348.
- ZOU, L.-P., PELIDOU, S.-H., ABBAS, N., DERETZI, G., MIX, E., SCHALTZBEERG, M., WINBLAD, B. & ZHU, J. 1999. Dynamics of production of MIP-1α, MCP-1 and MIP-2 and potential role of neutralization of these chemokines in the regulation of immune responses during experimental autoimmune neuritis in Lewis rats. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 98, 168-175.
- ZWIRNER, J., GOTZE, O., BEGEMANN, G., KAPP, A., KIRCHHOFF, K. & WERFEL, T. 1999. Evaluation of C3a receptor expression on human leucocytes by the use of novel monoclonal antibodies. *Immunology*, 97, 166-72.
- ZWIRNER, J., GOTZE, O., MOSER, A., SIEBER, A., BEGEMANN, G., KAPP, A., ELSNER, J. & WERFEL, T. 1997. Blood- and skin-derived monocytes/macrophages respond to C3a but not to C3a(desArg) with a transient release of calcium via a pertussis toxin-sensitive signal transduction pathway. *European Journal of Immunology*, 27, 2317-22.
- ZWIRNER, J., GOTZE, O., SIEBER, A., KAPP, A., BEGEMANN, G., ZUBERBIER, T. & WERFEL, T. 1998a. The human mast cell line HMC-1 binds and responds to C3a but not C3a(desArg). *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 47, 19-24.
- ZWIRNER, J., WERFEL, T., WILKEN, H. C., THEILE, E. & GOTZE, O. 1998b. Anaphylatoxin C3a but not C3a(desArg) is a chemotaxin for the mouse macrophage cell line J774. *European Journal of Immunology*, 28, 1570-7.